# **Blended Finance in the Least Developed Countries 2020**

SUPPORTING A RESILIENT COVID-19 RECOVERY







# Blended Finance in the Least Developed Countries 2020

SUPPORTING A RESILIENT COVID-19 RECOVERY

This work is published under the responsibility of the Secretary-General of the OECD. The opinions expressed and arguments employed herein do not necessarily reflect the official views of the member countries of the OECD; or those of UNCDF, the United Nations or any of its affiliated organizations or its Member States.

This document, as well as any data and any map included herein, are without prejudice to the status of or sovereignty over any territory, to the delimitation of international frontiers and boundaries and to the name of any territory, city or area, and do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the OECD, UNCDF or the Secretariat of the United Nations or any of its affiliated organizations or its Member States concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

#### Please cite this publication as:

OECD/UNCDF (2020), Blended Finance in the Least Developed Countries 2020: Supporting a Resilient COVID-19 Recovery, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/57620d04-en.

ISBN 978-92-64-63532-6 (print) ISBN 978-92-64-41598-0 (pdf)

Corrigenda to publications may be found on line at: www.oecd.org/about/publishing/corrigenda.htm. © OECD and UNCDF 2020

The use of this work, whether digital or print, is governed by the Terms and Conditions to be found at http://www.oecd.org/termsandconditions.

# Foreword

Since 2018, the United Nations Capital Development Fund (UNCDF) and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) have collaborated on research and knowledge on blended finance in the least developed countries (LDCs), with the aim to contribute to the policy debate on blended finance by developing empirical evidence and original research on how blended finance can be best used in LDCs to mitigate risk and attract investment for the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

The *Blended Finance in the Least Developed Countries, 2020* report is the second joint UNCDF-OECD report. It builds on UNCDF research and experience, OECD data and analysis, and a series of guest contributions written by a varied range of blended finance experts. The research and analysis in this report was further informed by multiple roundtable consultations held virtually during the spring of 2020. The consultations were held with a wide range of stakeholder groups, namely blended finance experts and practitioners (14 April 2020), anglophone LDCs (14 May 2020), francophone LDCs (18 May 2020); and United Nations missions in LDCs (18 May 2020).

For UNCDF, the report aligns with its mission to mobilise additional finance for the LDCs to support their social and economic transformation. The report analysis informs UNCDF's work to provide last mile finance models that unlock public and private resources to reduce poverty and support local economic development. UNCDF manages a portfolio of risk-tolerant catalytic loans and guarantees on its balance sheet, which aim to de-risk early-stage enterprises and projects in LDCs to enable them access to additional capital. This support for "missing middle" finance in LDCs fills a unique niche in the development finance architecture. UNCDF now aims to fully capitalise its LDC investment facility to scale up this support, in its capacity as an official international support measure for LDCs. UNCDF is also establishing technical assistance facilities for two blended finance vehicles it helped establish, the BUILD Fund and the International Municipal Investment Facility, to help local partners assess, identify and prepare investments.

This report contributes to the overarching mission of the OECD Private Finance for Sustainable team to build the evidence base and provide policy advice on blended finance, as well as promote dialogue between the members of the Development Assistance Committee (DAC) and the private sector, including through the OECD DAC Community of Practice on Private Finance for Sustainable Development. This report also informs the work on blended finance, including on the OECD DAC Blended Finance Principles and Guidance, adopted by DAC members in September 2020, which will be updated in the future.

This report has been developed at an exceptionally critical juncture when LDCs are facing unprecedented pressures stemming from the COVID-19 crisis. As the Istanbul Programme of Action (IPoA) for the LDCs is coming to end in 2020, the United Nations General Assembly agreed to convene the Fifth United Nations Conference on the LDCs (LDC5) in Doha, Qatar, in January 2022. This report aims to contribute to and inform the LDC5 preparatory process and, eventually, the new Programme of Action for LDCs.

The findings and Action Agenda in this report can also contribute to the next steps in the United Nations initiative on financing for development in the era of COVID-19 and beyond, which has called for increased efforts to promote private investments in the SDGs in developing countries, including through greater support for innovative blended finance approaches in LDCs (UN, 2020[1]).

# Acknowledgements

This report was jointly prepared by the United Nations Capital Development Fund (UNCDF), under the leadership of Executive Secretary Judith Karl, and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Development Co-operation Directorate, led by Director Jorge Moreira da Silva. The two organisations remain deeply appreciative of the quality of this collaboration, which began in 2017.

The lead authors of this report are Laura Sennett, Policy Specialist and Casper Sonesson, Policy Adviser, UNCDF, Faty Dembele, Policy Analyst and Valentina Bellesi, Junior Policy Analyst, OECD. Many thanks to the UNCDF management team and other colleagues for their important guidance throughout the drafting process. Within UNCDF, the work was performed under the supervision of Esther Pan Sloane, Head of the Partnerships, Policy and Communications Unit. Within the OECD, the work was performed under the supervision of Haje Schütte, Head of Financing for Sustainable Development Division, and under the guidance of Paul Horrocks, Head of Private Finance for Sustainable Development Unit. The report, and Chapter 3 in particular, benefited from invaluable support on data collection from Cécile Sangaré and Tomáš Hos, OECD. The authors would also like to thank Thomas Boehler and Rafael Duque Figueira, OECD, for their engagement through the Global Partnership for Effective Development Co-operation (GPEDC). The quantitative analysis also benefited from the complementary information generously provided by Ayesha Bery, Convergence.

The team would like to extend sincere thanks to the authors of the guest contributions for sharing their experiences and expertise: Saber Hossain Chowdhury, Bangladeshi Parliament; Aakif Merchant, Convergence; Nathan Kelley and Pooja Yadav, CrossBoundary; David Hughes, Global Affairs Canada; Lasitha Perera, GuarantCo; Luigi Lannutti and Kruskaia Sierra-Escalante, International Finance Corporation; Samantha Attridge, Overseas Development Institute; Roland V Pearson Junior, Palladium; Feisal Hussain, ThinkAhead Consulting; Abdul-Rahman Lediju, Anders Berlin, David Jackson, Henri Dommel and Nan Zhang, UNCDF. The authors would also like to thank speakers and participants of all rounds of consultations (information on the consultations can be found in the foreword).

The report benefited immensely from comments and feedback from a group of expert peer reviewers: Rob Floyd, African Center for Economic Transformation; Ayesha Bery, Convergence; Nathan Kelly and Pooja Yadav, CrossBoundary; Marco Serena and Cecile Sorhus, GuarantCo; Luigi Lannutti, International Finance Corporation; Rohit Matthan, Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency; Thomas Boehler, Priscilla Boiardi, Rafael Duque Figueira, Weronika Garbacz, Tomáš Hos, Rachel Morris, Cécile Sangaré and Esme Stout, OECD; Roland V Pearson Junior, Palladium; Sharon Spiegel, Resina Katafono and Sander Hanson Glas, United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs; Anne Philine Kersting and Susanna Wolf, United Nations Office of the High Representative for the Least Developed Countries, Landlocked Developing Countries and Small Island Developing States; and Rajeev Kumar Gupta, Mattias Granqvist, David Jackson, Esther Pan Sloane, Bram Peters and Omon Ukpoma-Olaiya, UNCDF.

A special thanks to the communications team for their support, including Nasser AlQatami, Victoria Guridi, David Mikhail and Fernando Zarauz-Astorki, UNCDF, and Stacey Bradbury, Sara Casadevall Bellés, Stephanie Coic, Henri-Bernard Solignac-Lecomte and Jessica Voorhees, OECD. The authors also express their appreciation to Jessieca Aduca and Maxime Allonce, UNCDF, and Elise Le Marec, OECD, for their administrative support, to Markus MacGill of Green Ink for editorial support, and to Minh Duong of Minh Designs for graphic design.

# **Editorial**

"Everything we do during and after this crisis must be with a strong focus on building more equal, inclusive and sustainable economies and societies that are more resilient in the face of pandemics, climate change and the many other global challenges we face." *United Nations Secretary-General António Guterres* 

COVID-19 threatens to undo years of progress achieved towards the 2030 Agenda by least developed countries (LDCs). Even before the current crisis, LDCs faced an uphill battle to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Now, without ambitious development finance and policy responses, there is a serious risk of the SDGs remaining elusive for LDCs, and this will have a global impact. The development responses to the COVID-19 health and socio-economic crises must therefore be made with a forward-looking perspective to building forward better and greener.

Financing the recovery will require a co-ordinated multilateral response and the use of innovative tools and risk-mitigation instruments. Blended finance can help to catalyse much-needed additional resources for SDG-aligned projects that private investors would otherwise overlook. It can be used to, among other purposes, leverage digital technologies, finance small and medium-sized enterprises in the "missing middle" gap, and address market failures that prevent LDCs from financing their development needs and reaching the most vulnerable.

Consistent with findings in previous reports on blended finance in the LDCs, the latest data show that too little private finance is mobilised for investment in LDCs. Only 6% of private finance mobilised by official development finance is invested in LDCs, a percentage that has remained constant over the past three years. Positively, we have seen that in the period 2012–2018, the total amount of private sector finance mobilised annually has grown steadily in absolute terms. Also, 45 out of 47 LDCs have received private finance mobilised by official development finance (ODA) at least once. However, as projected by the OECD *Global Outlook on Financing for Sustainable Development*, the USD 700 billion drop in external finance to developing countries as a result of the COVID-19 crisis risks jeopardising the trajectory of blended finance for LDCs (OECD, 2020<sub>[2]</sub>). That is why it is critical that ODA – the most stable source of external finance to developing countries over the past 60 years, even in the face of economic crises – must be protected and leveraged to align more private finance in support of the SDGs in LDCs.

This third instalment of the blended finance in LDCs report presents an analysis and an Action Agenda for how to use blended finance to mobilise additional finance to support LDCs to build forward better from the COVID-19 pandemic. Through research, data analysis and a collection of curated guest contributions, the report aims to shed light on how blended finance can be used and scaled up to address the socio-economic challenges in LDCs today, and to build long-term resilience.

Achieving the core principle of "leaving no one behind" is key for sustainable development in the LDCs and necessitates innovative solutions to address risk and build resilience to future shocks. To advance this principle will require blended finance to focus even more sharply on supporting the development of domestic financial ecosystems and markets, designing solutions that target the last mile, improving impact measurement and transparency, and employing more systemic and transformational approaches, to catalyse larger-scale investments in country-led priorities and projects in sectors that promote an inclusive, sustainable and resilient recovery.

This report also comes as the Istanbul Program of Action is coming to an end and the preparations for the Fifth United Nations Conference on the Least Developed Countries (LDC5), scheduled for January 2022 in Doha, have started. LDC5 is an opportunity for LDCs and their development partners to define key priorities, agree on a renewed partnership to overcome structural challenges and mobilise additional resources and international support measures, to enable countries to graduate from the LDC category and achieve the SDGs in the coming decade.

Blended finance, as one of the approaches in the development toolbox, should play a more strategic role in securing additional finance for LDCs to achieve these objectives. Now is the time to increase our ambition to leave no country behind, with COVID-19 serving as a powerful reminder of the interdependence among countries and the need for global solidarity to overcome the crisis. Action today must extend beyond helping LDCs to recover; investments are needed to build resilient economies and societies that bring future opportunities to all their people. We hope that this report sparks discussion about what more could and should be done, followed by urgent action to mobilise private finance for sustainable development that enable LDCs to build forward better.

ge hannen Los Justite Karl

Jorge Moreira da Silva

Judith Karl

HE Mr Perks Ligoya

Director

**Development Co-operation** Directorate, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

**Executive Secretary** 

United Nations Capital **Development Fund** 

Ambassador and Permanent Representative of Malawi to the United Nations

Chair

**Global Coordination** Bureau of the Least **Developed Countries** 

# Table of contents

8 |

Foreword	3
Acknowledgements	4
Editorial	6
Abbreviations and acronyms	11
Executive summary References	14 20
Key findings and action agenda The challenges in least developed countries prior to the coronavirus (COVID-19) crisis The progress made in blended finance for LDCs prior to COVID-19 The coronavirus (COVID-19) crisis makes the challenges in least developed countries even greater Key opportunities for blended finance to tackle the COVID-19 crisis in LDCs An action agenda to harness the potential of blended finance for least developed countries References Notes	21 22 22 24 24 26 30 32
<ol> <li>Financing sustainable development in least developed countries         <ol> <li>Least developed countries continue to face stark challenges across development and well being dimensions</li> <li>Least developed countries faced severe SDG financing gaps even before the coronavirus (COVID-19) crisis</li> <li>Impacts of and responses to coronavirus (COVID-19) in least developed countries References Notes</li> </ol> </li> </ol>	34
<ol> <li>The role of blended finance in the coronavirus (COVID-19) crisis response and recovery in least developed countries</li> <li>The role of blended finance in responding to the coronavirus (COVID-19) crisis: a phased approach</li> <li>Key areas of focus for building forward better References Note</li> </ol>	44 45 51 64 70

| 9

3. The state of blended finance in least developed countries (2012–2018)	71
<ul><li>3.1. Least developed countries continue to receive the lowest share (although increasing in volume) of private finance mobilised by official development finance interventions</li><li>3.2. Multilateral institutions mobilise the largest amounts of private finance in least developed</li></ul>	72
countries 3.3. Least developed countries in Eastern and Eestern Africa receive the largest amounts of	75
private finance mobilised	76
<ul><li>3.4. Private finance was mobilised in two additional least developed countries in 2018</li><li>3.5. Most private finance mobilised in least developed countries is concentrated in the energy,</li></ul>	78
banking and financial services sectors	85
References Notes	86 87
4. Blended finance in least developed countries in practice: guest contributions	89
<ul><li>4.1. Ensuring country ownership in blended finance: a perspective from Bangladesh</li><li>4.2. The IFC's blended concessional finance for the most challenging markets</li></ul>	90 92
4.3. An efficient and scalable approach for blended finance, focused on least developed	
countries 4.4. Providing additionality through investment in different commercial scenarios	95 96
4.4. From a graduation and a model in the sake of coronavirus (COVID-19)	90 99
4.6. Taking blended finance to large scale by developing market systems	101
<ul><li>4.7. How the digital revolution is transforming blended finance solutions that reach the last mile</li><li>4.8. Cities and blended finance in the aftermath of coronavirus (COVID-19)</li></ul>	102 102 104
4.9. How blended finance can support the development of local capital markets in least	
developed countries 4.10. Addressing the "missing middle" challenge in least developed countries	108 110
4.10. Addressing the missing middle challenge in least developed countries 4.11. Out of the shadows into the limelight: national development banks as key actors in the	110
decade of action	113
4.12. Promoting transparency in blended finance References	115 116
Notes	119
Annex A. The least developed country category: criteria for inclusion and graduation	122
Annex B. Financing sustainable development in least developed countries	123
Annex C. Methodological note	129
References	131
Notes	132
Tables	
Table B.1. Key development indicators: Least developed countries versus other developing countries	124
Table C.1. Differences between data sources	130
Figures	
Figure 1.1. Official development finance to least developed countries Figure 3.1. Private finance mobilised in LDCs, compared with other country groupings (2012–2018)	35 72
Figure 3.2. Amounts mobilised from the private sector in LDCs (2012–2018)	73
Figure 3.3. Cumulative blended finance targeting LDCs	74

Figure 3.4. Private finance mobilised across official development finance providers (average 2017–2018) Figure 3.5. Regional allocation of private finance mobilised in LDCs (average 2017-2018) Figure 3.6. Cumulative volume of private finance mobilised in each least developed country (2012–2018) Figure 3.7. Top ten least developed countries in terms of average volume of private finance mobilised Figure 3.8. Top LDCs targeted in blended concessional finance transactions Figure 3.9. Share of the total private finance mobilised in LDCs by leveraging mechanism Figure 3.10. Blended finance funds and facilities: assets under management by country grouping (2017) Figure 3.11. Blending archetypes in LDCs Figure 3.12. Private finance mobilised in LDCs by sector (average 2017–2018) Figure 3.13. Private finance mobilised in LDCs by sector: 2017 versus 2018 Figure 4.1. Kampala Principles of the Global Partnership for Effective Development Co-operation Figure 4.2. Growth of the IFC's blended finance cumulative commitment since the inception of the IDA's	75 76 79 80 81 82 83 84 85 86 91
Private Sector Window Figure 4.3. Commercial viability versus development impact	93 98
Figure 4.4. Urbanisation growth in Lagos, Paris and Seoul	105 105
Figure 4.5. Urban population versus GDP per capita, 2016 Figure 4.6. Urbanisation versus gross fixed capital formation	106
Figure 4.7. InfraCredit	110
Figure B.1. Sources of financing for sustainable development across country groupings Figure B.2. External finance to LDCs over time	126 127
i igure b.z. External initiance to EDG3 over time	121

#### Boxes

Box 1. Messages and Action Agenda from the 2018 and 2019 reports	23
Box 2.1. Multiplicity of risks and barriers to private investment	48
Box 2.2. How development finance institutions can take on more risks	51
Box 2.3. Blended finance as an integral part of integrated national financing frameworks	53
Box 2.4. A blended finance approach to agriculture: evidence from Bhutan	55
Box 2.5. Blended finance in WASH: case study from Uganda	60
Box 2.6. Investing in green and blue economies – biodiversity and ocean finance	63
Box 3.1. Latest trends in concessional blended finance transactions in LDCs	74
Box 3.2. Can blended finance work in fragile contexts?	77
Box 3.3. Country allocation of blended finance transactions – historical data	81
Box 3.4. What is the difference between a blended finance fund and a facility?	83
Box 3.5. Blending archetypes in least developed countries	84

# Abbreviations and acronyms

ACGF	Afghan Credit Guarantee Foundation
ADB	Asian Development Bank
AIMM	Anticipated Impact Measurement and Monitoring
CBE	CrossBoundary Energy
CDP	Committee for Development Policy
CI1	Climate Investor One
CIV	collective investment vehicle
COVID-19	coronavirus disease
CRPS	cumulative redeemable preferred shares
DAC	Development Assistance Committee
DFI	development finance institution
EAIF	Emerging Africa Infrastructure Fund
EAPD	economic analysis and policy division (UN DESA)
EBRD	European Bank for Reconstruction and Development
EIB	European Investment Bank
FDI	foreign direct investment
GAFSP	Global Agriculture and Food Security Program
GDP	gross domestic product
GFCF	gross fixed capital formation
GIIN	Global Impact Investing Network
GISD	Global Investors for Sustainable Development Alliance
GNI	gross national income
GPEDC	Global Partnership for Effective Development Co-operation
GTFP	global trade finance programme
IDA	International Development Association
IDB	Inter-American Development Bank
IFC	International Finance Corporation

12 |

IFHA	Investment Fund for Health in Africa
ILO	International Labour Organization
IMF	International Monetary Fund
INFF	integrated national financing framework
IPoA	Istanbul Programme of Action
ITU	International Telecommunication Union
KIS	Kalangala Infrastructure Services
LDC5	Fifth United Nations Conference on the Least Developed Countries
LDCs	least developed countries
LIC	low-income country
LIFE-AR	LDC Initiative for Effective Adaptation and Resilience
MDB	multilateral development bank
MIGA	Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency
MSMEs	micro, small and medium-sized enterprises
NDB	national development bank
NDC	nationally determined contributions
ODA	official development assistance
ODI	Overseas Development Institute
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
OOF	other official flows
PIDG	Private Infrastructure Development Group
RDB	regional development bank
SAFIN	Smallholder and Agri-SME Finance and Investment Network
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
SDR	special drawing right
SDSN	Sustainable Development Solutions Network
SMEs	small and medium-sized enterprises
SPV	special purpose vehicle
ТНК	Tri Hita Karana
UCLG	World Organization of United Cities and Local Governments
UN	United Nations
UNCDF	United Nations Capital Development Fund
UNCTAD	United Nations Conference on Trade and Development
UN DESA	United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme

UNECA	United Nations Economic Commission for Africa
UNEP FI	United Nations Environment Programme Finance Initiative
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
UN-OHRLLS	United Nations Office of the High Representative for the Least Developed Countries, Landlocked Developing Countries and Small Island Developing States
UN Women	United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women
USAID	United States Agency for International Development
WASH	water, sanitation and hygiene
WEF	World Economic Forum
WHO	World Health Organization
WTO	World Trade Organization

# **Executive summary**

This 2020 edition of the UNCDF-OECD *Blended Finance in the Least Developed Countries* (LDCs) report analyses the state of blended finance in LDCs and assesses the role that blended finance can play in recovering and building forward better from the COVID-19 crisis. The report also provides a range of expert insights on the opportunities, innovations and risks of deploying blended finance in LDCs, and proposes an Action Agenda to chart a new path to further the mobilisation of support and resources for LDCs. Main takeaways include the following.

LDCs are facing mounting pressure to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic, with widening financing gaps to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). The health crisis is still unfolding in LDCs, at an uncertain yet alarming pace and with a significant variety of far-reaching implications across countries. What is clear is that all LDCs face severe socio-economic impacts from the global economic crisis, due to domestic and global demand shocks, significant drops in foreign direct investment and remittances, supply chain disruptions, collapses in oil and commodity prices, declines in the tourism industry, and other causes (see Chapter 2 for more discussion on the impact of COVID-19 in LDCs).

With development finance accounting for a prominent share of the financing for sustainable development in LDCs, official development assistance (ODA) continues to be a critically important source of finance for these countries. Donor governments are falling short of their commitment on ODA to LDCs and they should recommit to achieving their targets in light of the unprecedented impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and ensuing economic crisis in LDCs (see Chapter 1 for further details on the state of financing for sustainable development in LDCs).

Although increasing in volume, only 6% of private finance mobilised by development finance interventions between 2012 and 2018 was in LDCs. In 2018 alone, USD 3.8 billion was mobilised in LDCs, accounting for about 7.5% of the total. Multilateral institutions mobilised the largest share of private finance in LDCs, although bilateral donors are increasingly engaging in blended finance in LDCs through their development finance institutions (DFIs) (see Chapter 3 on the state of blended finance in LDCs).

Guarantees have continued to be the instruments that mobilised the highest share (46%) of private finance in LDCs in 2017–2018, although to a lesser extent than in previous years. Guarantees hold the potential to mitigate the high risk that continues to act as a critical barrier to attracting commercial investment in LDCs. Guarantees were followed by direct investment in companies, and special purpose vehicles, which mobilised 24% of the private finance mobilised in LDCs in 2017–2018.

Private finance mobilised in LDCs is concentrated in a handful of revenue-generating sectors with higher profitability prospects, such as energy, banking and financial services. Sectors such as agriculture and water and sanitation are less targeted, despite their crucial role in LDCs' economies.

While grant support remains critical in the immediate and short-term response to the COVID-19 crisis, blended finance can play a key role to support LDCs in mobilising resources for the medium-to long-term recovery. This will require immediate action to support LDCs to start building a pipeline of bankable projects that both accelerate the achievement of the SDGs and can attract investors' attention. For blended finance to be effective for the COVID-19 recovery, the wide range of actors involved (donors,

DFIs, multilateral development banks, impact and commercial investors, local financial institutions, national and local governments, etc.) should focus on supporting national development priorities, including especially job creation and SME development, emphasise gender equality, support health systems, and target sectors that are critical for inclusive, resilient and sustainable development.

# An action agenda to harness the potential of blended finance for the least developed countries

Recognising the complementary roles of public and private finance, the report proposes four areas of action needed from all stakeholders (see the full Action Agenda in the next chapter). The Action Agenda aims to improve the practice of blended finance and to help ensure that its application can support LDCs to achieve the SDGs, in line with the OECD DAC Blended Finance Principles (OECD DAC, 2018<sub>[3]</sub>). The Action Agenda can also help to inform discussions at the Fifth United Nations Conference on the Least Developed Countries (LDC5) with the goal of mobilising additional international support measures and action in favour of LDCs. The Action Agenda includes:

#### 1. Support domestic financial ecosystems and market development

Blended finance should be used strategically to develop sustainable domestic market systems and build the capacity of local capital market actors, by:

- examining a project's systemic effects on the overall market;
- supporting local capacity building to improve the enabling environment;
- developing local capital markets, promoting local currency financing solutions and greater mobilisation of local investors;
- strengthening the role of national development banks in deploying blended finance.

#### 2. Design blended finance solutions to reach the "last mile"

Blended finance actors should design innovative structures that target the hardest to reach and most underserved areas, by:

- focusing on risk mitigation tools;
- engaging local stakeholders to identify project opportunities in line with local needs;
- targeting the "missing middle" enterprises;
- employing digital financial solutions;
- ensuring the accessibility and affordability of products and services developed with the support of blended finance investments.

#### 3. Improve impact management and measurement, and promote transparency

Lack of transparency of blended finance operations severely hinders the further growth and improvement of the blended finance market. To facilitate evidence-based decision-making, accountability and learning, blended finance actors should focus on:

- improving impact management and measurement practices;
- increasing the transparency of existing investments;
- promoting collaboration and the sharing of knowledge, best practices and lessons learned.

#### 4. Bring blended finance to large scale through systemic and transformational approaches

Supporting transformation towards more sustainable and resilient economies as LDCs seek to build forward better post-COVID-19 requires blended finance to move towards more systemic approaches, by:

- incorporating blended finance into co-ordinated multilateral crisis responses, national recovery, and sustainable development plans;
- adopting a portfolio approach (through vehicles, platforms) for scalable solutions;
- prioritising scalable projects in sectors driving an inclusive, sustainable, green and resilient recovery.

#### Infographic 1. Key facts on blended finance in LDCs – Part I

#### Blended Finance in the Least Developed Countries 2020

The least developed countries (LDCs) are the furthest from achieving the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). They are also likely to be hit the hardest by the COVID-19 crisis. Blended finance can play a key role to support LDCs in mobilising resources for the medium-to-long term recovery from the COVID-19 crisis.



LDCs continue to receive the lowest, although increasing in volume, share of **only 6% of private finance mobilised** by official development finance interventions. Between 2012 and 2018, approximately USD **13.4 billion** was mobilised in LDCs. This compares with over 84 billion (41%) in UMICs and 68 billion (33%) in LMICs.



Source: Authors

OECD

2012-2018



Source: Authors

BLENDED FINANCE IN THE LEAST DEVELOPED COUNTRIES 2020 © OECD/UNCDF 2020

#### Infographic 3. An Action Agenda to harness the potential of blended finance for the LDCs



#### References

OECD (2020), Global Outlook on Financing for Sustainable Development 2021: A New Way to	[2]
Invest for People and Planet, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/e3c30a9a-</u>	
<u>en</u> .	
	[3]

- OECD DAC (2018), OECD DAC Blended Finance Principles for Unlocking Commercial Finance <sup>[3]</sup> for the Sustainable Development Goals.
- UN (2020), *Initiative on Financing for Development in the Era of COVID-19 and Beyond*, [1] <u>https://www.un.org/en/coronavirus/financing-development</u>.

## Key findings and action agenda

This chapter provides an overview of the main findings and recommendations of the report. It first analyses the challenges that LDCs faced and progress they made prior to the COVID-19 crisis, as well as how this changed in light of the crisis. The chapter then examines opportunities for deploying and scaling up blended finance in LDCs, specifically in response to the COVID-19 crisis. Finally, the chapter outlines an Action Agenda to harness the potential of blended finance for LDCs.

# The challenges in least developed countries prior to the coronavirus (COVID-19) crisis

**Five years into the 2030 Agenda, least developed countries (LDCs) are not making sufficient progress on the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).** While there have been signs of improvement in LDCs – for example, on some indicators on poverty, gender equality and access to safe water and sanitation – LDCs still face structural impediments to eradicating poverty through economic growth, structural transformation, building productive capacity or increasing their share of exports, compared with other developing countries (UN, 2020<sup>[4]</sup>) (see Annex B). Such obstacles also vary across LDCs, which is a wide group of countries with specific structural vulnerabilities.

**Even prior to the COVID-19 crisis, LDCs faced stark challenges in terms of financing for sustainable development**. Domestic resource mobilisation is challenging for LDCs, which rely to a large extent (16% of GDP in 2018) on external finance, namely development finance, remittances and investment.

**Despite increasing interest and efforts to deploy blended finance in LDCs, to date LDCs have not been able to harness the full potential of blended finance to attract private resources**. Blended finance is the strategic use of development finance to mobilise commercial finance towards the SDGs, with a focus on unlocking capital that the private sector would not have invested on its own (see Box 1) (OECD DAC, 2018<sub>[3]</sub>) To help meet the significant SDG financing gap in the LDCs, blended finance approaches can allow increasingly scarce official development assistance (ODA) resources to mobilise commercial finance at large scale. Most LDCs lack the ecosystem of key actors and enabling policies, structures and capabilities that help to harness the full potential of blended finance (for a discussion on ecosystem development, see the guest contribution from Palladium in Section 4.6 and Chapter 3 of the 2018 report). Lack of local capital market integration, poor capacity of intermediaries to connect enterprises with funding sources, and a lack of financial structuring knowledge make creating new blended finance vehicles particularly challenging (see the guest contribution in Section 4.9 from GuarantCo on developing local capital markets and local capacity).

#### The progress made in blended finance for LDCs prior to COVID-19

Little progress in mobilising private finance in LDCs has been made since the last edition of this report, with blended finance data exhibiting similar trends (see Chapter 3 on the state of blended finance in LDCs).

**LDCs continue to receive the lowest share of private finance mobilised by blended finance.** Between 2012 and 2018 about USD 13.4 billion was mobilised in LDCs, only 6% of the total. This compares with over USD 84 billion (41%) in upper-middle-income countries and USD 68 billion (33%) in low- and middle-income countries. In 2018, USD 3.8 billion was mobilised in LDCs, accounting for about 7.5% of the total. While this represents a remarkable increase with respect to previous years, it is mostly driven by changes in data disclosure by some reporting organisations. This underscores the crucial importance of enhancing transparency in the blended finance space and improving data disclosure at a disaggregated level.

**Multilateral institutions still mobilise the largest amounts of private finance in LDCs.** Bilateral donors tend to mobilise smaller amounts, but are increasingly engaging in blended finance approaches in LDCs. France ranks first and mobilised more than USD 250 million in 2017–2018 in LDCs, followed by the United States, Finland, United Kingdom, Netherlands and Sweden.

**Private finance is being mobilised in more LDCs, although with significant heterogeneity across countries.** Since the last report, private finance has been mobilised in two additional LDCs (Central African Republic and Lesotho), indicating that between 2012 and 2018, private finance was mobilised in 45 out of the 47 LDCs. In the same period, five countries received more than USD 1 billion each (Angola, Bangladesh, Myanmar, Senegal and Uganda), while 12 countries received less than USD 10 million and

the remaining 30 countries received USD 270 million on average. In 2017–2018, the top five LDC recipients were Uganda, Myanmar, Bangladesh, Benin and Mauritania.

**Guarantees continued to mobilise the largest share of private finance in LDCs** (see the guest contribution in Section 4.9 from GuarantCo on the use of guarantees). Direct investment in companies and special purpose vehicles experienced the highest increase in 2017–2018, 24% of the total private finance mobilised and a 10% increase compared with previous years (see the guest contribution in Section 4.3 from Convergence on using funds and facilities to mobilise finance). According to Convergence, most blended finance transactions targeting one or more LDCs benefited from concessional finance within their capital structure. However, the share of this archetype decreased over time (from 75% in 2010–2014 to 60% in 2015–2019) (see Box 3.5 for Convergence's analysis of blended finance archetypes in LDCs).

**Energy, and banking and financial services continue to mobilise the largest amounts**, with 50% of all private finance mobilised in 2017–2018 concentrating in these sectors (averaging, respectively, USD 796 million and USD 672 million). However, in 2018 compared with 2017, significantly lower shares of private finance were mobilised in the energy, and banking and financial services sectors, as well as in communications. Sectors such as industry, mining and construction (up by 9% in 2018), and transport and storage (up by 3%), but also government and civil society (up by 4%) and health (up by 3%), mobilised a higher proportion of total private finance in 2018 compared with 2017.

#### Box 1. Messages and Action Agenda from the 2018 and 2019 reports

The 2018 *Blended Finance in the Least Developed Countries* report examined the opportunities and challenges for deploying blended finance strategies in LDCs (OECD/UNCDF, 2018<sub>[5]</sub>). Its sequel in 2019 built on prior analysis to assess progress in and obstacles to expanding the scope of blended finance activities in LDCs (OECD/UNCDF, 2019<sub>[6]</sub>). Those reports also laid out a five-point Action Agenda to improve the practice of blended finance while ensuring that its application remains aligned with the goal of attaining the SDGs. It proposed the following.

- Encourage risk taking and experimentation, as appropriate. This remains a necessary priority
  to the expansion of blended finance in LDC environments with higher real or perceived risks.
  Key concessional finance providers, including development finance institutions and multilateral
  development banks, will need to explore ways to innovate and increase risk tolerance to expand
  efforts to mobilise private finance for LDCs, especially in the unprecedented COVID-19
  environment.
- Bring LDCs to the decision-making table. Blended finance actors should engage LDCs in global
  policy dialogues and processes to make sure blended finance policies and approaches reflect
  LDC perspectives and respond to the needs in the poorest countries. Further support is also
  needed to build the capacity of national and local LDC governments and stakeholders on
  blended finance and related topics.
- Deploy blended finance strategies to support sustainable outcomes. Blended finance approaches and transactions should leverage domestic investors, support the growth of local industry and the development of the private sector and be deployed in tandem with complementary approaches to build local economies and sound enabling environments.
- Improve impact measurement and transparency. Development partners should strengthen exante impact management and measurement of blended finance projects to ensure their SDGpositive impact. To increase transparency, information concerning blended finance transactions and vehicles, such as the amount of ODA used, should be made publicly available.

# The coronavirus (COVID-19) crisis makes the challenges in least developed countries even greater

LDCs face growing uncertainty with evolving development challenges and widening SDG financing gaps. Due to the crisis, the already significant SDG investment gap in LDCs is expected to widen even further.<sup>1</sup> While the impact of the crisis on ODA flows to LDCs is still uncertain, external flows to LDCs (including development finance, *foreign* direct investment, other, private investment and remittances), which represented on average 16% of GDP in 2018, show signs of being severely impacted. The deteriorating economic situation is likely to lead to declines in domestic resource mobilisation and shrinking fiscal space. As a result, already-high debt levels are expected to further increase as many LDCs will have to increase their borrowing in the absence of other external support (UN, 2020[7]). The COVID-19 crisis has made the prospects for progress even bleaker and is exacerbating existing vulnerabilities and development challenges faced by LDCs (see Annex B on the main sustainable development and well-being gaps between LDCs and other developing countries).

The health and social impacts of COVID-19 are still unfolding in LDCs (see Section 1.2). LDCs' health infrastructure remains under-resourced for COVID-19. Extreme poverty is expected to rise as the pandemic has created vast unemployment and significant disruptions for the large populations of informal-sector workers. So far, the crisis has had an outsize impact on women and girls, in terms of both employment and access to education. Disruptions in global value chains and food systems, combined with losses in income, have increased food insecurity among the most vulnerable populations.

#### Key opportunities for blended finance to tackle the COVID-19 crisis in LDCs

This report examines the opportunities for deploying and scaling up blended finance in LDCs, specifically in response to the COVID-19 crisis. It builds on the current data and trends observed in LDCs and features guest contributions by practitioners and experts working in the blended finance space. Based on the analysis and insights in the report, the following key opportunities could be leveraged to increase the scope of blended finance activities in LDCs and ultimately support these countries to recover from the COVID-19 crisis and build forward better.

Use blended finance best practices and principles as an anchor to navigate the crisis. To ensure the effective use of blended finance in response to the crisis, blended finance principles and guidance such as those of the OECD Development Assistance Committee (DAC) and the DFI Working Group on Blended Concessional Finance for Private Sector Projects, as well as other agendas, such as the development effectiveness agenda and the Addis Ababa Action Agenda, should be used as an anchor for navigating the crisis (OECD DAC, 2018<sub>[3]</sub>); (UN, 2015<sub>[8]</sub>). The DAC has also recently approved the Blended Finance Guidance, to support development finance providers in implementing the principles (OECD DAC, 2020[9]). Now more than ever, it will be critical to ensure blended finance programmes have a strong development rationale and deliver impact and results that are monitored and reported in a transparent manner (see the guest contribution in Section 4.11 from Global Affairs Canada on transparency). Blended finance needs to focus on models that optimise the mobilisation of commercial finance while minimising the required concessionality. Blending also needs to target areas and projects where commercial financing is not available to ensure additionality (see the guest contribution in Section 4.4 from CrossBoundary on additionality) and to avoid crowding out the private sector. Engagement with local beneficiaries is critical, to focus blended finance interventions on local priorities and contexts and contribute to local market development and capacity building (see the guest contribution in Section 4.6 from Palladium on local market development).

**Support national recovery plans and development strategies** (see Section 2.2.1). In the wake of the crisis, blended finance interventions should seek to align with national development priorities, as articulated

in key crisis response plans and national development strategies (see the guest contribution in Section 4.1 from a member of the Bangladesh Parliament on national ownership). Blended finance could be considered as one of the options to support a country's development priorities, as part of integrated national financing frameworks (INFFs) (see Box 2.3 on INFFs). Tools such as the country private sector diagnostics from the International Finance Corporation (IFC), the SDG investor maps from the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and the impact mappings from the United Nations Environment Programme Finance Initiative (UNEP FI) could be useful in identifying local sector and sub-sector priorities and more targeted investment opportunity areas (IFC, 2020[10]); (UNDP, 2020[11]); (UNEP-FI, 2020[12]).

The specific contexts within LDCs, as well as SDG and sector priorities, need to be addressed. For instance, in small island developing states, which heavily rely on oceans-based industries, blended finance efforts could focus on opportunities to scale up or replicate innovative "blue" blended finance schemes, such as blue bonds, debt-for-ocean swaps, blue carbon schemes, insurance schemes to cover oceans-related risks or impact funds for oceans-based activities (OECD,  $2020_{[13]}$ ) (see Box 2.6 on blended finance for sustainable ocean economies). Evidence also points to a track record of blended finance instruments deployed in fragile contexts, including for humanitarian purposes. For example, humanitarian impact bonds have been tested, and some private equity funds and impact funds are increasingly operating in fragile contexts (Basile and Neunuebel,  $2019_{[14]}$ ) (see Box 3.2 on blending in fragile contexts). Lastly, in contexts such as those of landlocked countries, blended finance could focus on infrastructure, trade and transportation. Beyond sector prioritisation, building greater local capacities is needed to identify and develop pipelines of SDG-aligned, investment-ready projects.

**Prioritise sectors that are key to creating decent, productive jobs** (see Section 2.2.2). The loss of jobs and livelihoods due to the pandemic risks being more severe than the health impacts. In line with national priorities, blended finance should be prioritised to provide needed capital in LDCs to help protect jobs, sustain the self-employed and support companies' liquidity and operations.

**Support small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) as engines for growth** (see Section 2.2.3). Preliminary findings from a survey on the state of SMEs in LDCs conducted by a consortium of organisations, including UNCDF, show that due to COVID-19, 87.9% of SMEs reported operating on less than 75% business capacity, 34.6% have laid off staff and 33.9% have indicated that they are at risk of shutting down within three months (UNCDF et al., 2020<sub>[15]</sub>). SMEs, particularly those in the "missing middle" which are too large for microfinance but considered too small by local banks and development finance institutions (DFIs), will not likely be rescued by government stimulus packages and will struggle to survive the crisis, despite their important role in driving long-term job creation and sustainable economic growth in LDCs. Blended finance vehicles should target this financing gap in LDCs (see the guest contribution in Section 4.10 from UNCDF's LDC Investment Platform team on the "missing middle").

**Systematically support women and girls to accelerate the recovery** (see Section 2.2.4). Women have been disproportionately affected by the pandemic and continue to face disadvantages, despite widespread recognition of the need for gender equality and of its importance for achieving sustainable development. Blended finance investors should consider targeting women-led enterprises and sectors with high shares of female employment more systematically, including by providing liquidity or working capital to financial institutions and intermediaries that incorporate a gender lens.

**Catalyse the growth of health-related industries** (see Section 2.2.5). The crisis has demonstrated the need for stronger health systems in LDCs, and many governments have called for investment support to develop domestic industries to produce vital medical supplies and pharmaceuticals. Blended finance could play a catalytic role in that regard, including supporting the dissemination of vaccines.

**Target sectors that are critical for inclusive, resilient and sustainable recovery** (see Section 2.2.6). Examples include climate-compatible infrastructure, transport and storage, and municipal infrastructure (see the guest contribution in Section 4.8 from UNCDF's Local development practice on municipal infrastructure investment). To harness the digital revolution, blended finance could scale up digital

infrastructure and digital business models that help to expand access to a wide range of services for currently underserved populations (see the guest contribution in Section 4.7 from UNCDF's Financial Inclusion practice on digital finance). In addition, investments in clean energy and blue economy will help build resilience and enable SDG achievement.

# An action agenda to harness the potential of blended finance for least developed countries

This Action Agenda aims to provide concrete steps to harness the potential of blended finance to support LDCs to build forward better from the COVID-19 crisis and make progress on the SDGs. This report and Agenda aims to feed into and help inform the preparatory process for the Fifth United Nations Conference on the Least Developed Countries (LDC5) and the new programme of action for LDCs. The Action Agenda also aims to follow-up on the United Nations-supported discussions on financing for development in the era of COVID-19 and beyond, which called for increased efforts to promote private investments in the SDGs in developing countries, including through greater support for innovative blended finance approaches in LDCs (UN, 2020<sub>[1]</sub>).

The action areas outlined below draw from the research and findings of this report, including views and ideas put forward in the guest contributions. The action areas build on recommendations from the previous two reports (see Box 1.). They seek to respond to some of the key underlying weaknesses and barriers that limit the mobilisation of private finance in LDCs through the use of blended finance approaches, and that concentrate it in few sectors and with limited or unclear development impacts. As such, the agenda responds to many of the multiple risks and barriers to private investments in the LDCs presented in Box 2.1 and also discussed in other parts of this report. The action areas are directed to actors involved in blended finance, including LDC and donor governments, international organisations, domestic and international private sector investors and others providing relevant support for enabling private investments in LDCs.

#### 1. Support domestic financial ecosystems and market development

Blended finance can be used strategically to develop sustainable market systems and build the capacity of local capital market actors.

#### 1.1 Examine a project's systemic effects on the overall market

Blended finance investments should aim to create a new market or strengthen fledgling markets, for example by using concessional finance in the early market development stage, as a temporary intervention to help introduce fully commercial finance over time. First movers' transactions in LDC markets face high initial costs and/or risks, but have a strong potential for market creation, often through demonstration effects and the creation of positive externalities, which then make it easier for subsequent transactions. Blended finance transactions, particularly those involving concessionality, should be designed to reach commercial sustainability eventually, with clear exit strategies (in line with OECD Blended Finance Principles). Guarantees and risk capital can be effective in creating markets, while concessional debt can be more appropriate in sustaining market growth.

#### 1.2 Support local capacity building to improve the enabling environment

Blended finance should be implemented in tandem with public reforms and capacity building to address underlying constraints to private investments. LDCs should design an approach to private investment and blended finance that focuses on building the key components of an ecosystem, including transaction and business development advisories and conducive legal and regulatory systems. Grant providers can support capacity building for local investors and public financial institutions. Capacity support should be

embedded in the ecosystem to provide local and regional training and facilitate connections among key market actors. Technical assistance should be integrated into blended finance solutions, delivering it preinvestment to increase addressable demand, and continuing it post-investment to reduce risk.

## 1.3 Develop local capital markets, promoting local currency financing solutions and greater mobilisation of local investors

It is important to accompany blended finance transactions with solutions that support the development of local capital markets to sustain the commercial viability of future investments. Blended finance can also de-risk deals to crowd in domestic capital from local investors to support local governments and SMEs. As an example, concessional local currency solutions, such as guarantees, should be promoted, as they allow the offsetting of asset-liability mismatches at terms that are viable for the project to proceed and/or for the end users to be able to afford to use the products or services (e.g. loans at tenors and terms that are viable for SMEs, but beyond established local capital market rates). Local currency guarantors can support the development of local capital markets and mobilise long-term local currency financing. It is important for foreign donors and investors to manage currency risk through the use of local currency products and/or currency swaps. Furthermore, mobilising local investors such as sovereign wealth funds and local pension funds to provide local currency finance to projects that generate revenues in local currency also contributes to reducing foreign exchange risk, and provides long-term finance (OECD, 2020<sub>[16]</sub>).

#### 1.4 Strengthen the role of national development banks in deploying blended finance

Enhancing the role of national development banks (NDBs) to support blended finance would include improving governance and ensuring their mandates and business models are fit for purpose to support private sector mobilisation and the use of blended finance approaches. At the country level, governments need to give NDBs clear and stable mandates aligned with the SDGs, ensure they are adequately resourced, and put in place supportive policy and regulatory frameworks. At the international level, multilateral development banks, regional development banks, DFIs and international climate funds need to step up their engagement with NDBs and support the development of their capacity.

#### 2. Design blended finance solutions to reach the "last mile"

LDCs and investors in LDC markets should design innovative blended finance structures, based on country-specific contexts that reach the most vulnerable and underserved communities.

#### 2.1 Focus on risk mitigation tools

In LDCs, there is a need for a targeted and combined use of various financial instruments and mechanisms in blended finance transactions to tackle overlapping layers of risk. This can include higher concessionality, the use of multiple instruments in one transaction, and local currency solutions. Similarly, concessionality levels are likely to be much higher in the last mile than elsewhere. Development partners need to acknowledge this reality and customise blended instruments to local circumstances.

#### 2.2 Engage local stakeholders to identify project opportunities in line with local needs

Development finance providers should engage with local governments and municipalities to identify local investment opportunities where the private sector can provide effective solutions to reach the furthest behind. This will help to unlock finance in LDCs that is targeted to local priorities that have been identified as key to achieving sustainable, green and resilient growth. Beyond local administrations, development partners should also engage with local civil society organisations and micro, small and medium-sized enterprise associations to identify development challenges to be addressed and possible solutions tailored

to local contexts. These actors should also be taken into account when measuring the social and environmental risks of specific projects.

#### 2.3 Target the "missing-middle" enterprises

LDCs and development partners should consider risk-tolerant facilities to support enterprises in the "missing middle", including their customers, suppliers and workers in the poorest and most vulnerable communities, with a systematic focus on women entrepreneurs and SMEs supporting gender equality and women's empowerment. UNCDF's on-balance sheet lending focuses on "missing middle" investments in LDCs and can help to fill this gap in the development finance architecture.

#### 2.4 Employ digital financial solutions

Digital solutions should be used to reach the last mile, help to bring solutions to large scale, collect data to inform investment decisions and to monitor performance, and mobilise resources from non-traditional sources. Investments to bridge the digital divide will be crucial in bringing these solutions to the last mile.

#### 2.5 Ensure the accessibility and affordability of products and services delivered through blended finance investments

Development partners in blended finance should evaluate the commercial viability of the underlying investment in a blended finance transaction or vehicle and weigh it against the development impacts they want to achieve, including the affordability, accessibility and quality of products and services provided.

#### 3. Improve impact management and measurement and promote transparency

Enhancing impact and transparency is critical to allow for informed decision-making as well as accountability and learning. Often, the development impact of blended finance transactions is unclear because of weak monitoring systems and a lack of transparency.

#### 3.1 Improve impact management and measurement practices

Governments and engaged partners should work to enhance the quality of monitoring and evaluating the sustainable development impact of blended finance investments. In strengthening SDG impact measurement, providers should ensure that ex-ante SDG impact assessments and ex-post evaluations are undertaken and made publicly available. The Tri Hita Karana (THK)<sup>2</sup> working group on impact has developed a practical checklist to assess the impact of blended finance on the poor. It gives a set of questions and screening considerations for the ex-ante assessment of the expected impact, and for the ex-post assessment of the actual impact on the poor, in line with the Global Impact Investing Network's IRIS+ impact metrics (THK Impact Working Group, 2020<sub>[17]</sub>); (THK and IRIS, 2020<sub>[18]</sub>). With a better ability to do assessment up front and to measure and track impact, blended finance can be directed towards those projects where the sustainable development impact is greatest. The OECD, in collaboration with UNDP, is currently developing impact standards on financing for sustainable development, focusing on both impact management and measurement.

#### 3.2 Increase the transparency of existing investments

Increased transparency on what is and is not working can serve as a demonstration effect to other potential investors on the realistic investment opportunities and the catalytic effects of blended finance. Finance for future projects can be leveraged by building the evidence base on blended finance projects in LDCs. This includes increasing the availability of data on the financial conditions, risks and development results of blended finance interventions, as well as more disaggregated and consistent disclosure of the data on the

private finance mobilised. Concessional funding providers should request disclosure of this information as part of their financing agreement. The United Nations initiative on financing for development in the era of COVID-19 and beyond also calls for accurate data on all financial flows to ensure transparency (UN, 2020<sub>[19]</sub>). There have been important efforts to address these issues, such as the IFC's disclosure of the estimated subsidy and justification for each transaction co-funded by blended concessional finance, including through the International Development Association's Private Sector Window. The THK roadmap for blended finance is also working to increase transparency in blended finance (THK Transparency Working Group, 2020<sub>[20]</sub>).

## 3.3 Promote collaboration and the sharing of knowledge, best practices and lessons learned

The blended finance ecosystem is composed of a wide range of actors and organisations, with different mandates and incentives. Promoting collaboration and facilitating effective partnering is of crucial importance. This could enhance the sharing of knowledge, best practices and lessons learned from experiences with blended finance in specific contexts or sectors in LDCs. This would contribute to building a track record that would give confidence to donors and investors alike. The recently established OECD DAC Community of Practice on Private Finance for Sustainable Development provides a forum for such dialogue and exchanges between DAC donors and private actors (OECD, 2020<sub>[21]</sub>). The DFI Working Group on Blended Concessional Finance for Private Sector Projects and their joint reports, published annually since 2017, are good efforts in this spirit.

## 4. Bring blended finance to large scale through systemic and transformational approaches

Efforts to build forward better post COVID-19 should be designed not just to help countries bounce back to pre-crisis status, but rather to support a transformation to more resilient and sustainable economies that can drive SDG progress. This means doing more than restarting economies and restoring livelihoods to their pre-crisis levels. For blended finance to make a difference and have sustained relevance in LDCs, it must be used to respond in a systemic way to systemic crises.

## 4.1 Incorporate blended finance into co-ordinated multilateral crisis response and national recovery plans

Blended finance should be explicitly included in the global agenda as the development community shapes the crisis response for LDCs. This would entail exploring how public stimulus packages and other donor efforts to respond to the crisis, including debt relief measures, can be used more explicitly to leverage additional SDG-positive private investments. This can be done by using analytical tools such as the integrated national financing frameworks and nationally determined contributions, SDG investor maps and IFC country private sector diagnostic to identify priority sectors for blended finance investment.

#### 4.2 Adopt a portfolio approach (through vehicles, platforms) for scalable solutions

A deal-by-deal approach to recovery will not reach the scale or transformational change needed to address the new risks posed by COVID-19 and advance the fight against existing vulnerabilities exacerbated by the pandemic. Development funders should prioritise a portfolio approach along with asymmetrical riskreturn profiles to mobilise private investors. This includes the greater use of collective or pooled investment vehicles (funds and facilities) and special purpose vehicles with different tranches, in addition to guarantees, to better manage risks and achieve greater mobilisation of private sector finance. Mobilising private investment at large scale by increasing the ticket/deal size, such as through the aggregation of multiple projects, across multiple LDCs, projects and/or sectors creates diversification to reduce risk-return variance for investors. Enhanced collaboration and co-ordination are needed among blended finance actors, for example to capitalise, replicate or create structures to scale up blended finance, with specific focus or targets on LDCs.

## 4.3 Prioritise scalable projects in sectors driving an inclusive, sustainable, green and resilient recovery

To support LDCs to recover from COVID-19 and rebuild better, blended finance actors will need to ensure that investments contribute to an inclusive, sustainable and resilient system. Post-COVID-19 blended finance arrangements will, therefore, need to prioritise investments that promote job creation and strengthen sectors that can drive and balance economic growth, environmental sustainability, well-being and inclusiveness. Blended finance should focus on catalytic interventions that can demonstrate the viability of new business models and economic sectors with the aim of unlocking larger commercial investments in such areas. This means that blended finance investments, irrespective of sector focus, could focus on:

- targeting strategic opportunities that could result in the significant creation of decent jobs;
- integrating digital solutions to enhance access and reduce risk and transaction costs;
- supporting women's economic empowerment, and gender equality;
- aligning with long-term emissions reduction goals and factoring in resilience to climate impacts;
- slowing biodiversity loss and increasing circular economy approaches.

#### References

Basile, I. and C. Neunuebel (2019), "Blended finance in fragile contexts: Opportunities and risks", OECD Development Co-operation Working Papers, No. 62, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/f5e557b2-en</u> .	[12]
IFC (2020), Country Private Sector Diagnostic, https://www.effectivecooperation.org/system/files/2019-07/Kampala%20Principles%20- %20final.pdf.	[8]
OECD (2020), OECD DAC Blended Finance Principle 3 - Detailed Guidance Note, http://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/blended-finance- principles/principle-3/P3 Guidance Note.pdf.	[15]
OECD (2020), OECD DAC Community of Practice on Private Finance for Sustainable Development, <u>http://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/development-finance-topics/Co-%20FSD-Brochure.pdf</u> .	[20]
OECD (2020), Sustainable Ocean for All: Harnessing the Benefits of Sustainable Ocean Economies for Developing Countries, The Development Dimension, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/bede6513-en</u> .	[11]
OECD DAC (2020), OECD DAC Blended Finance Guidance, <u>http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=DCD/DAC(2020)42/F</u> <u>INAL&amp;docLanguage=En</u> .	[7]
OECD DAC (2018), OECD DAC Blended Finance Principles for Unlocking Commercial Finance for the Sustainable Development Goals.	[2]

30 |

OECD/UNCDF (2019), <i>Blended Finance in the Least Developed Countries 2019</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/1c142aae-en</u> .	[4]
OECD/UNCDF (2018), <i>Blended Finance in the Least Developed Countries</i> , <u>https://www.uncdf.org/article/4220/blended-finance-in-ldcs-report</u> (accessed on 17 July 2020).	[3]
THK (2018), <i>TRI HITA KARANA (THK) ROADMAP FOR BLENDED FINANCE</i> , <u>https://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/development-finance-topics/_THK%20Roadmap%20booklet%20A5.pdf</u> (accessed on 17 April 2020).	[21]
THK and IRIS (2020), <i>Alignment between THK Impact Checklist and IRIS Metrics</i> , <u>https://www.convergence.finance/resource/130rL4Lfni0rq7dIhyVwZd/view</u> (accessed on 23 June 2020).	[17]
THK Impact Working Group (2020), <i>A checklist for assessing the impact of blended finance on the poor</i> , Tri Hita Karana Roadmap for Blended Finance - Impact Working Group, <a href="https://assets.ctfassets.net/4cgqlwde6qy0/4Eh0FtdoP9LZrFYS64fLy4/b4dfdcc3fedda0377a5_d23050f4dc04b/THK_Impact_checklist_April2020_UPDATED.pdf">https://assets.ctfassets.net/4cgqlwde6qy0/4Eh0FtdoP9LZrFYS64fLy4/b4dfdcc3fedda0377a5_d23050f4dc04b/THK_Impact_checklist_April2020_UPDATED.pdf</a> (accessed on 23 June 2020).	[16]
THK Transparency Working Group (2020), <i>Promoting Transparency in Blended Finance</i> , The Tri Hita Karana Roadmap for Blended Finance Transparency Working Group, <u>https://assets.ctfassets.net/4cgqlwde6qy0/3ePrF9LNWIPwl16wxxIQeC/f580fe16c1488b4f563</u> <u>692c47b04c4a8/THK_Transparency_report_12_May_2020final_1pdf</u> (accessed on 6 July 2020).	[19]
UN (2020), Financing for Development in the Era of COVID-19 and Beyond: Menu of Options for the Consideration of Heads of State and Government Part I, United Nations (UN), <a href="https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/financing_for_development_covid19_part_i_hosg.pd">https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/financing_for_development_covid19_part_i_hosg.pd</a> <a href="https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/financing_for_development_covid19_part_i_hosg.pd">https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/financing_for_development_covid19_part_i_hosg.pd</a> <a href="https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/financing_for_development_covid19_part_i_hosg.pd">https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/financing_for_development_covid19_part_i_hosg.pd</a>	[18]
UN (2020), <i>Financing for Sustainable Development Report 2020</i> , Inter-agency Task Force on Financing for Development, <a href="https://developmentfinance.un.org/sites/developmentfinance.un.org/files/FSDR_2020.pdf">https://developmentfinance.un.org/sites/developmentfinance.un.org/files/FSDR_2020.pdf</a> .	[5]
UN (2020), "Implementation of the Programme of Action for the Least Developed Countries for the Decade 2011–2020 - Report of the Secretary-General", <u>http://unohrlls.org/custom-content/uploads/2020/04/English_SG-report.pdf</u> (accessed on 4 June 2020).	[1]
UN (2020), Initiative on Financing for Development in the Era of COVID-19 and Beyond, https://www.un.org/en/coronavirus/financing-development.	[14]
UN (2015), Addis Ababa Action Agenda of the Third International Conference on Financing for Development, United Nations General Assembly, New York.	[6]
UNCDF, C. et al. (2020), <i>The State of Small Businesses in the LDCs</i> , <u>https://infogram.com/1prdz6xmyk9e79tgq299prwrr7cmv65v3xp?live</u> .	[13]
UNDP (2020), SDG Investor Maps - Impact Intelligence and Facilitation Services, https://sdgimpact.undp.org/assets/SDG-Investor-Maps.pdf.	[9]
UNEP-FI (2020), Impact radar & mappings, <u>https://www.unepfi.org/positive-impact/impact-radar-mappings/</u> .	[10]

| 31

#### Notes

<sup>1</sup> The financing gap to achieve the SDGs in developing countries was estimated at USD 2.5 trillion annually before the pandemic. Current estimates indicate that, considering the increase in needs and drop in resources due to the COVID 19 crisis, the SDG financing gap could increase by USD 1.7 trillion – that is, about plus 70% in 2020 (OECD, 2020<sub>[22]</sub>).

<sup>2</sup> Established in Bali, Indonesia, in October 2018, the THK Roadmap for Blended Finance is a unique platform for international dialogue on blended finance. It brings together stakeholders from all over the world, including donor agencies, development finance institutions, multilateral development banks, civil society organisations, philanthropic foundations, private sector stakeholders, and impact investment communities (THK, 2018<sub>[178]</sub>).

# **1** Financing sustainable development in least developed countries

COVID-19 is having significant health and socio-economic impacts in least developed countries (LDCs) and is expected to cause major setbacks in these countries' already limited progress in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). This chapter provides an overview of the key financing challenges faced by LDCs, and outlines the economic and social impacts of and responses to COVID-19 in LDCs.

## 1.1. Least developed countries continue to face stark challenges across development and well-being dimensions

The United Nations defines LDCs as "low-income countries confronting severe structural impediments to sustainable development. They are highly vulnerable to economic and environmental shocks and have low levels of human assets" (see Annex A for an overview of the criteria for the inclusion and graduation of LDCs) (UN/DESA, 2020<sub>[22]</sub>). There are 47 countries on the list of LDCs.<sup>1</sup> They are home to 1.03 billion people, about 14% of the world population, but with a combined GDP accounting for less than 1.3% of total global GDP (World Bank, 2019<sub>[23]</sub>).

The Istanbul Programme of Action (IPoA) for the LDCs, resulting from the Fourth United Nations Conference on the Least Developed Countries (LDC-IV), laid out the international community's strategy and vision to overcome the structural challenges faced by the LDCs for the 2011–2020 decade (UN, 2011<sub>[24]</sub>). The 2020 ministerial declaration of the LDCs calls for more blended finance to mobilise additional resources in LDCs (UN-OHRLLS, 2020<sub>[25]</sub>). The next Programme of Action is expected to result from the Fifth United Nations Conference on the Least Developed Countries (LDC5), scheduled for January 2022 in Doha. The 2030 Agenda recognised LDCs' specific challenges and vulnerabilities and set a number of LDC-specific targets, such as achieving at least 7% GDP growth per annum (SDG target 8.1) (UN, 2015<sub>[26]</sub>).

In the final year of IPoA, evidence shows that despite significant progress in certain areas, LDCs still face structural impediments to eradicating poverty through economic growth, structural transformation, building productive capacity or increasing their share of exports (UN, 2020<sub>[4]</sub>). Most LDCs still experience significantly lower growth than the targets in the IPoA, well below the levels needed to eradicate extreme poverty by 2030. Beyond growth, the latest available data show significant differences between LDCs and other low-income countries across several human, social development, and economic and environmental sustainability dimensions. (See Annex B for an overview of the main gaps between LDCs and other developing countries.) Moreover, LDCs have been severely hit by the COVID-19 pandemic and the ensuing global economic downturn, exacerbating already existing vulnerabilities, as outlined in Sections 1.2 and 1.3.

## **1.2. Least developed countries faced severe SDG financing gaps even before the coronavirus (COVID-19) crisis**

Although SDG financing challenges are common to all developing countries, LDCs face particular barriers. Financing investment through domestic resources is challenging for LDCs, which have low levels of income and domestic savings and often ineffective domestic resource mobilisation. Although tax revenues represent on average the largest source of financing for sustainable development in developing countries, they account for a much lower share of GDP in LDCs – 14.2% here, compared with 19.2% in low- to middle-income countries and 21.7% in upper-middle-income countries, as Figure B.1 in Annex B shows. LDCs rely to a large extent on external finance (i.e. development finance, remittances, and foreign direct investment (FDI), private investment and other investment – each having specific financing purposes), which represents a larger share of LDCs' GDP (16%) than domestic finance (14%).

**Development finance is a critically important source of financing for LDCs**. Looking specifically at official development finance trends, Figure 1.1 below shows that overall development finance to LDCs has been on an upward trend since 2015, with bilateral development finance largely exceeding multilateral. Official development assistance (ODA), which is provided on concessional terms,<sup>2</sup> largely dominates the official development finance landscape in LDCs. Preliminary data for 2019 suggest that, on a cash flow basis, net bilateral ODA flows to LDCs increased by 2.6% in real terms (OECD, 2020<sub>[2]</sub>). However, ODA
provided to LDCs by DAC donors accounted for only 0.09% of the gross national income (GNI) of donor countries in 2018, well below their 0.15–0.20% ODA-to-GNI commitment<sup>3</sup> (see Annex B for details).





Note: ODA: official development assistance; OOF: other official flows Source: Authors building on data collected for (OECD, 2020[2]), Global Outlook on Financing for Sustainable Development, https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/e3c30a9a-en

**Development finance providers should increase efforts to maintain ODA budgets and keep external financing flowing, including private investment and remittances**, especially in LDCs (OECD, 2020<sub>[2]</sub>). In April 2020, DAC members issued a statement, committing to "strive to protect ODA budgets" (OECD DAC, 2020<sub>[27]</sub>).

DAC donors have also been increasingly leveraging scarce development finance resources to mobilise additional private finance for sustainable development in LDCs, through blended finance approaches. Chapter 3 provides a detailed overview on the latest trends of private finance mobilised in LDCs, building on OECD data. At the high-level meeting in November 2020, DAC members acknowledged the importance of ODA to respond to the COVID-19 crisis and promote long-term sustainable development, especially in LDCs. They also pledged to "continue working to find ways to mobilise more official and private resources for sustainable development, including promoting more – and more effective – blended finance, with special attention to LDCs" (OECD DAC, 2020[28]). It will be of utmost importance that DAC members implement these commitments.

## **1.3. Impacts of and responses to coronavirus (COVID-19) in least developed countries**

Significant socio-economic impacts of the pandemic risk reversing the progress made in achieving the SDGs in LDCs. LDCs would have been better equipped to face and recover from the COVID-19 crisis had they been further advanced in meeting the SDGs and the Paris Agreement by the time of the crisis, including with stronger health systems, more resilient infrastructure and diverse economies, more gender equality, and better access to energy and digital services. Instead, the significant impacts of the pandemic now risk reversing any progress made in achieving the SDGs in LDCs.

## *1.3.1.* COVID-19 health impacts are unfolding in LDCs at an uncertain yet alarming pace

While the spread of the coronavirus had a slow start in LDCs, it has accelerated, with a high incidence of imported cases (Bhattacharya and Islam, 2020<sub>[29]</sub>). LDCs had about 2.1% of the total global recorded cases and 1.3% of global recorded deaths as of October 2020 (EAPD/UNDESA, 2020<sub>[30]</sub>). However, there are concerns about serious under-reporting of cases and fatalities, due in part to the weak health systems and low testing capacities of LDCs (UN/DESA, 2020<sub>[31]</sub>).

While LDCs' young populations might be considered an advantage against the COVID-19 pandemic, **people in LDCs often have limited access to healthcare and lack basic water and sanitation facilities**, which are essential for hand hygiene and critical to preventing the spread of the virus (Bhattacharya and Islam, 2020<sub>[29]</sub>); (WHO, 2020<sub>[32]</sub>). COVID-19 is also hitting countries that are recovering from other epidemics, such as Ebola in West Africa (UN/OHRLLS, 2020<sub>[33]</sub>). Further, COVID-19 is likely to disrupt the delivery of other health services and the uptake of immunisation, especially in LDCs (UNICEF, 2020<sub>[34]</sub>).

Among LDCs, the extent of the health impact of the pandemic varies greatly. Bangladesh, the most populated LDC, has the highest number of reported cases. Moreover, while small island developing states reported a limited number of infections (due to their geographical remoteness), some LDCs with conflict or post-conflict status reported high numbers of confirmed cases. Further, overpopulated slums and refugee camps in LDCs are at high risk of uncontrollable COVID-19 outbreaks (Bhattacharya and Islam, 2020<sub>[29]</sub>).

#### 1.3.2. The COVID-19 crisis is taking a heavy toll on LDCs' economies

The socio-economic impacts of COVID-19 in LDCs have been significant and risk reversing years of hard-won progress on sustainable development. Rapid and aggressive lockdown measures in most LDCs, including workplace closures, school closures and stay-at-home orders, have significantly reduced domestic demand and have forced businesses to shut down or to reduce operations. The real GDP growth rate for LDCs in 2020 is expected to plummet to 0.8%, down from 4.5% in 2018 and 4.8% in 2019 (UN, 2020<sub>[35]</sub>). The economic recovery is projected to be even slower than previously forecast (IMF, 2020<sub>[36]</sub>).

In addition to reduced domestic demand, the economic impact on LDCs is due in large part to the drastic contraction in global economic activity. Declining global demand, along with supply chain disruptions, is affecting LDCs' exports, particularly in textiles and garments. Disruptions in the tourism sector are heavily impacting small island LDCs. Many LDCs are also highly dependent on the natural resources sector (e.g. Angola's economy is heavily dependent on oil exports, Zambia's on copper exports), which is being negatively affected by a collapse in oil and commodity prices (UN-OHRLLS, 2020<sub>[37]</sub>).

**The outlook for flows of FDI into LDCs in 2020 and beyond is also very weak**. Globally, a drop in FDI by up to 40% is expected for 2020 (UNCTAD, 2020<sub>[38]</sub>). About a third of the total FDI investment in LDCs went to extractive industries and, with sharply lower commodity prices caused by COVID-19, new FDI in the sector can be expected to be put on hold. FDI in other negatively affected export sectors such as tourism and textiles is also expected to suffer in the near to medium term (UNCTAD, 2020<sub>[39]</sub>).

**Flows of remittances, an important source of external finance for many LDCs, have dried up significantly** as migrant workers from LDCs lose their jobs and return from host countries affected by the pandemic. While LDC-specific data are not yet available, projections indicate that remittances to sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia will fall by 23.1% and 22.1% respectively in 2020 as a result of COVID-19 (World Bank, 2020<sub>[40]</sub>).

In the short term, ODA will be critical to leverage additional finance in response to the crisis (OECD, 2020[41]). ODA has proven to be a key resource and countercyclical flow in past crises (OECD, 2020[42]). Given the unprecedented shock of the COVID-19 crisis, particularly in LDCs and fragile countries, ODA is

likely to play an even more important role to prevent a rapid increase in extreme poverty and a reversal of the SDG progress in LDCs. Yet the global economic recession and declining public revenues risk putting downward pressure on ODA levels. Ultimately, how official development finance will evolve is still uncertain, and this remains a question of political will and global solidarity. As many ODA budgets for 2020 and 2021 had been finalised before the outbreak, the effect of the global economic recession on ODA levels might not be immediate but show up later as a lagging indicator.

**The COVID-19 crisis is further exacerbating the already high debt burden of LDCs**. According to the World Bank Group-International Monetary Fund (IMF) debt sustainability framework, six LDCs were classified as debt distressed, with an additional one in external debt distress, and 16 LDCs faced a high risk of debt distress<sup>4</sup> (World Bank and IMF, 2020<sub>[43]</sub>). The composition of the debt stock of LDCs also changed significantly in the last decade, with an increasing share of debt held by private and non-traditional bilateral creditors (notably China). This is likely to pose challenges to creditor co-ordination (UN, 2020<sub>[4]</sub>). To rebuild their economies and mitigate social impacts, these countries will now have to increase their borrowing in the absence of other external support, as their already limited fiscal space will narrow further due to the crisis. While debt suspension efforts like the debt service suspension initiative (DSSI), in which 29 LDCs participate,<sup>5</sup> are helpful in the short to medium term to address liquidity constraints, debt cancellation may be needed for the most vulnerable, highly indebted countries to avoid widespread defaults and to facilitate investments in recovery and the SDGs.

#### 1.3.3. Other social impacts in LDCs due to COVID-19

**The pandemic and ensuing crisis have created vast unemployment**. In the second quarter of 2020, low-income countries registered a decline of 11% in the number of working hours, representing a 10.1% loss of labour income, in line with the global average of 10.7% loss of labour income (ILO, 2020<sub>[44]</sub>). In Bangladesh, for example, where garment manufacturing is the largest sector of employment, the workforce has been significantly affected as global demand has fallen and billions of dollars' worth of retail orders have been cancelled (Akiwumi, 2020<sub>[45]</sub>). The challenge of getting people back to work will be particularly difficult in LDCs, where high shares of the populations are self-employed and excluded from efforts to support the formal economy. Microfinance and support for financial intermediaries will remain important to reach informal workers. Moreover, many LDCs lack social protection systems to assist workers during times of crisis (UN/DESA, 2020<sub>[31]</sub>). More importantly, in low-income countries, the stimulus gap amounts to less than 1% of the total value of the above-the-line fiscal stimulus measures announced by high-income countries (ILO, 2020<sub>[44]</sub>). Support for the private sector will be essential not only to reduce job losses and preserve livelihoods but also to create new, high-quality and resilient jobs (EDFI, 2020<sub>[46]</sub>).

The crisis is having a disproportionately negative impact on women and girls, especially in fragile and conflict-affected contexts (OECD, 2020<sub>[47]</sub>). Girls and young women stand to be particularly affected by extreme poverty due to the COVID-19 crisis, according to the estimation of the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and the United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women (UN Women) (Azcona, Bhatt and Kapto, 2020<sub>[48]</sub>). While sub-Saharan Africa is expected to continue being where most poor women live, Central and South Asia is expected to experience a resurgence in women's extreme poverty due to the pandemic (ibid.). There are signs that women are suffering increasingly from gender-based violence as a result of lockdowns and confinements, and that resources are being diverted from women's healthcare. Furthermore, there are indications that the pandemic will have long-term negative impacts on both women's employment and girl's participation in education (UN, 2020<sub>[49]</sub>).

**Food insecurity is on the rise**. The impact of the crisis on food systems, in combination with the effects of lost incomes, is pushing the world's poorest and most vulnerable towards greater food insecurity. Globally, 135 million people faced acute food insecurity before COVID-19 and that number is expected to

double to 270 million people in 2020, affecting poor and vulnerable people disproportionately (UN News, 2020<sup>[50]</sup>). Some 28% of the world's undernourished people live in LDCs (UN-OHRLLS, 2020<sup>[25]</sup>).

#### 1.3.4. The responses, both domestic and international, in LDCs have been limited

**To respond to the COVID-19 crisis, the United Nations Secretary-General has called for a global stimulus package** that is a double-digit percentage of global GDP (UN, 2020<sub>[51]</sub>). The United Nations General Assembly also passed a resolution that called for a "comprehensive and co-ordinated response" to pandemic. However, to date, there has been little appetite among the leading economies for a co-ordinated effort to support socio-economic stimulus in the LDCs. While the World Health Organization emergency appeal has been 93% funded at USD 1.6 billion, the humanitarian response plan of the United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs has been only 33% funded at USD 3.3 billion, of which some USD 1.45 billion is targeted specifically at 24 LDCs (UN Info, 2020<sub>[52]</sub>). The United Nations COVID-19 response and recovery fund has mobilised significantly less than anticipated.

The United Nations development system is working together to assess the socio-economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on economies and communities, and has produced socio-economic impact assessments for some 33 of the 47 LDCs. It is also preparing response plans that include estimates of the investment needed (UNDP, 2020<sub>[53]</sub>). The United Nations development system repurposed some USD 2.9 billion of existing programming resources to support countries to respond to the crisis, of which an estimated USD 719 million was used across 33 of the LDCs (UN Info, 2020<sub>[52]</sub>).

The World Bank Group and the IMF have taken quick but relatively limited action. The IMF has an overall lending capacity of USD 1 trillion, but in response to the crisis it has so far lent only USD 280 billion, with USD 11 billion going to low-income countries (Goodman, 2020[54]). The International Development Association and the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD) have, in the first seven months of 2020, increased total lending by 118% compared with the same period in 2019, although disbursements of funds are up only 31%. Compared with the global financial crisis in 2008-2009, this is less than half of the increase in monthly disbursements then (Duggan et al., 2020[55]). In low-income countries, loan disbursements have increased only slightly compared with last year, by about 0.33% of 2018 GDP. While this is a somewhat larger increase than low-income countries saw during the global financial crisis, the current crisis is significantly more severe for the poorest countries (ibid.). In March 2020, the International Finance Corporation designed a USD 8 billion fast-tracking financing response to provide immediate liquidity to its financial institutions and real sector clients to preserve jobs and prevent short-term damage. As of the end of October 2020, USD 4 billion had been committed under this first emergency response, of which close to half was expected to benefit people in the poorest countries and fragile states (IFC, 2020[56]). Furthermore, the World Bank Group is not participating in the G20 debt service suspension initiative, which offers, on request, the suspension of loan principal and interest payments from all official bilateral creditors to 73 low- and lower-middle-income countries (Duggan et al., 2020[55]).

Several experts have also advocated that the IMF's special drawing rights (SDRs)<sup>6</sup> allocation be targeted to developing countries to support them to overcome liquidity shortfalls stemming from the COVID-19 crisis (Gallagher, Ocampo and Volz,  $2020_{[57]}$ ); (Griffiths,  $2020_{[58]}$ ); (Plant,  $2020_{[59]}$ ); (ODI,  $2020_{[60]}$ ); (UNCTAD,  $2020_{[61]}$ ); (UN,  $2020_{[7]}$ ). SDRs could be exchanged for hard currency for developing countries to bridge balance-of-payments financing gaps. However, SDRs can be allocated in proportion to members countries' IMF quotas, which are low for LDCs. The United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) proposed that a new SDR allocation should go mostly or exclusively to developing countries (UNCTAD,  $2020_{[62]}$ ). In March 2020, the IMF reported that it was considering the option of a SDR allocation to low- and middle-income countries with its members (IMF,  $2020_{[63]}$ ). A USD 50 billion liquidity and sustainability facility for Africa has also been proposed by the United Nations Economic Commission for Africa (UNECA) and others, to lower borrowing costs by ensuring that short-term debt obligations can be met (UNECA,  $2020_{[64]}$ ).

Finally, on 28 May 2020, Canada, Jamaica and the United Nations Secretary-General convened a high-level event to join forces with heads of state and government, international organisations and other key partners to enable leaders to take the ambitious responses needed to address the COVID-19 pandemic. As a follow-up to the event, a menu of policy options was prepared by six discussion groups convened to address questions of external finance and remittances; jobs and inclusive growth; recovering better for sustainability; global liquidity and financial stability; debt vulnerability; the engagement of private sector creditors; and illicit financial flows (UN, 2020[19]).

Domestically, the response to the crisis from most LDC governments has been limited and nowhere near the level of the unprecedented rescue packages provided in high-income economies. The average fiscal stimulus in low-income countries is estimated at 1% of GDP, according to the IMF (IMF, 2020<sub>[65]</sub>). Most LDC governments have provided some income or food support, though this is limited due to lack of social protection systems (UN/DESA, 2020<sub>[31]</sub>). Many LDCs have also developed support programmes that provide loans, guarantees or tax relief for affected firms, and income to workers. These measures, however, often fail to reach people in the informal economy, who are also the most vulnerable (ibid.). Some LDCs are providing relief by reducing transaction fees or increasing balance and transaction limits for mobile money payments and other digital financial services (ibid.). In addition, several LDCs are accelerating the implementation of e-government services online to keep procedures such as business registration available, to mitigate the impact on business and investors (UNCTAD, 2020<sub>[39]</sub>). Initial findings indicate that small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) in LDCs that were provided with some form of government support have stronger positive revenue outlooks and better operational capacity than those that were not supported. However, more than half of the SMEs surveyed indicated that they had not received any support (UNCDF et al., 2020<sub>[15]</sub>).

#### References

Akiwumi, P. (2020), <i>Coronavirus: Let's not forget the world's poorest countries</i> , UNCTAD, <u>https://unctad.org/en/pages/newsdetails.aspx?OriginalVersionID=2347</u> (accessed on 22 September 2020).	[26]
Azcona, G., A. Bhatt and S. Kapto (2020), <i>The COVID-19 boomerang effect: New forecasts predict sharp increases in female poverty</i> , UNDP/UN Women, <u>https://data.unwomen.org/features/covid-19-boomerang-effect-new-forecasts-predict-sharp-increases-female-poverty</u> .	[29]
Bhattacharya, D. and F. Islam (2020), <i>The COVID-19 Scourge: How affected are the Least Developed Countries?</i> , OECD Development Matters, <u>https://oecd-development-matters.org/2020/04/23/the-covid-19-scourge-how-affected-are-the-least-developed-countries/</u> .	[10]
Duggan, J. et al. (2020), <i>Is the World Bank's COVID-19 Crisis Lending Big Enough, Fast Enough? New Evidence on Loan Disbursements</i> , <u>https://www.cgdev.org/sites/default/files/world-banks-covid-crisis-lending-big-enough-fast-enough-new-evidence-loan-disbursements.pdf</u> .	[36]
EAPD/UNDESA (2020), COVID-19 Update: Status for the 47 Least Developed Countries (LDCs), https://infogram.com/ldc-covid-19-status-update-1h7g6kdvm9ng4oy.	[11]

40	

EDFI (2020), <i>DFIs positioned to play essential role in COVID-19 economic support in Africa</i> , <u>https://www.edfi.eu/news/dfis-positioned-to-play-essential-role-in-covid-19-economic-support-in-africa/</u> .	[27]
Gallagher, K., J. Ocampo and U. Volz (2020), IMF Special Drawing Rights: A key tool for attacking a COVID-19 financial fallout in developing countries, Brookings, <u>https://www.brookings.edu/blog/future-development/2020/03/26/imf-special-drawing-rights-a- key-tool-for-attacking-a-covid-19-financial-fallout-in-developing-countries/</u> .	[38]
Goodman, P. (2020), <i>How the Wealthy World Has Failed Poor Countries During the Pandemic</i> , The New York Times, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/11/01/business/coronavirus-imf-world-bank.html?referringSource=articleShare</u> .	[35]
Griffiths, J. (2020), <i>Financing for developing countries facing a coronavirus-sparked economic crisis</i> , ODI, <u>https://www.odi.org/blogs/16774-massive-financial-injection-urgently-needed-developing-countries-facing-coronavirus-sparked-economic</u> .	[39]
IFC (2020), <i>Global Response, Regional Impact in the Fight Against COVID-19</i> , <u>https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/news_ext_content/ifc_external_corporate_site/news+an_d+events/news/impact-stories/ifc-global-response-covid-19</u> .	[37]
ILO (2020), ILO Monitor: COVID-19 and the world of work. Sixth edition, https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/dgreports/ dcomm/documents/briefingnote/wcms_755910.pdf.	[25]
IMF (2020), Fiscal Monitor Database of Country Fiscal Measures in Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic, IMF Fiscal Affairs Department, <u>https://www.imf.org/en/Topics/imf-and- covid19/Fiscal-Policies-Database-in-Response-to-COVID-19</u> .	[48]
IMF (2020), The Great Lockdown: Worst Economic Downturn Since the Great Depression, https://www.imf.org/en/News/Articles/2020/03/23/pr2098-imf-managing-director-statement- following-a-g20-ministerial-call-on-the-coronavirus-emergency.	[45]
IMF (2020), <i>The IMF's Response to COVID-19</i> , <u>https://www.imf.org/en/About/FAQ/imf-response-to-covid-19#Q2</u> .	[17]
ODI (2020), Financing the coronavirus response in sub-Saharan Africa, https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/resource- documents/coronavirus_working_paper_0.pdf.	[41]
OECD (2020), <i>Development Co-operation Profiles</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/2dcf1367-en</u> .	[23]
OECD (2020), Global Outlook on Financing for Sustainable Development 2021: A New Way to Invest for People and Planet, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/e3c30a9a-</u> <u>en</u> .	[7]
OECD (2020), Response, recovery and prevention in the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic in developing countries: Women and girls on the frontlines, OECD Policy Responses to Coronavirus (COVID-19), <u>http://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/response-recovery-and-prevention-in-the-coronavirus-covid-19-pandemic-in-developing-countries-women-and-girls-on-the-frontlines-23d645da/.</u>	[28]

OECD (2020), The impact of the coronavirus (COVID-19) crisis on development finance, http://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/the-impact-of-the-coronavirus-covid-19- crisis-on-development-finance-9de00b3b/.	[22]
OECD DAC (2020), Covid-19 Global Pandemic Joint Statement by the Development Assistance Committee (DAC) of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), <u>http://www.oecd.org/dac/development-assistance-committee/DAC-Joint-Statement-COVID-19.pdf</u> (accessed on 14 April 2020).	[8]
OECD DAC (2020), DAC HIGH LEVEL MEETING COMMUNIQUÉ 2020, http://www.oecd.org/dac/development-assistance-committee/DAC-HLM-Communique- 2020.pdf.	[9]
Plant, M. (2020), <i>Making the IMF's Special Drawing Rights Work for COVID-19 Economic Relief</i> , Center for Global Development, <u>https://www.cgdev.org/publication/making-imfs-special-</u> <u>drawing-rights-work-covid-19-economic-relief</u> .	[40]
UN (2020), Financing for Development in the Era of COVID-19 and Beyond: Menu of Options for the Consideration of Heads of State and Government Part I, United Nations (UN), <u>https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/financing_for_development_covid19_part_i_hosg.pd</u> <u>f</u> .	[47]
UN (2020), <i>Financing for Sustainable Development Report 2020</i> , Inter-agency Task Force on Financing for Development, <a href="https://developmentfinance.un.org/sites/developmentfinance.un.org/files/FSDR_2020.pdf">https://developmentfinance.un.org/sites/developmentfinance.un.org/files/FSDR_2020.pdf</a> .	[43]
UN (2020), "Implementation of the Programme of Action for the Least Developed Countries for the Decade 2011–2020 - Report of the Secretary-General", <u>http://unohrlls.org/custom-content/uploads/2020/04/English_SG-report.pdf</u> (accessed on 4 June 2020).	[6]
UN (2020), Secretary-General's briefing to the Security Council on Women, Peace and Security, United Nations (UN), <u>https://www.un.org/sg/en/content/sg/statement/2020-10-29/secretary-generals-briefing-the-security-council-women-peace-and-security-scroll-down-for-french-version</u> .	[30]
UN (2020), SHARED RESPONSIBILITY, GLOBAL SOLIDARITY: Responding to the socio- economic impacts of COVID-19, United Nations (UN), https://unsdg.un.org/sites/default/files/2020-03/SG-Report-Socio-Economic-Impact-of- Covid19.pdf.	[32]
UN (2020), <i>The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2020</i> , United Nations, <u>https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/report/2020/The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2020.pdf</u> .	[16]
UN (2015), <i>Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development</i> , United Nations, New York.	[5]
UN (2011), Programme of Action for the Least Developed Countries for the Decade 2011-2020, http://www.unohrlls.org/UserFiles/File/IPoA.pdf (accessed on 4 June 2020).	[3]
UN Info (2020), STATUS OF COVID-19 RELATED FUNDING EFFORT, https://data.uninfo.org/Home/ FundingTracker.	[33]

UN News (2020), New wave of famine could sweep the globe, overwhelming nations already weakened by years of conflict, warn UN officials, <a href="https://news.un.org/en/story/2020/09/1072712">https://news.un.org/en/story/2020/09/1072712</a> .	[31]
UN/DESA (2020), <i>Least Developed Countries (LDCs)</i> , United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, <u>https://www.un.org/development/desa/dpad/least-developed-country-category.html</u> (accessed on 2 July 2020).	[1]
UN/DESA (2020), UN/DESA Policy Brief #66: COVID-19 and the least developed countries, https://www.un.org/development/desa/dpad/publication/un-desa-policy-brief-66-covid-19-and- the-least-developed-countries/.	[12]
UN/OHRLLS (2020), <i>World's Most Vulnerable Countries Lack the Capacity to Respond to a Global Pandemic</i> , United Nations Office of the High Representative for the Least Developed Countries, Landlocked Developing Countries and Small Island Developing States, <u>https://www.un.org/ohrlls/news/world%E2%80%99s-most-vulnerable-countries-lack-capacity-respond-global-pandemic-credit-mfdelyas-alwazir</u> .	[14]
UNCDF, C. et al. (2020), <i>The State of Small Businesses in the LDCs</i> , <u>https://infogram.com/1prdz6xmyk9e79tgq299prwrr7cmv65v3xp?live</u> .	[49]
UNCTAD (2020), Statement by Mr. Mukhisa Kituyi, Secretary General, <u>https://unctad.org/osgstatement/world-bank-imf-development-committee-and-international-</u> <u>monetary-and-financial</u> .	[44]
UNCTAD (2020), <i>Trade and Development Report 2020</i> , <u>https://unctad.org/webflyer/trade-and-</u> <u>development-report-2020</u> .	[19]
UNCTAD (2020), UN calls for \$2.5 trillion coronavirus crisis package for developing countries, https://unctad.org/news/un-calls-25-trillion-coronavirus-crisis-package-developing-countries.	[42]
UNCTAD (2020), World Investment Report 2020, https://unctad.org/en/PublicationsLibrary/wir2020_en.pdf (accessed on 22 June 2020).	[20]
UNDP (2020), COVID-19 Socio-economic impact, https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/coronavirus/socio-economic-impact-of-covid- 19.html.	[34]
UNECA (2020), <i>Building Forward Together: Financing a Sustainable Recovery for the Future of</i> <i>All</i> , United Nations Economic Commission for Africa (UNECA), <u>https://www.uneca.org/sites/default/files/PublicationFiles/building_forward_together.pdf</u> .	[46]
UNICEF (2020), WHO and UNICEF warn of a decline in vaccinations during COVID-19, https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/who-and-unicef-warn-decline-vaccinations-during- covid-19.	[15]
UN-OHRLLS (2020), <i>Annual Ministerial Meeting of LDCs</i> , Office of the High Representative for the Least Developed Countries, Landlocked Developing Countries and Small Island Developing States, <u>https://www.un.org/ohrlls/events/annual-ministerial-meeting-ldcs</u> .	[18]
UN-OHRLLS (2020), <i>Ministerial Declaration of the Least Developed Countries</i> , <u>https://www.un.org/ohrlls/sites/www.un.org.ohrlls/files/ministerial_declaration_of_ldcs_2020-</u> <u>zero_draft_08092020_rev2clean.pdf</u> .	[4]

WHO (2020), WASH and COVID-19, <a href="https://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/news-events/wash-and-covid-19/en/#:~:text=Consequently%2C%20hand%20hygiene%20is%20extremely,the%20general%20burden%20of%20disease">https://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/news-events/wash-and-covid-19/en/#:~:text=Consequently%2C%20hand%20hygiene%20is%20extremely,the%20general%20burden%20of%20disease</a> .	[13]
World Bank (2020), COVID 19: Debt Service Suspension Initiative, https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/debt/brief/covid-19-debt-service-suspension-initiative.	[50]
World Bank (2020), World Bank Predicts Sharpest Decline of Remittances in Recent History, https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2020/04/22/world-bank-predicts-sharpest- decline-of-remittances-in-recent-history (accessed on 22 September 2020).	[21]
World Bank (2019), <i>World Development Indicators</i> , <u>https://databank.worldbank.org/source/world-development-indicators</u> .	[2]
World Bank and IMF (2020), <i>Debt Sustainability Analysis (DSA)</i> , https://www.worldbank.org/en/programs/debt-toolkit/dsa (accessed on 25 June 2020).	[24]

43

#### Notes

<sup>1</sup> The 47 countries classified by the United Nations as LDCs are: Afghanistan, Angola, Bangladesh, Benin, Bhutan, Burkina Faso, Burundi, Cambodia, Central African Republic, Chad, Comoros, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Djibouti, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Gambia, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Haiti, Kiribati, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Lesotho, Liberia, Madagascar, Malawi, Mali, Mauritania, Mozambique, Myanmar, Nepal, Niger, Rwanda, Sao Tome and Principe, Senegal, Sierra Leone, Solomon Islands, Somalia, South Sudan, Sudan, Timor-Leste, Togo, Tuvalu, Uganda, United Republic of Tanzania, Vanuatu, Yemen and Zambia. For more information, see <u>http://unohrlls.org/about-ldcs</u>.

 $^{2}$  ODA mostly includes grant payments and, to a lesser extent, concessional loans (with a grant element of at least 25%), with the primary objective to promote economic development and welfare in recipient countries.

<sup>3</sup> LDCs have exclusive access to international support measures, including for development co-operation. Donors made a long-standing commitment to provide the equivalent of 0.15% to 0.20% of their GNI in the form of ODA to LDCs, reiterated in the Addis Ababa Action Agenda and included in SDG target 17.2 (more information is at <a href="https://www.un.org/ldcportal/commitments-regarding-oda-to-ldcs">https://www.un.org/ldcportal/commitments-regarding-oda-to-ldcs</a>).

<sup>4</sup> The six LDCs in debt distress (overall and external debt) are Mozambique, Sao Tome and Principe, Somalia, South Sudan, the Sudan and Zimbabwe. The 16 LDCs in high risk of debt distress (overall and external debt) are Afghanistan, the Central African Republic, Chad, Djibouti, Ethiopia, the Gambia, Haiti, Kiribati, the Lao People's Democratic Republic, Liberia, Malawi, Mauritania, Sierra Leone, Togo, Tuvalu and Zambia (as of November 2020).

<sup>5</sup> As of November 2020 (World Bank, 2020<sub>[182]</sub>).

<sup>6</sup> The SDR is an international reserve asset, created by the IMF in 1969 to supplement its member countries' official reserves. So far SDR 204.2 billion (equivalent to about USD 281 billion) have been allocated to members, including SDR 182.6 billion allocated in 2009 in the wake of the global financial crisis. <u>https://www.imf.org/en/About/Factsheets/Sheets/2016/08/01/14/51/Special-Drawing-Right-SDR</u>

# **2.** The role of blended finance in the coronavirus (COVID-19) crisis response and recovery in least developed countries

Blended finance approaches could mobilise some of the significant investments needed to build more sustainable, diverse and dynamic economies and societies in least developed countries that can withstand future crises and drive Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) achievement. This chapter explores the different roles blended finance can play in the short- and medium-term responses to COVID-19, as well as against the key risks associated with least developed countries (LDCs) that are emphasised by the crisis. This chapter also outlines key priority sectors where blended finance could be strategically deployed to catalyse investments that will help to accelerate a resilient COVID-19 recovery and progress on the SDGs.

# 2.1. The role of blended finance in responding to the coronavirus (COVID-19) crisis: a phased approach

#### 2.1.1. Immediate and short-term response

Private sector mobilisation remains particularly challenging in the immediate response given the high risks in LDCs. The magnitude of the COVID-19 shock is unprecedented and there is still uncertainty about how the pandemic and response will evolve in LDCs. As a result, during this initial phase, record levels of capital outflow have been noted. The focus of international co-operation has been mainly on grant support with the aim of responding to the heath emergency and protecting the most vulnerable populations by providing safety nets. In 2018, 90% of official development assistance (ODA) to LDCs came in the form of grants, a drop from about 93% in 2015 (UN, 2020<sub>[7]</sub>). While this decline was most notable in certain economic sectors, it will be important for ODA providers to avoid further diverting important grant funding from key social sectors in LDCs. Moreover, many donor governments are falling short on their ODA commitments and should strive to achieve their targets, considering the unprecedented crisis. By design, blended finance may have more of a role in the medium- to long-term recovery. To remain on track to achieve long-term development goals, some ODA resources can be used to mobilise private sector resources to finance the COVID-19 economic recovery, using effective partnering strategies in line with the Kampala Principles (GPEDC, 2019<sub>[66]</sub>).

In the short term, the focus has been mainly on protecting broader development finance portfolios, rather than launching COVID-19 blended finance vehicles. Development finance providers have mostly focused on protecting existing investments, safeguarding their portfolios and preserving jobs. The general risk aversion of development finance institutions (DFIs) makes it particularly challenging for them to attract even more risk-averse commercial investors in LDCs and find new investable opportunities in the near term and as long as the pandemic is ongoing. At this stage, DFIs are mainly focusing on countering the liquidity shortages of their clients and restructuring loans or simplifying procedures to implement fast-track investment processes and to disburse quickly. While many DFIs appear to have acted urgently by making announcements in terms of financial commitments, it is difficult to assess whether these are related to a reallocation of existing funding to address the COVID-19 emergency, or new commitments from additional funding. Germany's development bank KfW provides a good illustration of the opportunity for DFIs to open new facilities. With investment manager Incofin and Germany's Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), KfW has launched the agri-finance liquidity facility, an emergency liquidity facility to give smallholder farmers in developing countries an opportunity to maintain their operations during and after the COVID-19 crisis (Incofin, 2020[67]). In addition, given the complex circumstances, the launch of new blended finance vehicles is likely to slow down. Furthermore, the travel restrictions in place in LDCs make it challenging to conduct due diligence processes for DFIs investors, requiring deeper local partnerships with financial institutions (THK, 2020<sub>(681</sub>), Other new initiatives include the three-year. USD 3 billion Fight COVID-19 Social Bond issued by the African Development Bank, the largest dollardenominated social bond launched in the international capital markets to date (African Development Bank, 2020[69]) and the additional funding from the International Finance Corporation (IFC) for low-income countries and LDCs through its real sector crisis response and its working capital solutions initiatives supported by concessional resources provided by the International Development Association (IDA) Private Sector Window (see the guest contribution in Section 4.2 from the IFC).

Similar to DFIs, impact investors are also prioritising the need to address their portfolio companies' solvency constraints in the short term, while also launching some new blended finance initiatives. The Response, Recovery and Resilience Investment (R3) Coalition launched in May 2020 aims to identify and fill financing gaps and quickly deploy impact capital to investment opportunities responding to the current COVID-19 crisis. The Coalition's August 2020 report highlights efforts made by impact investors to protect their current investees, including by providing liquidity infusions directly, often via working capital

or bridge financing (GIIN, 2020<sub>[70]</sub>). The short-term focus is therefore on responding to immediate needs and strengthening investee resilience through this emergency and any future crises (ibid.).

Blended finance has been used to support trade finance to ensure that market access channels remain open in the short term. The pandemic and resulting global supply chain disruptions are posing risks to African trade in the form of falling export revenues, limited access to foreign exchange liquidity and a risk of decreased supply of bank-intermediated trade finance (Nyantakyi and Drammeh, 2020<sub>[71]</sub>). As a result, it is critical to extend the capacity of local banks in LDCs to deliver trade financing by providing risk mitigation tools in challenging markets where credit lines may be constrained. For example, the global trade finance programme (GTFP) developed by the IFC offers local banks partial or full guarantees covering payment risk for trade-related transactions. Through the GTFP bank network, local financial institutions work with international banks that can broaden access to finance and reduce cash collateral requirements (IFC, 2020<sub>[72]</sub>). In response to COVID-19, up to USD 400 million of concessional IDA Private Sector Window resources have been made available to low-income countries and fragile states to ensure continued availability of trade finance.

A relatively small number of LDCs have provided relief measures for small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) to weather the crisis. Eleven LDCs report having put in place or expanded guarantee mechanisms to extend access to credit for SMEs (IMF, 2020<sub>[73]</sub>). For example, Cambodia has provided a USD 200 million credit guarantee fund. Lesotho, Mali, Niger and Senegal have also announced SME guarantee funds. New initiatives have also been taken by microfinance institutions to support the informal sector in developing countries. In April 2020, a group of fund managers (BlueOrchard, Developing World Markets, Incofin, MicroVest, Oikocredit, responsAbility, Symbiotics, Triodos and Triple Jump) issued a memorandum of understanding to co-ordinate their response to support microfinance institutions in response to the COVID-19 crisis (European Microfinance Platform, 2020<sub>[74]</sub>).

Beyond such initiatives, new ideas and proposals on harnessing blended finance approaches for the COVID-19 recovery are emerging. There are calls to create a global health security challenge fund to blend resources from national governments, global financial institutions like the World Bank, bilateral development agencies, international philanthropies and the private sector to help at-risk economies to improve their preparedness for epidemic scenarios (Convergence, 2020<sub>[75]</sub>). The United Nations-supported initiative on financing for development in the era of COVID-19 and beyond calls for increased efforts to promote private investments towards the SDGs in developing countries, including through greater support for innovative blended finance approaches in LDCs (UN, 2020<sub>[11]</sub>). In addition, the 30 financial institutions in the Global Investors for Sustainable Development Alliance (GISD), convened by the United Nations Secretary-General, has called for the establishment of a blended finance fund for the SDGs, modelled after the IFC's managed co-lending portfolio programme. The aim of this fund would be to aggregate projects that were not previously bankable to take blended finance to large scale (GISD Alliance, 2020<sub>[76]</sub>).

#### 2.1.2. Medium- to long-term response

Blended finance can play an important role in the medium- to long-term response to the pandemic, in two ways. First, it can stimulate economic recovery and, second, improve resilience for future crises, from both financial and sustainability standpoints.

**Private finance mobilisation remains central but challenging in the medium term, given the high risks in LDCs**. Even prior to the crisis, OECD data show that only 6% of the private finance mobilised by official development finance interventions in 2012–2018 went to LDCs (OECD DAC, 2020[77]). Concessional finance providers will need to think critically about how best to use their scarce resources and get the balance right between leverage and development impact (see the guest contribution in Section 4.4 from CrossBoundary on how to evaluate this choice). Blended finance practitioners will need to make a stronger case for the role of blending in building resilient and sustainable market systems to help build forward better in countries that are being left behind. To take blended finance to large scale and achieve

greater impact in LDCs post-COVID-19, wider engagement of philanthropists and new investors, along with joined approaches between grant and non-grant providers, will be needed (see the guest contribution in Section 4.5 from ThinkAhead Consulting).

**Meeting the significant sustainable investment needs in LDCs post-COVID-19 will require thinking more strategically about how blended finance can be deployed at large scale**. Overall, this could mean moving away from a focus on individual transactions towards greater use of blended finance funds and facilities. For example, the small size of individual investment projects in LDCs is one acute barrier that prevents the mobilisation of private finance. As argued in the guest contribution in Section 4.3 from Convergence, one way for blended finance to help overcome this challenge is by supporting transactions at the portfolio level (e.g. through pooled funds or facilities), as opposed to individual transactions at the project or company level. A portfolio approach helps to create larger deals, to increase diversification to reduce risks, and makes assessment and approval processes more cost-effective. This can also include a greater use of structured funds, which pool capital with different risk tolerance and return expectations, and which have proven to mobilise more commercial finance than flat funds and are more likely to reach a size of USD 100 million or more (Convergence, 2019<sub>[78]</sub>).

At the same time, greater standardisation in the blended finance field would lead to less complexity, lower transaction costs and greater transparency, which would enable more scalable approaches in response to the crisis. There is yet no standardised, ready-to-use model for a blended finance investment, and each vehicle is structured according to the specific needs of investors and local markets. This complexity prevents many mainstream investors from placing capital in blended finance vehicles (17 Asset Management, 2019<sub>[79]</sub>). In the guest contribution in Section 4.12, Global Affairs Canada stresses that for blended finance to be further scaled up, greater transparency is needed to improve the understanding of what works and where the effectiveness of blended finance mechanisms can be improved, both when it comes to financial performance and development impact. The author puts forward a set of actions that can be taken in this regard, including reaching broader agreement on standardised reporting requirements for different stakeholders. Improved transparency will be even more urgent and important in the response to the COVID-19 crisis, to ensure that blended finance truly delivers optimal sustainable outcomes. The OECD Community of Practice on Private Finance for Sustainable Development is also planning further work on transparency in order to measure impact and provide information for investors to evaluate the market.

To assist blended finance practitioners to better assess the impact of blended finance activities on the poor, the Tri Hita Karana (THK) working group on impact has developed a practical checklist, with a set of questions and screening considerations for the ex-ante assessment of the expected impact, as well as the ex-post assessment of the actual impact on the poor, in line with the Global Impact Investing Network's IRIS+ impact metrics (THK Impact Working Group, 2020[17]); (THK and IRIS, 2020[18]).

Strengthening capacity in local capital markets will be crucial to increasing the uptake of blended finance transactions in LDCs. Palladium's guest contribution in Section 4.6 discusses the lack of local ecosystems of key actors, the lack of local capital market integration and enabling policies, structures and capabilities and the resulting "market friction" as major barriers to the growth of blended finance in LDCs. The contribution argues the need for taking a blended finance market development approach in LDCs, and describes Palladium's effort to strengthen transaction advisory and business development advisory services as a key component of that ecosystem to help generate specific blended finance transactions. GuarantCo's guest contribution in Section 4.9 highlights the low level of capacity in local capital markets to assess and price the credit (repayment) risk of infrastructure projects and proposes to overcome this challenge through a three-pronged approach: (i) using donor-funded guarantees to attract local investors, (ii) providing capacity building to educate investors about how to assess the credit risk of infrastructure projects and (iii) establishing and developing local currency guarantors to support the development of local capital markets.

In the wake of the crisis, it will be critical for LDC governments to pursue relevant policy reforms aiming to improve the local investment climate. Development partners should support and co-ordinate efforts with the public sector to promote the reforms needed to create the policy and regulatory environment necessary to attract investors back to LDCs, including in specific priority sectors. Global policy-making discussions on increasing private finance flows existed before the COVID-19 crisis, but will be even more relevant given the additional challenges. For example, the G20 Compact with Africa was initiated in 2018 and aims to increase the attractiveness of private investment in African countries by improving macro, business and financing frameworks. So far, 12 African countries, seven of which are LDCs, have joined this effort. As a result, participating countries are speeding up the implementation of business environment reforms (IFC, 2019<sub>[80]</sub>).

From the consultations with blended finance experts conducted as part of this report, it emerged that pipelines of investment-ready sustainability projects in key sectors need to be developed for crisis-recovery financing. The blended finance community should be doing this now, even while the crisis is still unfolding. Developing a robust pipeline for post-crisis investments will position investors for when the recovery phase takes hold (Lee,  $2020_{[81]}$ ). Even before the COVID-19 crisis, there was wide recognition of the shortage of investment-ready projects in LDCs and the costly and time-consuming pipeline origination and project preparation (OECD/UNCDF,  $2018_{[5]}$ ); (OECD/UNCDF,  $2019_{[6]}$ ). Projects in key sectors, as identified in tools like the integrated national financing frameworks (INFFs) and nationally determined contributions under the Paris Agreement, should be prioritised (see Box 2.3 on integrating blended finance in INFFs). The United Nations global SDG investment platform, proposed by the GISD, could contribute to create the pipeline for SDG-enabling investments at large scale by filling market intelligence gaps and connecting investors to actionable investment opportunities (UNDP,  $2020_{[11]}$ ).

The lack of investment-ready project pipelines also highlights the need for enhanced investment preparation capacities within governments and development institutions. Transaction and deal support, which is underdeveloped in most LDCs, will benefit from direct private sector expertise. At the country level, investment promotion capacities and investor one-stop centres could be further strengthened to identify sustainable investments. In addition, to support smaller-scale projects in LDCs to access additional finance, the provision of early-stage risk capital can often be critical (see the guest contribution in Section 4.10 from UNCDF's LDC Investment Platform team on addressing the "missing middle" challenge). Such capital, combined with technical assistance, helps to demonstrate commercial viability and address constraints such as a lack of collateral or credit history. UNCDF manages a portfolio of such risk-tolerant catalytic loans and guarantees on its balance sheet, which aim to de-risk early-stage enterprises and projects in LDCs to enable their access to additional finance. This support for "missing middle" finance in LDCs fills a unique niche in the development finance architecture and UNCDF now aims to fully capitalise its LDC investment facility to scale up this support, in its capacity as an official international support measure for LDCs (UN, 2020[82]). As also highlighted in UNCDF's guest contribution in Section 4.8, the organisation is also establishing technical assistance facilities for two blended finance vehicles it helped establish, the BUILD Fund and the International Municipal Investment Facility, to support local partners on the ground to assess, identify and prepare investments.

#### Box 2.1. Multiplicity of risks and barriers to private investment

Risks and barriers to investment in LDCs are often compounded. The private sector finds it more difficult to invest in these countries because there are several challenges that prevent the market from functioning effectively. Very often, certain markets do not exist or there is a lack of data, information or capacity to properly identify and evaluate market opportunities. When an investment project can be designed, some risks need to be addressed to make the project investor-ready. Many of these risks,

including a lack of collateral, foreign exchange risk and country risk, are exacerbated by the ongoing COVID-19 crisis. Common risks and barriers include:

- Weak or inexperienced sponsors. Lead investors with a limited understanding of project financing, technical capacity and size to absorb financing make it difficult to design and implement a good project.
- First-mover costs. Bringing a new technology or product to a market for the first time presents entry costs that are often not compensated by the expected returns until the market fully develops.
- Lack of collateral/security. Financing costs are often not covered by existing assets, and most sponsors in LDCs do not have the financial capacity to provide guarantees. This can be compounded by risks related to the enforceability of collateral.
- **High cost of capital**. Generating attractive returns in LDCs can be challenging, due to a combination of high local interest rates and relatively short terms on most deals.
- **Depth and breadth of capital markets**. Projects in LDCs often serve local markets, and therefore earn their revenues in local currency. However, local currency is rarely available at rates and tenors that would allow for an effective matching of assets and liabilities.
- Foreign exchange risk. Projects in LDCs are exposed to potential variance in foreign exchange rates, creating the possibility of gains or losses based on currency appreciation or depreciation. Projects that receive financing in international reserve currencies, but revenues in local ones, may be particularly exposed, reducing the attractiveness of returns from these countries.
- Asymmetric information. LDC markets are often marked by incomplete or limited information, at both the macroeconomic and the project levels, which may make accurate modelling difficult. Additionally, sponsors may be unwilling to invest in such regions without a firm understanding of the local environment.
- Country risk. LDCs are often particularly susceptible to geopolitical or macroeconomic risks. Many LDC governments face a high risk of debt distress and are constrained in their ability to assume more debt. High debt levels and poor credit ratings (for those LDCs that have a credit rating) can have an impact on a country's ability to mobilise private finance.
- Weak governance and regulatory environment. SDG-focused projects are often undertaken in conjunction with governments, or depend on conditions in the regulatory environment that also enable financial and other innovations. Real or perceived doubts over the efficacy or predictability of institutions in LDCs may reduce the appetite for outside investors to engage.
- Lack of investment-ready projects with high development impact potential combined with costly origination of pipelines of such investment-ready projects.
- **High transaction costs relative to deal size**. Investment projects in LDCs are on average smaller than in more developed economies, but require the same amount of time for due diligence and so on as for larger deals. The cost of project preparation can also be higher in smaller, remote markets.

Further discussion of the typology of risks can be found in OECD DAC Blended Finance Principle 4, Detailed Guidance Note (OECD,  $2020h_{[83]}$ ). See also Chapter 3, Barriers to private capital in least developed countries, in the 2018 version of this report series (OECD/UNCDF,  $2018_{[5]}$ ).

For highly indebted countries that do not have unsustainable debt burdens, debt swaps for COVID-19 response, SDG and climate investments could be considered (UN, 2020[1]). Debt swaps would mean that debtor countries would agree with creditors to reallocate a part of the resources that have been budgeted for debt repayment to finance domestic projects that will contribute significantly to

COVID-19 recovery and SDG progress. Under such debt swaps, one option could be for governments to allocate a portion of these resources for investments through blended finance vehicles, working in collaboration with development partners and other concessional finance providers. This could enable the mobilisation of sustainable private investments at large scale for building forward better post-COVID-19. While debt swaps to date have mostly been limited to smaller projects, some recent relevant experiences include a smaller sovereign debt swap for climate adaptation and impact investments in the Seychelles (Palladium, 2019<sub>[84]</sub>) and a proposal for swapping up to USD 1 billion in Caribbean external debt for annual payments into a climate resilience fund (Horgan, Murchison and Vaughan, 2020<sub>[85]</sub>). Larger-scale debt for climate and nature swaps with a focus on sustainable investments are gaining more interest, including a proposal for such an effort to back the LDC Group's 2050 Vision for a low-carbon, climate-resilient future, launched in 2019 (LIFE-AR, 2019<sub>[86]</sub>).

To best prepare the medium-term recovery, it is critical for LDC governments as well as their financing partners to draw lessons from past crises. For example, the global financial crisis highlighted the need for DFIs and regional development banks to play a countercyclical role and have a catalytic effect to crowd in commercial finance for the recovery in the most vulnerable geographies. To illustrate this, independent evaluations of the crisis performance of the IFC and the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) offer some useful evidence (Lee, 2020<sub>[81]</sub>). Both were key actors in tackling crisis – the IFC because of its size and global scope, and the EBRD because of its private sector focus and operations in the region hardest hit by the global financial crisis, and because it was considered highly countercyclical.

In addition, the Ebola crisis demonstrated the importance for LDCs' governments to implement clear national recovery plans. One example of this can be found in Sierra Leone post-Ebola. The recovery plan clearly outlined the following three country priorities (Government of Sierra Leone, 2015<sub>[87]</sub>): (i) provide support to the agricultural sector, which may have suffered from a decline in agricultural outputs, (ii) restore tourism and attract private investment, as well as ensure the resumption of air and sea transport operations, given the restrictions on the movement of cross-border goods and services during the epidemics and (iii) recapitalise financial institutions and support them to provide affordable finance for SMEs. Such national recovery plans should serve as a basis for blended finance actors when shaping responses post-COVID-19 crisis and designing future blended finance transactions.

Expanding blended finance transactions to address liquidity and solvency by using debt and equity products will become more critical in the medium term. Equity, including early-stage equity and quasiequity, and subordinated debt, including in local currency, could prove particularly critical as we move from a liquidity crisis to a solvency crisis. However, this will involve taking greater risks in LDC markets; investors' ongoing perception of these markets as high-risk will likely still hinder the growth of private investment in the medium term. In addition, development financiers, including DFIs, will likely have some distressed assets on their balance sheets as a result of the economic impact of the pandemic. When considering future investments, financiers will require more concessionality and will likely use more capital-intensive instruments, reducing their overall ability to extend their lending.

#### 2.1.3. Managing risk will be critical to use blended finance effectively in LDCs

Managing risk will be critical for blended finance actors, especially in a period of extreme uncertainty and rapid evolution of risk (see Box 2.1). Risk mitigation instruments need to be used even more strategically in the medium term in LDCs. In such circumstances, blended finance is an effective approach to cover the risks that the private sector cannot mitigate (such as political, market or regulatory risk) and provide risk mitigation in areas where no or limited market solutions are available in this crisis context for de-risking (through e.g. insurance or guarantees). It should also be noted that guarantees are complicated instruments, especially in collaboration with the private sector, and can take several months or up to a year to set up for implementation.

DFIs are important actors in offering risk mitigation and should use their catalytic role to attract further investment in the medium term to build more resilient markets. DFIs have been at the centre of the discussions in the THK Roadmap for Blended Finance, as key actors with a clear catalytic role. In particular, taking on more risk for DFIs will mean focusing on more fragile countries and contexts, using catalytic instruments and focusing on sectors severely hit by the crisis. However, it should be noted that these institutions also face various challenges, including potential damages to their balance sheets. DFIs may also need to work with shareholders and rating agencies to accept a certain level of loss, as they direct more resources to LDCs. Box 2.2 discusses how DFIs can take on more risks (THK, 2020<sub>[68]</sub>) (see the guest contribution from Think Ahead Consulting on DFIs' role in Section 4.5).

#### Box 2.2. How development finance institutions can take on more risks

Established in Bali, Indonesia, in October 2018, the THK roadmap for blended finance is a unique platform for international dialogue on blended finance. It brings together stakeholders from all over the world, including donor agencies, DFIs, multilateral development banks, civil society organisations, philanthropic foundations, private sector stakeholders and impact investment communities.

A group of THK members has recently produced a paper recommending how DFIs and their shareholders could best speed up a sustainable and resilient recovery in developing economies and provide countercyclical finance to the most vulnerable, in response to the COVID-19 crisis.

One of the key proposals made in the paper is to ensure that DFIs undertake activities in riskier and more fragile environments, in particular in countries more severely hit by the crisis, by using a combination of financing mechanisms appropriate to each institution, such as accepting lower, risk-adjusted returns, optimising balance sheets and benefiting from enhanced guarantee mechanisms or a capital increase and, when appropriate, with the support of blended concessional finance.

As one option, shareholders could consider allocating additional risk-tolerant capital to a COVID-19 facility for micro, small and medium-sized enterprises that would help interested DFIs to manage more risk and mobilise more private finance through the use of subordinated instruments like guarantees and concessional equity. This could be done by leveraging and expanding existing facilities that have the right capabilities, and, when appropriate, with the support of blended concessional finance.

Source: (THK, 2020[68]), The Role of DFIs and their shareholders in building back better in the wake of Covid-19, https://www.convergence.finance/resource/4OxhJkcGJgBzR1v1IJvKPs/view

#### 2.2. Key areas of focus for building forward better

With the present urgency and limited resources, blended finance should be applied in support of LDCs' national priorities in sectors and areas where the largest impact can be achieved in rebuilding more equitable, resilient and sustainable LDC economies and societies that accelerate the achievement of the SDGs in the coming decade.

**Prioritisation of where to focus blended finance investments will be critical for LDC governments and their partners**. As countries define their post-COVID-19 development pathways for building forward better, they will need to balance the pursuit of economic value creation and diversification, the generation of decent jobs and inclusive growth, environmental sustainability and low-carbon development alongside good health. Building forward also means changing structures, systems and processes, to promote

inclusive and sustainable growth. Overall, blended finance should be positioned as one tool in the financing toolbox to help demonstrate projects' viability and crowd in private investments in LDC priority sectors that contribute to achieving these multiple objectives, with a focus on investments that create jobs.

#### 2.2.1. Attract investment in line with national SDG priorities

**Inclusive country ownership will remain fundamental**. Consulting and engaging with national and local governments as well as other non-state actors such as civil society and the private sector will ensure that the development projects chosen for investment are country-led and country-owned, in accordance with the Addis Ababa Action Agenda and the Kampala Principles. Development partners have yet to effectively engage national governments and incorporate a "whole-of-society" approach in their private sector engagement and blended finance efforts, according to the Global Partnership on Effective Development Cooperation<sup>1</sup> (GPEDC, 2019<sub>[66]</sub>) (see pages 44–45 of the 2019 edition of this report (OECD/UNCDF, 2019<sub>[6]</sub>) and the guest contribution in Section 4.1 on perspectives from Bangladesh on country ownership and alignment with national priorities).

To identify sectoral and other SDG priorities, blended finance providers should consult governments about priority sectors for development that could benefit from blended finance. This should include referencing and aligning with national SDG implementation plans and INNFs that have recently been developed or are under development in many LDCs (see Box 2.3 on INFFs). It should also involve reviewing any national strategies or response plans to address the COVID-19 crisis.

#### Box 2.3. Blended finance as an integral part of integrated national financing frameworks

Integrated national financing frameworks (INFFs) are country-owned tools to define financing needs and sources to achieve the SDGs. INFFs aim to link planning and financing processes and include four building blocks: (1) assessment and diagnostics, (2) financing strategy, (3) monitoring and review, (4) governance and co-ordination.

The INFFs consider the full range of financing sources and means of implementation that are available to countries, and lay out a financing strategy to raise resources, manage country-specific risks and achieve long-term sustainable development objectives. INFFs can be useful tools, as financing is often the weakest component of national plans and, in cases where financing plans are included, they mostly centre on annual government budgets without incorporating the broader financing landscape (UN, 2019<sub>[88]</sub>). The growing complexity of the development finance landscape and the mushrooming of internal and external actors and initiatives might hinder strategic approaches to managing financing flows.

If blended finance investments are properly integrated into the frameworks, the INFFs can provide means to track and manage private finance (and thus blended finance) and its contributions to the SDGs. Moreover, the UNDP's SDG impact initiative, aiming to direct private finance towards the achievement of the SDGs, can help to provide enterprises and investors the tools they need to make more targeted investments and better-informed decisions (UNDP, 2020c<sub>[89]</sub>).

LDCs such as Bangladesh and the Solomon Islands have been among the early movers towards developing the building blocks towards INFFs and considering blended finance in an integrated manner. The Government of Bangladesh formulated a national policy on development co-operation that commits to further explore blended finance as a tool "to unlock private and philanthropic capital for development" (Government of Bangladesh, 2016<sub>[90]</sub>). This was followed by a domestic SDG financing strategy, further recognising the role of the private sector to finance the SDGs in the country (Government of Bangladesh, 2017<sub>[91]</sub>). The INFF of the Solomon Islands identified blended finance as a tool to catalyse further development finance as part of the country's strategic vision and direction (Solomon Islands and UNDP, 2018<sub>[92]</sub>).

**Ensuring alignment with national climate and environmental priorities through nationally determined contributions (NDCs) under the Paris Agreement will be critical**. Ahead of the United Nations climate change conference (COP26) in late 2021, countries are in the process of developing their NDCs to put in place low-carbon green economy plans. This provides an important opportunity to look at how blended finance can mobilise investments to support the implementation of these plans.

National SDG implementation plans and strategies, such as NDCs, will in most cases need to be further translated into more specific sector and sub-sector priorities where specific investment opportunities could be pursued. One useful resource in this regard is the IFC's country private sector diagnostic, which combines economy-wide and sector-specific analysis of constraints with the aim to identify private sector investment opportunities and policy actions to unlock these (IFC, 2020<sub>[10]</sub>). As of 2020, diagnostics have been undertaken in six LDCs (Burkina Faso, Ethiopia, Myanmar, Nepal, Rwanda and Senegal). In Senegal, for example, the analysis highlighted private sector investment opportunities in agriculture, education, tourism and real estate and housing, which could unlock job creation, growth and structural transformation if a set of identified constraints are alleviated (IFC, 2020<sub>[93]</sub>). Another tool is the UNDP-led SDG investor map, which is an eight-step methodology to produce data and insights on country-level sustainable investment opportunity areas in key priority sectors and sub-sectors that would contribute to progress on the SDGs. Fourteen maps were produced in 2020 (two in the LDCs of Rwanda and Uganda), with several more planned for 2021 (UNDP, 2020<sub>[11]</sub>).

Co-ordination and strengthened collaboration will be critical, including with local actors such as national development banks. This is especially true as the crisis has limited international travel and created the need to staff up local capacity. Existing donor co-ordination groups at the country level can play an important role in gathering the main actors on the ground and rationalising and co-ordinating their efforts. Some donor groups already have their own dedicated working groups to discuss private sector engagement, including blended finance, while others review such issues in sectoral discussions. Development partners should make use of these groups where available and ensure that discussions go beyond simple updates on ongoing projects (GPEDC, 2018[94]). In addition, research from the Tony Blair Institute and CrossBoundary recommends that governments, DFIs and the private sector align approaches and synchronise efforts to scale up investment for COVID-19 economic recovery, including by coordinating on sector and sub-sector planning with governments (Cusack et al., 2020[95]). The Finance in Common Summit in November 2020 highlighted the importance of bringing together all actors in the development finance system, including those that have not always been integrated into the global development finance architecture, such as national and regional development banks. The quest contribution in Section 4.11 from the Overseas Development Institute (ODI) argues that national development banks (NDBs), present in almost two-thirds of all LDCs, have a critical but often overlooked role to play in advancing the SDGs and the climate change agenda. NDBs are well placed to help leverage sustainable private investments if three preconditions are in place: (i) NDBs are well governed with a clear green mandate and business model to support the mobilisation of private finance, (ii) NDBs are adequately resourced and (iii) NDBs receive international support, including from multilateral development banks (MDBs) and DFIs, and are provided access to international concessional climate finance. The declarations of intent made at the Finance in Common Summit (Finance in Common, 2020<sub>[96]</sub>) will need to be operationalised and monitored to realise the vision of a fully integrated development finance system and its ability to support the world's most vulnerable.

Identifying specific priority investments will also require using ex-ante evaluation criteria to ensure investments have optimal development impact, such as reaching the last mile and vulnerable populations, providing essential goods and services with large SDG-positive spillover effects, and driving job creation, regional integration, supply and value chains, and economic growth. To optimise the development impact of blended finance investments and ensure the best possible use of taxpayer resources, it is important to compare and balance the amount of "leverage" (amount of commercial finance raised by every donor dollar) and the development "additionality" that blended finance vehicles bring, as examined by CrossBoundary's guest contribution in Section 4.4 through the example of two use cases of blended finance. In addition, DFIs and MDBs should adhere to the MDBs' harmonised framework for additionality in private sector operations (IFC, 2018[97]) and employ their ex-ante evaluation tools to determine anticipated impact and inform investment decisions (see the guest contribution in Section 4.2 from the IFC on the anticipated impact measurement and monitoring (AIMM) system). UNCDF's approach to measuring results attempts to capture both financial and development additionality through a formal theory of change and an integrated results and resources matrix that sets out a series of performance indicators at both the investee and the policy or market system level (see Box 7 in the OECD Blended Finance Principle 5 Guidance Note for details (OECD, 2020[98]). The SDG impact standards for private equity funds, recently released by the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), are a useful tool for investors to systematically identify, optimise and manage sustainable development impacts (UNDP, 2020rga). The OECD is also currently developing impact standards on financing for sustainable development, in collaboration with the UNDP, a tool for donors to manage the sustainable development impacts of their investments made through private sector partners.

#### 2.2.2. Get people back to work in decent, sustainable jobs

According to the International Labour Organization (ILO), the pandemic has put nearly half of the world's 3.3 billion workforce at risk of losing their livelihoods (ILO, 2020[44]); (ILO, 2020[100]). Income

losses are expected to exceed USD 220 billion in developing countries (UNDP, 2020<sub>[101]</sub>). The share of labour income lost in low-income countries during the first three quarters of 2020 was 10.1%, close to the global average of 10.7% (ILO, 2020<sub>[44]</sub>). This loss in income translates into 19 million full-time-equivalent jobs lost in low-income countries. Particularly in LDCs, hard-hit sectors have a high proportion of workers in informal employment and workers with limited access to health services and social protection. The different types of jobs and the lack of information technology infrastructure in LDCs makes working from home impossible for most people. Among those most exposed to the immediate social impacts of COVID-19 are young people, and in particular young women, who tend to be over-represented in LDCs' sizeable informal economies, lack savings and work in the economic sectors that have been most impacted by social distancing restrictions (UN/DESA, 2020<sub>[31]</sub>). Weak social protection systems and low levels of fiscal stimulus in these countries mean that this loss in income is likely to push a higher share of households into poverty than in countries with better social protection and larger stimulus programmes (ILO, 2020<sub>[44]</sub>). The loss of livelihoods will reverberate across societies, impacting education, human rights and, in the most severe cases, basic food security and nutrition (UNDP, 2020<sub>[101]</sub>).

**Central to restarting and rebuilding LDC economies should therefore be a focus on creating, and employing people in, decent and productive jobs**. It is widely accepted that the most effective and sustainable way to achieve inclusive and sustainable development is to create jobs offering higher wages and better working conditions (UN, 2017<sub>[102]</sub>). Blended finance should be prioritised to provide needed capital in LDCs to help protect and create jobs, sustain the self-employed, and support companies' liquidity and operations, to accelerate the recovery in the future.

Enterprises and sectors with strong job creation potential should be identified and targeted by blended finance providers. For example, two-thirds of LDCs' labour force are engaged in agriculture as a main source of livelihood, and agriculture growth is two to three times more effective in reducing poverty in Africa than growth in any other sector (UNCTAD, 2018<sub>[103]</sub>). Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) in the agriculture sector are critical to linking production with markets, but due to high lending risks and lower returns in the sector, agricultural SMEs have limited access to capital. There is an estimated USD 65 billion annual financing gap for agricultural SMEs in the missing middle in sub-Saharan Africa (see the guest contribution in Section 4.10 from UNCDF's LDC investment platform team). In East Africa, for example, 65% of the population works in the agriculture sector, which accounts for 25% of GDP but receives only 5% of commercial bank lending (Aceli Africa, 2020<sub>[104]</sub>). The situation is similar in Asia-Pacific LDCs. Box 2.4 summarises the main takeaways of a case study focused on a blended finance approach for sustainable agriculture in Bhutan.

#### Box 2.4. A blended finance approach to agriculture: evidence from Bhutan

Blended finance support to create higher productivity, and more sustainable and climate-resilient agricultural value chains, could help to create jobs. The OECD and the Smallholder and Agri-SME Finance and Investment Network (SAFIN) have been researching the deployment of blended finance approaches in the agricultural sectors in developing countries, including LDCs. The following example is of a blended approach for sustainable hazelnut production in Bhutan.

In 2015, the Asian Development Bank (ADB), the Private Sector Window of the Global Agriculture and Food Security Program (GAFSP), and the IFC made an equity investment of USD 12 million in Mountain Hazelnuts, a social enterprise promoting hazelnut production by smallholders across Bhutan.

The IFC and the ADB invested USD 3 million of equity each, while existing shareholders of Mountain Hazelnuts converted USD 3 million of existing bridge loans into equity. The Private Sector Window of the GAFSP agreed to invest quasi-equity of USD 6 million, matching the total amount of the IFC's and

the ADB's investments. The use of resources from the Private Sector Window of the GAFSP in the form of cumulative redeemable preferred shares (CRPSs) was essential to mobilise the funding from the IFC and the ADB, and to close the remaining funding gap for the project's completion. Given the high-risk profile inherent in this semi-greenfield project, neither the IFC nor the ADB would have invested without substantial support from the GAFSP. CRPSs, technically an equity instrument senior to all other share classes, work like a loan with a fixed coupon and redemption timeline and no dilution to other shareholders. However, the biggest advantage they offer to the company and its shareholders is that the base internal rate of return is in the form of a dividend payment and is cumulative. This means that it does not have to be paid mandatorily by the company to GAFSP every year.

The overall expected financial returns on GAFSP Private Sector Window projects are in the single digits. However, while ensuring financial returns for investors, the projects have also delivered significant development impact results: alleviating poverty among farmers, linking them to markets, creating jobs and developing skills, increasing women's participation in the job market, restoring Bhutan's eroded landscape, mitigating greenhouse gas emissions, preserving forests and reducing or slowing down urban migration towards the capital.

This project case study presents lessons on the importance of fully understanding the challenges and detecting the issues across a complex supply chain. Thousands of farmers are scattered throughout a wide and impenetrable terrain, requiring appropriate monitoring systems and processes. The management needs to be strong, experienced and capable to quickly respond with adequate, often preemptive, measures to unexpected issues, and make such a risky project a success.

Source: This case study related to the IFC's blended finance investment in Mountain Hazelnuts was contributed by Niraj H. Shah (Principal Investment Officer, IFC, and Program Manager, GAFSP, Private Sector Window) and Philipp Farenholtz (Investment Officer, IFC). Further insights on this case study can be found in a 2020 report (SAFIN and IDB, 2020<sub>[105]</sub>).

**Digital solutions and innovations have proved particularly important in ensuring business continuity and the protection of jobs**. From virtual meetings to online orders, digital services are growing in importance, permeating an increasing number of sectors and activities. Digitally agile firms are adapting to the ongoing crisis more successfully, and others are rapidly adopting digital innovations in response to challenges to their business models (WEF, 2020<sub>[106]</sub>). Investing in digital solutions and competitiveness will therefore be key to promoting resilient economic recovery as well as both protecting jobs and creating new ones. The guest contribution in Section 4.7 from UNCDF's Financial Inclusion practice highlights how digital innovations have enabled rapid growth for a wide range of SMEs and business models in different sectors that can now leverage blended finance solutions to reach large scale.

The crisis can be an opportunity to refocus blended finance to address concerns around impact to place a stronger and more explicit focus on job creation. In the consultation with experts to inform this report, it emerged that, with the expected influx of public spending and grants to respond to the crisis, there is an opportunity to incentivise or require private sector recipients of public support to protect or create decent jobs and more broadly to incorporate and drive sustainability through their business models. The pandemic has also underscored the importance of investing in productive capacities in the LDCs (including in areas such as energy, telecommunications, infrastructure and entrepreneurship) to create jobs, enhance resilience to shocks and drive structural transformation towards more diversified economies. To ensure maximum impact, results-based blended financing instruments could also be used in certain sectors, where it could be possible, for example, to include incentives to retain workers as conditions of loans.

The following sections highlight several areas and sectors that are critical for job creation and long-term sustainable economic growth in LDCs, that could be prioritised by blended finance providers.

**SMEs are engines for growth and need to be supported to stimulate the recovery and job creation**. SMEs account for 35% of formal jobs in LDCs, and medium-sized national industries are often made up of dynamic firms with solid growth potential to generate jobs and boost value addition in national products (UNCTAD, 2018<sub>[103]</sub>). They also tend to have strong production linkages with the national economy and serve as key players in regional value chains. However, SMEs in low-income countries face significant constraints in accessing finance. On average, 22% of all SMEs globally report being fully credit-constrained, while in low-income countries the share is almost double (42%) (IFC, 2017<sub>[107]</sub>).

**SMEs based in LDCs have been severely affected by the crisis**. Preliminary findings from a survey on the state of SMEs in LDCs conducted by a consortium of organisations, including UNCDF, show that due to COVID-19, 87.9% of SMEs report that they operate on less than 75% business capacity, 34.6% have laid off staff, and 33.9% indicate that they are at risk of shutting down within three months (UNCDF et al., 2020[15]). SMEs in the textile, personal care, hospitality and energy sectors are affected worse than businesses in sectors such as financial, professional and technology services (ibid.). Women-led businesses report higher rates of lay-offs (36.9%) and risks of closure (39.5%). SMEs report the lack of access to customers and suppliers as the main challenges caused by the pandemic (ibid.). SMEs in LDCs also have a high share of direct exports, for example in the furniture-making sector, and have been impacted by the global supply chain disruptions caused by the crisis (WTO, 2020<sub>[108]</sub>). Overall, SMEs in the Asia-Pacific LDCs seem to be faring better than SMEs in sub-Saharan Africa in terms of operational capacity and anticipated revenue loss, as 51.7% of Asia-Pacific SMEs, versus only 24.6% of SMEs in Africa, report being at between 50% and 100% operational capacity (UNCDF et al., 2020<sub>[15]</sub>).

**Innovative blended finance could be part of the solution to providing the financing support needed by SMEs**. This is especially true for small and growing businesses, the so-called missing middle – for more information on the challenges of missing-middle financing, see page 17 of the 2018 report (OECD/UNCDF,  $2018_{[5]}$ ) and page 17 of the 2019 report (OECD/UNCDF,  $2019_{[6]}$ ). MDBs and DFIs as well as local banks tend not to serve this enterprise segment because of high risks (real and perceived) and high transaction costs. Providing support – through loans or guarantees, for example – to local financial institutions that onlend to local SMEs can help to ensure access to finance.

**Blended finance vehicles that target this financing gap do exist.** For example, all the following use blended finance to increase access to finance for SMEs: the BUILD Fund, managed by Bamboo Capital and supported by UNCDF (see the guest contribution in Section 4.10 from UNCDF's LDC Investment Platform team), Boost Africa – a joint initiative between the African Development Bank the European Investment Bank (EIB), and with a first loss tranche provided by the European Commission that invests in SME funds in Africa (African Development Bank, 2020<sub>[109]</sub>) – and the EIB's SME Access to Finance Initiative, which offers medium- to long-term funding and a partial portfolio guarantee (EIB, 2020<sub>[110]</sub>). Other noteworthy initiatives include Aceli Africa (Aceli Africa, 2020<sub>[104]</sub>), which offers portfolio first-loss coverage and origination to address the mismatch between the risk-return hurdle of lenders and the demand for capital among agri-SMEs, and the African Guarantee Fund, which provides financial institutions with loan portfolio guarantees and other financial products and financial incentives to secure existing portfolios of loans to SMEs (African Guarantee Fund, 2020<sub>[111]</sub>). In the wake of COVID-19, innovative blended finance solutions such as these targeting LDC-based SMEs in the missing middle should be scaled up and replicated, recognising the important roles of SMEs in creating much-needed jobs.

#### 2.2.4. Systematically support women and girls to accelerate the recovery

Women play a vital role in economic and sustainable development, but face additional challenges under the COVID-19 crisis. It is therefore critical to prioritise investments that economically empower and create jobs and livelihoods for women. Women are disproportionately more impacted by economic shocks, are at a greater risk of being laid off, and have lower access to social protections (Narayan, 2020[112]).

Women are more likely to hold less secure jobs in the informal economy, and generally earn less than men. Women are also likelier to work in the front-line health and service sectors, increasing their exposure to the virus Moreover, lessons from the Ebola epidemic suggest that the negative impacts on women's economic livelihoods are longer-lasting than those for men. In addition, the 2X Challenge and the Gender Finance Collaborative stress that the COVID-19 pandemic has and will continue to magnify pre-existing gender inequalities and vulnerabilities (2X Challenge, 2020<sub>[113]</sub>).

Blended finance can be employed to provide liquidity or working capital to financial institutions and intermediaries that incorporate a gender lens, cater to women borrowers, such as microfinance or SME lenders, concentrate on women-focused fund managers, and target sectors with high levels of female representation (2X Challenge, 2020[113]). For example, the IFC is providing pooled first-loss guarantees to support new working capital loans to SMEs in low-income countries, with special incentives for financial institutions that target women entrepreneurs (IFC, 2020[114]). In April 2020, the 2X Challenge put out a call to action to DFIs, private sector investors and other financial intermediaries to ensure that gender dynamics are incorporated into their COVID-19 crisis responses (2X Challenge, 2020[113]). The recommendations are focused on rapid crisis response - including providing direct financial and advisory support, liquidity or working capital to financial intermediaries that incorporate a gender lens, and investing in solutions to improve gender-disaggregated data. In the longer term, it will also be important to finance and prioritise vehicles, facilities and other gender-smart solutions that "increase resilience to future pandemics and other shocks from a gender equality perspective" (2X Challenge, 2020[113]). Investments must be made in areas such as childcare support and women's economic empowerment that facilitate female participation in the workforce. The Impact Investment Exchange (IIX)'s Women's Livelihood Bond, which provides a guarantee of 50% of the loan principal, has a USD 500,000 first-loss tranche, and is listed on the Singapore stock exchange. It is an innovative example of how blended finance can support womenled social enterprises to build their resilience to socio-economic shocks in Asia. It is also a model that could be scaled up or replicated (IIX, 2019[115]).

#### 2.2.5. Support health systems

Ensuring that health systems are properly resourced, in terms of both finance and supplies, is key for both the response and recovery to the pandemic and for resilience to future health crises. Blended finance can be used to help mobilise additional finance towards the dissemination of vaccines in LDCs. Using advance market commitments, "concessional funders guarantee the future purchase of a service/product not yet available, or not available in a particular market at a specific price" (Apampa, 2020[116]). This financial commitment could help to provide accelerated, affordable and large-scale vaccine availability and distribution in LDCs.

Blended finance can also play an important role in supporting health system recovery and resilience (for more on the potential of blended finance in supporting health systems, see pages 45–47 of the previous edition of this report (OECD/UNCDF, 2019[6])). In response to COVID-19, there are growing calls from LDCs to develop industries to domestically produce vital medical supplies, including test kits, medicines and personal protective equipment. In addition, health infrastructure, including adequate hospital capacity, clinics and beds, is crucial to building resilience. A blended finance mechanism could be employed to help finance the production and manufacturing of pharmaceutical products and the development of health infrastructure. For example, the Investment Fund for Health in Africa is a private equity fund focused on privately backed healthcare SMEs. The fund targets SME healthcare providers in the sectors of care provisioning (hospitals, clinics and similar care providers), healthcare products manufacturing and supplies, and wholesale and distribution in sub-Saharan Africa. The fund includes guarantees and insurance from public and philanthropic investors (IFHA, 2020[117]). The International Committee of the Red Cross programme for humanitarian impact investment uses an impact bond, where results-based financing is provided by public investors based on performance, to leverage funding from

private institutional investors to deliver comprehensive physical rehabilitation services in conflict and postconflict countries on the African continent (Convergence, 2020[118]).

However, blended finance investments in health should carefully consider existing issues in the health systems of developing countries, such as fragmentation and inequalities. The choice of financing mechanisms to deliver healthcare services should be based on their ability to ensure that they benefit citizens and address inequalities (OECD DAC,  $2020_{[119]}$ ). Blended finance models could explore how to expand and deepen social protection. For example, concessional finance could play a role in closing the gap between the low premiums that individuals can pay and the greater actuarial risks. Blended finance providers should contribute to building the evidence base, assessing the impact of blended transactions on both the expansion of health coverage (quantity) and on its affordability, accessibility and appropriateness (quality) (Eurodad,  $2019_{[120]}$ ).

Blended finance solutions could be employed to scale up e-health solutions to support LDCs and help to reach the most vulnerable populations. Private sector-developed e-health solutions, including contact tracing, telemedicine and mobile health applications, have also proved useful in supporting health systems during the pandemic. For example, LDCs have used chatbots to transmit practical information and best practices, and contact tracing applications to enable the rapid identification of new cases (UNCDF, 2020<sub>[121]</sub>). Moreover, the United Nations Technology Bank for the Least Developed Countries has launched a technology matchmaking platform to scale up the local production of essential COVID-19 technologies (Tech Access Partnership, 2020<sub>[122]</sub>). Concessional finance providers should provide incentives for the private sector to engage in these solutions to support urgent health needs and boost long-term pandemic preparedness and resiliency planning.

### 2.2.6. Target sectors that are critical for inclusive, resilient and sustainable development

In the medium to longer term, it will be important to focus blended finance investments on projects and sectors that increase the resilience of economies and societies to future crises. Examples include climate-compatible infrastructure (especially in health, and water and sanitation; see Box 2.5), clean energy, oceans-based sectors, digital finance and e-commerce solutions, and so on, including sectors that have received low volumes of blended finance to date. Recognising that not all sectors are currently able to generate sufficient financial returns for most private investors, there are nevertheless opportunities in sectors that traditionally have been overlooked. Such upfront investments are likely to be less costly than responding to and rebuilding from future disasters and shocks. Many of these sectors also hold strong potential for job creation, especially for youth, and help to drive more rapid structural transformation (Africa Growth Initiative,  $2019_{[123]}$ ). Enabling policies and targeted finance solutions for companies in these sectors would further contribute to job creation and help to build stronger, more sustainable and more resilient systems for the future.

The importance of transport and infrastructure was highlighted during months of border closures and disruptions in the delivery of essential supplies, and shortages of food stuffs, especially in landlocked LDCs. It is also important to ensure the affordability and accessibility of products and services, especially for the most vulnerable. For example, the guest contribution in Section 4.8 from UNCDF's Local Development practice points to the rapid urbanisation in many LDCs and the investment opportunities that growing and more productive cities can bring. However, capital investments are not increasing due to underdeveloped domestic capital markets and the lack of ability of most municipalities to borrow from international markets. Blended green finance could be part of the solution, and a growing number of cities' networks and DFIs are coalescing around an agenda focused on blended finance for municipal development (for more on this, see pages 47–48 in the 2019 report). A track record is also developing on blended finance schemes targeting the water and sanitation sector in LDCs – see Box 2.5 for a project-level case study on water infrastructure in Uganda.

#### Box 2.5. Blended finance in WASH: case study from Uganda

Water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) services are an essential part of protecting human health during infectious disease outbreaks, as well as enabling schools, workplaces and other public places to maintain effective hygiene protocols as they reopen (World Bank, 2020[124]). The OECD has studied blended finance in the water and sanitation sector (OECD, 2019[125]). The following case study illustrates a successful example of a blended finance project in WASH in an LDC, Uganda.

#### Challenge

Bugala Island is the largest of 84 islands that make up the Ssese archipelago in Lake Victoria, Uganda. Bugala Island was previously one of Uganda's poorest districts and had a constant shortage of potable water. The majority of the population used lake water, which is not safe for bathing and consumption. In addition, the existing pipe network in Kalangala, a town on Bugala Island, needed replacement.

#### Solution

In 2005, InfraCo Africa, a company in the Private Infrastructure Development Group (PIDG), established Kalangala Infrastructure Services (KIS) to address these issues. KIS operates as a multi-sector utility and has been responsible for the investment and maintenance of the water infrastructure for five years. KIS's investment in water infrastructure was part of a broader multi-sector initiative to improve access to water, safer transportation and more reliable, renewable (solar) electricity. The project had four infrastructure components: the development of two passenger ferries; the development of a 1.6 MW solar-thermal hybrid power generating station; investment in water infrastructure; and road upgrade. The total investment for the four projects was USD 49 million, inclusive of USD 6.3 million for project development costs.

#### **Blended finance approach**

KIS was financed with a commercial loan of USD 5 million from Nedbank as well as a combination of debt and equity from various DFIs, including the Emerging Africa Infrastructure Fund (EAIF) and a joint debt guarantee from the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) and GuarantCo. PIDG technical assistance provided an output-based aid grant of USD 5 million, used to fund the construction of the first ferry. InfraCo Africa maintains a 54% equity stake in the project. Kalangala funded its investment with an output-based aid grant from PIDG technical assistance of USD 5 million and a USD 5 million commercial loan from Nedbank, alongside DFI loans and equity funding totalling USD 22.4 million, including USD 7 million from the EAIF. The project reached financial closure in December 2012.

#### Results

KIS constructed six water treatment systems, which have a total capacity to extract over 250,000 litres of water per day, and reservoir tanks and storage facilities for 200,000 litres. Those villages now supplied with clean, safe water have seen an 80% drop in waterborne disease. As a result of safe water supply services, the population on Bugala Island has experienced a reduction in medical expenses. KIS water systems have created direct jobs through the management of the water meters and have led to increased farming activity on the island. In addition, the project will provide much-needed access to infrastructure for the Bugala residents, which will improve economic development – including access for tourism and fishing, a key industry – and quality of life. Moreover, during the life of the project, there

have been improvements in the regulatory environment, including the creation of the first private sector water authority in Uganda.

Source: (OECD, 2019[125]) Making Blended Finance Work for Water and Sanitation: Unlocking Commercial Finance for SDG 6, <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5efc8950-en">https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5efc8950-en</a>

**Clean energy is a crucial enabling sector for all economic activities and for building resilience and SDG achievement**. While energy is the sector where blended finance has mobilised the most private finance in LDCs (see Figure 3.12, Chapter 3), there is still far from enough investment going to clean and renewable energy in LDCs. Despite progress towards sustainable energy access in many LDCs, more than 60% of people in LDC populations lacked access to electricity in 2017 (UNCTAD, 2017<sub>[126]</sub>). More than 40% of LDC businesses are held back by inadequate, unreliable and unaffordable electricity. Achieving SDG 7 on universal access to energy by 2030 in LDCs would require a 350% increase in the annual rate of electrification and an estimated minimum of USD 12 billion annual investments (ibid.). At the same time, investments in green sectors and green jobs such as in renewable energy are generally more labour intensive, so investing in them can help to expand employment (UN, 2020<sub>[127]</sub>).

More blended finance funds and facilities can help fill this energy gap and catalyse larger, utility-scale, transformative investments to drive low-carbon resilient development and jobs in LDCs. One example of such a larger-scale blended finance facility is Climate Investor One (CI1), focused on financing projects in low- and lower middle-income countries in the wind, solar and hydro sectors. It focuses on 11 countries, of which five are LDCs (Burundi, Djibouti, Madagascar, Malawi and Uganda) (Green Climate Fund, 2018<sub>[128]</sub>). Following a notable investment by the Green Climate Fund along with the Netherlands, the European Union, the Nordic Development Fund and USAID, the CI1 facility closed at USD 850 million in June 2019, with some USD 620 million in commercial equity mobilised from investors in Africa, Europe and the United Kingdom. CI1 comprises three funds tailored to finance each stage in a project's lifecycle: the development fund for the development stage, including pipeline development; the construction equity fund for construction; and the refinancing fund for operations. Based on the experience of CI1, its approach will be replicated and scaled up through the establishment of a next vehicle, CI2, to address adaptation challenges focusing on water, sanitation and ocean systems (Choi and Seiger, 2020<sub>[129]</sub>).

**Investments in digital infrastructure and solutions are imperative for exiting this crisis and helping to build more resilient economies and workforces**. While mobile phone and mobile Internet usage is growing rapidly in LDCs, only 19% of the population in LDCs were online in 2019, compared with 86.6% in developed countries and 47% in developing countries. Women access the Internet at a much lower rate than men in LDCs (ITU, 2019<sub>[130]</sub>). This is due mainly to a lack of digital infrastructure and broadband connectivity, and prohibitively expensive access. This digital divide threatens to reinforce the socio-economic consequences of the pandemic. Investment in digital infrastructure and affordable connectivity is therefore one area where blended finance can play an important role. For example, as part of its strategy to grow the digital economy and public services, the Government of Rwanda is mobilising concessional investment to deploy last-mile solutions and middle-mile networks to connect over 1,700 schools to the Internet, as well as healthcare centres and public institutions that lack broadband connectivity (Giga, 2020<sub>[131]</sub>).

**Supporting the transition to inclusive digital economies in the next decade will be key to creating a new generation of jobs in LDCs.** It is estimated that up to 230 million digital jobs can be created in sub-Saharan Africa by 2030, which could generate up to USD 120 billion in revenue (IFC, 2019<sub>[132]</sub>). Blended finance can play a key role in helping to create such jobs by supporting small and growing digital entrepreneurs that provide digital solutions benefiting the most vulnerable, and the SDGs more broadly; supporting digital supply chain management in sectors where significant numbers of poor people are engaged (e.g. garment manufacturing, agriculture, health); and supporting digital solutions for businesses and value chains in real economy sectors that have been affected by the crisis and that vulnerable

populations rely on. For example, in the Pacific, UNCDF is working with mobile network operators to temporarily waive fees for domestic transactions and incoming remittances (UNCDF, 2020<sub>[121]</sub>). In Malaysia, UNCDF launched a challenge to find solutions to improve the financial health of gig workers. In Uganda, the organisation is supporting motorcycle service SafeBoda to pivot its business from ride-sharing to the home delivery of food, medicines and other goods. This will save the jobs of SafeBoda's 18 000 drivers, help them to reach at least 28 000 customers, create market access for 800 vendors and enable successful social distancing efforts in Kampala. See the guest contribution in Section 4.7 from UNCDF's Financial Inclusion practice on digital innovations, which highlights the potentially significant opportunities that digital innovations can provide in mobilising and aggregating micro-savers in LDCs to become micro-investors in local development projects through the use of innovative blended finance mechanisms.

In small island developing states, which heavily rely on oceans-based industries, blended finance efforts could focus on opportunities to scale up or replicate innovative "blue" blended finance schemes, such as blue bonds, debt-for-ocean swaps, blue carbon schemes, insurance schemes to cover oceans-related risks, or impact funds for oceans-based activities (OECD, 2020[133]) (see Box 2.6 on blended finance for blue economies).

#### Box 2.6. Investing in green and blue economies - biodiversity and ocean finance

The world is facing a rapid and unprecedented terrestrial and marine biodiversity crisis. Since 1970, 68% of all wildlife populations have been lost and by 2050 more than a million species are expected to become extinct. Eleven million hectares of primary forest were lost in 2019 alone, and half of all coral reefs, home to 30% of all marine biodiversity, have been lost over the past 30 years (Ervin, 2020<sub>[134]</sub>). Healthy ecosystems provide oxygen, clean water and food, and their losses put humanity at risk. LDCs depend on biological resources to a great extent, and ecosystem loss has significant and disproportionate impacts on LDC economies and societies.

Blended finance is growing as an approach to finance sustainable economic activities that protect biodiversity, where investor risk is seen as high, and viable and scalable business models are tested. To date, blended finance transactions have mainly focused on sustainable agriculture and sustainable forestry, and the most common approaches have been through pooled solutions (Johnston, 2019a<sub>[135]</sub>). As the world prepares for the UN Biodiversity Conference (COP 15) in China in 2021, which will result in a new set of global goals for nature over the next decade, blended finance will have an important role to play.

Examples of blended finance programmes in the biodiversity space include the following.

- The **Tropical Landscapes Finance Facility** issued the world's first sustainable land-use bond (USD 95 million) for a conservation-friendly rubber plantation in Indonesia, tapping mainstream capital markets, thanks to a guarantee issued by USAID (WEF, 2020<sub>[136]</sub>).
- The Land Degradation Neutrality Fund invests in viable private projects that support land rehabilitation and sustainable land management, including sustainable agriculture, sustainable livestock management and agro-forestry. With a USD 2 million initial grant from the Global Environment Facility to help kick-start the fund, it had mobilised some USD 150 million by October 2020.

Moreover, many LDCs, particularly small island developing states, largely rely on sustainable ocean economies, where large proportions of economic activity stem from ocean resources. Blended finance can help to mobilise additional finance towards sustainable ocean economies in developing countries (OECD, 2020<sub>[83]</sub>). Innovative blended finance instruments have been employed for the sustainable oceans economy, namely the following.

- The Global Fund for Coral Reefs is a new blended finance vehicle that will leverage grants, debt, guarantees and other financial instruments for investments in blue economy activities, such as sustainable fisheries and tourism that support coral reef conservation and resilience (Conservation Finance Alliance, 2020<sub>[138]</sub>).
- Impact funds: impact investment funds have emerged in the past five years to attract commercial finance for sustainable ocean economies, mainly focusing on marine conservation, sustainable fisheries, and marine plastic litter and/or the circular economy. The United States, for instance, has provided loan guarantees to several of these funds, including the Althelia Sustainable Ocean Fund, the Meloy Fund and Circulate Capital's Ocean Fund (OECD, 2020[83]).

#### References

17 Asset Management (2019), <i>Green bonds vs. Blended finance: A comparative look</i> , <u>https://www.17assetmanagement.com/17-am-news/2019/4/19/green-bonds-vs-blended-finance-a-comparative-look</u> .	[16]
2X Challenge (2020), 2X Challenge and Gender Finance Collaborative response to the COVID- 19 pandemic, <u>https://www.2xchallenge.org/press-news/2020/04/07/2x-challenge-and-gender-finance-collaborative-response-to-covid19-pandemic?utm_source=hootsuite&amp;utm_medium=&amp;utm_term=&amp;utm_content=&amp;utm_campaign =.</u>	[59]
Aceli Africa (2020), ACELI Africa, https://aceliafrica.org/.	[49]
Africa Growth Initiative (2019), <i>Job creation for youth in Africa</i> , <u>https://www.brookings.edu/wp-</u> content/uploads/2019/12/africa_youth-framework_1_191219.pdf.	[69]
African Development Bank (2020), <i>African Development Bank launches record breaking \$3</i> <i>billion "Fight COVID-19" Social Bond</i> , <u>https://www.afdb.org/en/news-and-events/press-</u> <u>releases/african-development-bank-launches-record-breaking-3-billion-fight-covid-19-social-</u> <u>bond-34982</u> .	[5]
African Development Bank (2020), <i>Boost Africa: Empowering Young African Entrepreneurs</i> , <u>https://www.afdb.org/en/topics-and-sectors/initiatives-partnerships/boost-africa-empowering-young-african-entrepreneurs</u> .	[55]
African Guarantee Fund (2020), African Guarantee Fund, https://africanguaranteefund.com/.	[57]
Apampa, A. (2020), What role can Blended Finance play in the response to COVID-19?, Convergence, <u>https://www.convergence.finance/news-and-</u> <u>events/news/6lhuZ1NULofZ93jpDOIAqK/view</u> .	[62]
Choi, E. and A. Seiger (2020), <i>Catalyzing Capital for the Transition toward Decarbonization:</i> <i>Blended Finance and Its Way Forward</i> , <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3627858</u> .	[75]
Conservation Finance Alliance (2020), <i>Global Fund for Coral Reefs</i> , <u>https://www.conservationfinancealliance.org/gfcr</u> .	[84]
Convergence (2020), Convergence - Blending global finance, <u>https://www.convergence.finance/</u> .	[64]
Convergence (2020), <i>The State of Blended Finance 2020</i> , <u>https://assets.ctfassets.net/4cgqlwde6qy0/s4cNXaFI5n79mevI3Y5Vw/b6f2e14870c002092c2</u> <u>ee4ec2953f958/The_State_of_Blended_Finance_2020_Final.pdf</u> .	[11]
Convergence (2019), <i>Five takeaways from the OECD's survey on blended finance funds &amp; facilities</i> , <u>https://www.convergence.finance/news-and-</u> events/news/52aNmvGQsNN1blimCHScgS/view.	[15]

Cusack, J. et al. (2020), <i>Scaling Up Investment for Covid-19 Economic Recovery and Jobs in Africa</i> , Tony Blair Institute for Global Change and CrossBoundary, <a href="https://institute.global/sites/default/files/2020-07/Tony%20Blair%20Institute%20with%20CrossBoundary%2C%20Scaling%20up%20Investment%20for%20Covid-19%20Economic%20Recovery%20and%20JObs%20in%20Africa.pdf.">https://institute.global/sites/default/files/2020-07/Tony%20Blair%20Institute%20with%20CrossBoundary%2C%20Scaling%20up%20Investment%20for%20Covid-19%20Economic%20Recovery%20and%20JObs%20in%20Africa.pdf.</a>	[38]
EIB (2020), SME ACCESS TO FINANCE INITIATIVE, https://www.eib.org/attachments/thematic/sme_access_to_finance_initiative_en.pdf.	[56]
Ervin, J. (2020), <i>Bending the Curve on Biodiversity Loss Requires Nothing Less than</i> <i>Transformational Change</i> , <u>http://www.ipsnews.net/2020/09/bending-curve-biodiversity-loss-</u> <u>requires-nothing-less-transformational-change/</u> .	[80]
Eurodad (2019), <i>Public Private Partnerships and universal healthcare in Latin America – at what cost?</i> , <u>https://eurodad.org/health-PPP</u> .	[66]
European Microfinance Platform (2020), <i>E-MFP ENDORSES INVESTOR MOU ON</i> COORDINATED COVID-19 RESPONSE, <u>http://www.e-mfp.eu/news-and-events/e-mfp-</u> endorses-investor-mou-coordinated-covid-19-response.	[10]
Finance in Common (2020), JOINT DECLARATION OF ALL PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT BANKS IN THE WORLD, <u>https://financeincommon.org/sites/default/files/2020-11/FiCS%20-</u> %20Joint%20declaration%20of%20all%20Public%20Development%20Banks.pdf.	[39]
Giga (2020), Giga Connect, Rwanda, https://gigaconnect.org/rwanda/.	[77]
GIIN (2020), THE IMPACT INVESTING MARKET IN THE COVID-19 CONTEXT: INVESTOR SUPPORT OF ENTERPRISES, Global Impact Investing Network (GIIN), https://thegiin.org/assets/The%20Impact%20Investing%20Market%20in%20the%20COVID- 19%20Context_Investor%20Support%20of%20Enterprises_webfile.pdf.	[6]
GISD Alliance (2020), <i>Renewed, Recharged and Reinforced Urgent Actions to Harmonize and Scale Sustainable Finance</i> , Global Investors for Sustainable Development (GISD) Alliance, <a href="https://www.un.org/development/desa/financing/sites/www.un.org.development.desa.financing/files/2020-08/Renewed%2C%20Recharged%20and%20Reinforced%20%28GISD%202020%29_vF.pdf">https://www.un.org/development/desa/financing/sites/www.un.org.development.desa.financing/files/2020-08/Renewed%2C%20Recharged%20and%20Reinforced%20%28GISD%202020%29_vF.pdf</a>	[13]
Government of Bangladesh (2017), <i>SDGs Financing Strategy: Bangladesh Perspective</i> , <u>http://pksf-bd.org/web/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/2SDGs-Financing-Strategy-Bangladesh-Perspective.pdf</u> (accessed on 3 July 2020).	[33]
Government of Bangladesh (2016), <i>Bangladesh: National Policy on Development Cooperation</i> , <u>https://erd.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/erd.portal.gov.bd/notices/594d272c_6917_489</u> <u>1_a62a_5d14a629c9b9/Latest%20Version_HFM_NPDC.pdf</u> (accessed on 3 July 2020).	[32]
Government of Sierra Leone (2015), NATIONAL EBOLA RECOVERY STRATEGY FOR SIERRA LEONE (2015-2017), https://ebolaresponse.un.org/sites/default/files/sierra_leone_recovery_strategy_en.pdf.	[29]
GPEDC (2019), <i>Kampala Principles on Effective Private Sector Engagement in Development</i> <i>Co-operation</i> , <u>https://www.effectivecooperation.org/system/files/2019-</u> <u>07/Kampala%20Principles%20-%20final.pdf</u> (accessed on 6 December 2019).	[2]

GPEDC (2018), Effective Private Sector Engagement through Development Co-operation - Issues Paper, <u>https://www.effectivecooperation.org/system/files/2020-06/PSE-Issue-Areas-Paper-for-Consultation.pdf</u> .	[37]
Green Climate Fund (2018), Climate Investor One, https://www.greenclimate.fund/project/fp099.	[74]
Horgan, M., D. Murchison and S. Vaughan (2020), More than ever, climate debt swaps should be the financial tool of choice, Policy Options, <u>https://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/september-2020/more-than-ever-climate-debt- swaps-should-be-the-financial-tool-of-choice/</u> .	[27]
IFC (2020), A Country Private Sector Diagnostic: Creating markets in Senegal, <u>https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/e1527ea2-910e-49f2-8f60-0d484a296688/CPSD-</u> <u>Senegal-v2.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&amp;CVID=ngN-Dig</u> .	[36]
IFC (2020), Country Private Sector Diagnostic, <u>https://www.effectivecooperation.org/system/files/2019-07/Kampala%20Principles%20-</u> <u>%20final.pdf</u> .	[35]
IFC (2020), <i>Global Trade Finance Program</i> , <u>https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/industry_ext_content/ifc_external_corporate_site/financi_al+institutions/priorities/global+trade/gtfp</u> .	[8]
IFC (2020), <i>IFC Offers Incentives for Lending to Small and Medium Enterprises and Women-Led Business</i> , <u>https://ifcextapps.ifc.org/ifcext/pressroom/ifcpressroom.nsf/vwAllDocumentsByUNID_NL/4C0_D998081A8941785258592004948B9?opendocument</u> .	[60]
IFC (2019), Digital Skills in Sub-Saharan Africa Spotlight on Ghana, https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/ed6362b3-aa34-42ac-ae9f- c739904951b1/Digital+Skills_Final_WEB_5-7-19.pdf?MOD=AJPERES.	[78]
IFC (2019), G20 Compact with Africa. Trends in FDI and Cross-Border Investments in Compact with Africa Countries, https://www.compactwithafrica.org/content/dam/Compact%20with%20Africa/events/CwA- Recent%20Trends%20in%20FDI%20and%20Announced%20CBI.pdf.	[19]
IFC (2018), <i>Multilateral Development Banks' Harmonized Framework for Additionality in Private Sector Operations</i> , AfDB, AsDB, AIIB, EBRD, EIB, IDB, IsDBG, NDB and WBG, <a href="https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/7d286672-0c03-47f7-ad41-fce55d3ef359/201809_MDBs-Harmonized-Framework-for-Additionality-in-Private-Sector-Operations.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&amp;CVID=mppa97S.">https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/7d286672-0c03-47f7-ad41-fce55d3ef359/201809_MDBs-Harmonized-Framework-for-Additionality-in-Private-Sector-Operations.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&amp;CVID=mppa97S.</a>	[40]
IFC (2017), MSME FINANCE GAP ASSESSMENT OF THE SHORTFALLS AND OPPORTUNITIES IN FINANCING MICRO, SMALL AND MEDIUM ENTERPRISES IN EMERGING MARKETS, https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/03522e90-a13d-4a02-87cd- 9ee9a297b311/121264-WP-PUBLIC- MSMEReportFINAL.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CVID=m5SwAQA.	[52]
IFHA (2020), IFHA Fund, https://www.ifhafund.com/.	[63]
IIX (2019), IIX Women's Livelihood Bond, <u>https://iixglobal.com/portfolio-item/iix-womens-livelihood-bond/</u> .	[61]

ILO (2020), ILO Monitor: COVID-19 and the world of work. Sixth edition, <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/dgreports/</u> <u>dcomm/documents/briefingnote/wcms_755910.pdf</u> .	[43]
ILO (2020), <i>ILO: As job losses escalate, nearly half of global workforce at risk of losing livelihoods</i> , <u>https://www.ilo.org/global/about-the-ilo/newsroom/news/WCMS_743036/langen/index.htm</u> .	[44]
IMF (2020), <i>Policy Tracker</i> , <u>https://www.imf.org/en/Topics/imf-and-covid19/Policy-Responses-to-</u> <u>COVID-19</u> .	[9]
Incofin (2020), Incofin launches with KfW and German Ministry BMZ an emergency liquidity facility to give smallholder farmers in developing countries breathing space, <a href="http://www.incofin.com/alf/">http://www.incofin.com/alf/</a> .	[3]
ITU (2019), <i>Measuring digital development. Facts and figures 2019</i> , <u>https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-</u> <u>D/Statistics/Documents/facts/FactsFigures2019.pdf</u> .	[76]
Johnston, J. (2019a), Scaling blended finance solutions for conservation finance, Convergence, https://www.convergence.finance/news-and-events/news/4akfHG7NMBvgX6wluH5o93/view.	[81]
Lee, N. (2020), <i>Eight Principles for the DFI Crisis Response</i> , Center for Global Development, <u>https://www.cgdev.org/sites/default/files/eight-principles-dfi-crisis-response.pdf</u> .	[20]
LIFE-AR (2019), <i>LDC 2050 Vision: Towards a Climate-Resilient Future</i> , LDC INITIATIVE FOR EFFECTIVE ADAPTATION AND RESILIENCE (LIFE-AR), <u>http://www.ldc-climate.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2017/12/LDC-Group-Vision.pdf</u> .	[28]
Narayan, N. (2020), <i>Member Spotlight with Dia Martin from DFC</i> , Convergence, <u>https://www.convergence.finance/news-and-</u> <u>events/news/3iypwUnCmLfgcuhvc12wxQ/view?utm_source=mailchimp&amp;utm_medium=email</u> <u>&amp;utm_campaign=DFC-MemberSpotlight</u> .	[58]
Nyantakyi, E. and L. Drammeh (2020), <i>COVID-19 PANDEMIC Potential Risks for Trade and Trade Finance in Africa</i> , African Development Bank, <u>https://www.afdb.org/fr/documents/africa-economic-brief-covid-19-pandemic-potential-risks-trade-and-trade-finance-africa-volume-11-issue-6</u> .	[7]
OECD (2020), OECD Blended Finance Principle 5 - Detailed Guidance Note, http://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/blended-finance- principles/principle-5/Principle_5_Guidance_Note_and_Background.pdf.	[41]
OECD (2020), Sustainable Ocean for All: Harnessing the Benefits of Sustainable Ocean Economies for Developing Countries, The Development Dimension, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/bede6513-en.	[79]
OECD (2019), <i>Making Blended Finance Work for Water and Sanitation: Unlocking Commercial Finance for SDG 6</i> , OECD Studies on Water, OECD Publishing, Paris, <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5efc8950-en">https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5efc8950-en</a> .	[71]
OECD (2020h), OECD DAC Blended Finance Principle 4 - Detailed Guidance Note, http://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/blended-finance- principles/principle-4/Principle_4_Guidance_Note_and_Background.pdf.	[25]

OECD (2020a), Sustainable Ocean for All: Harnessing the Benefits of Sustainable Ocean Economies for Developing Countries, The Development Dimension, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/bede6513-en</u> .	[83]
OECD DAC (2020), Amounts mobilised from the private sector for development, https://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/development-finance- standards/mobilisation.htm (accessed on 19 June 2020).	[14]
OECD DAC (2020), <i>Blended Flnance Principle 1 - Detailed Guidance Note</i> , <u>http://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/blended-finance-principles/principle-1/Principle_1_Guidance_Note_and_Background.pdf</u> .	[65]
OECD/UNCDF (2019), <i>Blended Finance in the Least Developed Countries 2019</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/1c142aae-en</u> .	[22]
OECD/UNCDF (2018), <i>Blended Finance in the Least Developed Countries</i> , <u>https://www.uncdf.org/article/4220/blended-finance-in-ldcs-report</u> (accessed on 17 July 2020).	[21]
Palladium (2019), <i>Blended Finance: How To Get Investors On Board</i> , <u>https://thepalladiumgroup.com/news/Blended-Finance-How-To-Get-Investors-On-Board</u> .	[26]
SAFIN and IDB (2020), <i>Blending Happiness, Hazelnuts and Finance in Bhutan</i> , https://5724c05e-8e16-4a51-a320- 65710d75ed23.filesusr.com/ugd/f6ddfc_10e12dc48b2e4972ba22625a0e22ffc7.pdf.	[50]
Solomon Islands and UNDP (2018), Solomon Islands Integrated Financing Frameworks, https://developmentfinance.un.org/INFFsupport (accessed on 3 July 2020).	[34]
Tech Access Partnership (2020), Tech Access Partnership, https://techaccesspartnership.net/.	[68]
THK (2020), <i>Tri Hita Karana Working Paper for Development Finance Institutions: The Role of DFIs and their shareholders in building back better in the wake of Covid-19</i> , <u>https://www.convergence.finance/resource/40xhJkcGJgBzR1v1IJvKPs/view</u> .	[4]
THK and IRIS (2020), <i>Alignment between THK Impact Checklist and IRIS Metrics</i> , <u>https://www.convergence.finance/resource/130rL4Lfni0rq7dIhyVwZd/view</u> (accessed on 23 June 2020).	[18]
THK Impact Working Group (2020), <i>A checklist for assessing the impact of blended finance on the poor</i> , Tri Hita Karana Roadmap for Blended Finance - Impact Working Group, <a href="https://assets.ctfassets.net/4cgqlwde6qy0/4Eh0FtdoP9LZrFYS64fLy4/b4dfdcc3fedda0377a5_d23050f4dc04b/THK_Impact_checklist_April2020_UPDATED.pdf">https://assets.ctfassets.net/4cgqlwde6qy0/4Eh0FtdoP9LZrFYS64fLy4/b4dfdcc3fedda0377a5_d23050f4dc04b/THK_Impact_checklist_April2020_UPDATED.pdf</a> (accessed on 23 June 2020).	[17]
UN (2020), COVID-19, Inequalities and Building Back Better, United Nations (UN), https://unsceb.org/sites/default/files/HLCP%20policy%20brief%20on%20COVID%2019%2C %20inequalities%20and%20building%20back%20better.pdf.	[73]
UN (2020), DEVELOPMENT COOPERATION - INTERNATIONAL SUPPORT MEASURES (ISMS) FOR LDCS, United Nations (UN), <u>https://www.un.org/ldcportal/category/development-</u> <u>cooperation-isms/</u> .	[24]

[1] UN (2020), Financing for Sustainable Development Report 2020, Inter-agency Task Force on Financing for Development, https://developmentfinance.un.org/sites/developmentfinance.un.org/files/FSDR 2020.pdf. [12] UN (2020), Initiative on Financing for Development in the Era of COVID-19 and Beyond, https://www.un.org/en/coronavirus/financing-development. [30] UN (2019), Financing for Sustainable Development Report 2019, United Nations Inter-agency Task Force on Financing for Development, https://developmentfinance.un.org/sites/developmentfinance.un.org/files/FSDR2019.pdf (accessed on 3 July 2020). [47] UN (2017), Expanding productive capacity: Lessons learned from graduating Least Developed Countries, https://www.un.org/development/desa/dpad/publication/expanding-productivecapacity-lessons-learned-from-graduating-least-developed-countries/. [46] UN/DESA (2020), UN/DESA Policy Brief #66: COVID-19 and the least developed countries, https://www.un.org/development/desa/dpad/publication/un-desa-policy-brief-66-covid-19-andthe-least-developed-countries/. [67] UNCDF (2020), UNCDF Response to COVID-19, https://www.uncdf.org/article/5452/covid-19. [53] UNCDF, C. et al. (2020), The State of Small Businesses in the LDCs, https://infogram.com/1prdz6xmyk9e79tgg299prwrr7cmv65v3xp?live. [48] UNCTAD (2018), The Least Developed Countries Report 2018, https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/ldcr2018 en.pdf. [72] UNCTAD (2017), The Least Developed Countries Report 2017, https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/ldcr2017 en.pdf. [45] UNDP (2020), COVID-19: Looming crisis in developing countries threatens to devastate economies and ramp up inequality. https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/newscentre/news/2020/COVID19 Crisis in developing countries threatens devastate economie s.html (accessed on 14 April 2020). [42] UNDP (2020), SDG Impact Standards for Private Equity Funds, https://sdgimpact.undp.org/assets/SDG-Impact-Standards-for-Private-Equity-Funds-Version 1 0.pdf. [23] UNDP (2020), SDG Investor Maps - Impact Intelligence and Facilitation Services, https://sdgimpact.undp.org/assets/SDG-Investor-Maps.pdf. [31] UNDP (2020c), SDG Impact Initiative, https://sdgimpact.undp.org/. [51] WEF (2020), How digital investment can help the COVID-19 recovery, World Economic Forum (WEF), https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/04/covid-19-digital-foreign-direct-investmenteconomic-recovery/. [82] WEF (2020), The Future of Nature and Business Policy Companion, World Economic Forum (WEF), http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF NNER II The Future of Business and Nature Policy

<u>Companion 2020.pdf</u>.

- World Bank (2020), WASH (Water, Sanitation & Hygiene) and COVID-19,
   [70]

   <a href="https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/water/brief/wash-water-sanitation-hygiene-and-covid-19#:~:text=Safely%20managed%20WASH%20services%20are,on%20community%20liveliho">https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/water/brief/wash-water-sanitation-hygiene-and-covid-19#:~:text=Safely%20managed%20WASH%20services%20are,on%20community%20liveliho
   [70]

   ods%20and%20wellbeing.&text=WASH%20services%20are,on%20community%20liveliho
   20proven%20behav.
- WTO (2020), *Helping MSMEs navigate the COVID-19 crisis*, World Trade Organization (WTO), <u>https://www.wto.org/english/tratop\_e/covid19\_e/msmes\_report\_e.pdf</u> (accessed on 22 September 2020). [54]

#### Note

<sup>1</sup> A mapping of 919 development co-operation projects involving the private sector in Bangladesh, Egypt, El Salvador and Uganda carried out by the Global Partnership for Effective Development Co-operation showed that only 13% of the projects studied listed national governments as partners, and even fewer projects listed other stakeholders (civil society, 9%; business associations, 5%).
## **3**. The state of blended finance in least developed countries (2012–2018)

This chapter depicts the latest trends in private finance mobilised by official development finance interventions, and the state of blended finance in least developed countries (LDCs). It identifies the main mobilisers of private finance in LDCs and the top recipient regions, countries and sectors. It also provides an analysis of the leveraging mechanisms used to mobilise private finance in LDCs.

## 3.1. Least developed countries continue to receive the lowest share (although increasing in volume) of private finance mobilised by official development finance interventions

The latest OECD data show that LDCs, compared with other country groupings, continue to receive the lowest share of private finance mobilised by official development finance interventions. Between 2012 and 2018, around USD 13.4 billion was mobilised in LDCs – a mere 6% of the total. This compares with over USD 84 billion (41%) in upper-middle-income countries and USD 68 billion (33%) in lower-middle-income countries (Figure 3.1 below).



#### Figure 3.1. Private finance mobilised in LDCs, compared with other country groupings (2012–2018)

Note: LDCs = least developed countries; LICs = low-income countries; LMICs = lower-middle-income countries; UMICs = upper-middle-income countries.

Source: Authors based on (OECD DAC, 2020[77]), Amounts mobilised from the private sector for development, http://www.oecd.org/development/stats/mobilisation.htm

As Figure 3.2 below shows, in 2018 private finance mobilised in LDCs doubled with respect to the previous year – from USD 1.9 billion in 2017 to USD 3.8 billion in 2018. This represents a remarkable increase with respect to earlier years, where the share of private finance mobilised for LDCs was on a slightly upward trend (2012–2015) or constant (2015–2017). However, gaps in the data series might cause a loss in precision and possible bias in the estimates of yearly changes. While the significant increase in 2018 might reflect an actual improvement, the main reason behind the increase lies in the fact that, in 2018, the International Finance Corporation (IFC) reported project-level data with details on the recipient countries/territories, which was not the case in previous years. Indeed, as pointed out in our 2019 report (OECD/UNCDF, 2019<sub>[6]</sub>), the data on the amounts mobilised by the IFC in 2016–2017 were not broken down by recipient for confidentiality reasons. This severely hinders comparability of data over the years.<sup>1</sup>



#### Figure 3.2. Amounts mobilised from the private sector in LDCs (2012–2018)

Source: Authors based on (OECD DAC, 2020[77]), Amounts mobilised from the private sector for development, <a href="http://www.oecd.org/development/stats/mobilisation.htm">http://www.oecd.org/development/stats/mobilisation.htm</a>

Analysis by Convergence, which uses its database of concessional blended finance transactions (see Annex C for Convergence's methodology), points to slightly different estimates of blended finance targeting LDCs, which is likely to be partly due to differences in definitions and in the nature of the datasets (see Box 3.1).

#### Box 3.1. Latest trends in concessional blended finance transactions in LDCs

According to the Convergence database, 161 blended concessional finance transactions have targeted one or more LDCs to date, representing around a quarter of total blended concessional finance transactions (26%) and up to USD 22 billion in total financing. Approaching half of these transactions (44%) have exclusively focused on LDCs, with another third (32%) having a primary focus on LDCs (more than half of priority countries in the case of multi-country transactions).

Figure 3.3 below shows that there has been an overall slight increase both in the aggregate number and in the aggregate volume of blended concessional finance transactions targeting LDCs. There was an increase in 2019 by about 7% in the aggregate number of transactions (151 in 2018 versus 161 in 2019) and by 4.5% in volume. The yearly increase had been more pronounced in past years.



#### Figure 3.3. Cumulative blended finance targeting LDCs

Source: Data received from Convergence (unpublished)

Blended concessional finance transactions targeting one or more LDCs (with an exclusive or partial focus) have been smaller compared with other blended concessional finance transactions, both in terms of average size (USD 140 million versus USD 250 million overall) and median size (USD 50 million versus USD 57 million overall). Consequently, blended concessional finance transactions targeting LDCs account for only 17% of the aggregate transaction volume of all blended finance transactions.

The majority of these transactions are funds (e.g. debt fund, equity fund; 41%), followed by projects (e.g. infrastructure projects, health programmes; 25%) and companies (e.g. social enterprises, alternative finance companies; 20%). Over the past decade, there has been a relative increase in projects (from 22% of blended concessional finance transactions between 2010–2014, to 31% of transactions between 2015–2019), and a relative decrease in funds (decreasing from 43% to 38%), and companies (decreasing from 22% to 9%).

Interestingly, according to Convergence data, almost half of blended finance transactions target bottomof-the-income-pyramid populations as end beneficiaries (49% of transactions between 2014–2019) across LDCs and middle-income countries (Convergence, 2020<sub>[75]</sub>).

Note: Convergence tracks country data by stated countries of focus at the time of financial close, not actual investment flows. Often, countries of eligibility are broader than those explicitly stated. See Annex C for the data methodology Source: Data kindly provided by Ayesha Bery, Associate, Convergence

## **3.2. Multilateral institutions mobilise the largest amounts of private finance in least developed countries**

As Figure 3.4 below shows, on average in 2017–2018, the largest amounts of private finance in LDCs were mobilised by multilateral providers, mainly the IFC, the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency and the International Development Association (IDA), followed by the African Development Bank, the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD) and European Union institutions. This is consistent with trends in previous years. While bilateral donors tend to mobilise smaller amounts, they are increasingly engaging in blended finance approaches in LDCs. Across bilateral providers, France ranks first in terms of average amounts mobilised over the same period, followed by the United States, Finland, United Kingdom, Netherlands and Sweden. These are the bilateral donors with the most-established blended finance programmes in LDCs, in which they engage either through their DFI (such as the United States through its new DFI, the Development Finance Corporation) or directly (such as Sweden, whose aid agency carries out most of the development co-operation portfolio, including using blended instruments like guarantees).



## Figure 3.4. Private finance mobilised across official development finance providers (average 2017–2018)

Note: ADB = Asian Development Bank; AfDB = African Development Bank; CGIF = Credit Guarantee and Investment Facility; EU = European Union; GCF = Green Climate Fund; GEF = Global Environment Facility; IBRD = International Bank for Reconstruction and Development; IDA = International Development Association; IFAD = International Fund for Agricultural Development; IFC = International Finance Corporation; MIGA = Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency; NDF = Nordic Development Fund; PIDG = Private Infrastructure Development Group Note: "Others" include Australia, Czech Republic, Ireland, Luxembourg, Slovak Republic, Slovenia and Switzerland. For the IFC, the data available were for 2018 only

Source: Authors based on (OECD DAC, 2020[77]), Amounts mobilised from the private sector for development, http://www.oecd.org/development/stats/mobilisation.htm

## **3.3. Least developed countries in Eastern and Eestern Africa receive the largest amounts of private finance mobilised**

In terms of regional allocation, on average in 2017–2018 the largest share of private finance (70%) was mobilised in sub-Saharan Africa, followed by South East Asia (18%), Southern Asia 12%) and the Caribbean (1%) (see Figure 3.5). In sub-Saharan Africa, an equal share of 34% was mobilised in Eastern Africa and Western Africa, while 2% was mobilised in Middle Africa. Very low amounts were mobilised in Oceania. However, it is important to remember that the figure shows data on LDCs and most (33) LDCs are located in Africa, followed by nine in Asia, four in Oceania and only one (Haiti) in Central America. This regional allocation reflects that of previous years and is broadly similar to the geographical allocation of ODA. As seen in Figure 3.5, while Eastern Africa has been the largest recipient subregion over the 2012–2018 period, Western Africa experienced the largest increase of private finance mobilised from 2017 to 2018, more than doubling and reaching USD 1.5 billion in 2018. Eastern Africa also saw a significant increase in 2018 (+80%), with USD 1.2 billion mobilised, as well as Southern Asia (USD 479 million) and the Caribbean (USD 39 million). By contrast, amounts mobilised in South-eastern Asia slightly decreased from 2017 to 2018 (-5%), to USD 492 million.

The data show a significant increase in the amounts received in 2018 with respect to previous years, which, again, it is mostly due to the availability of country-level data from the IFC, as well as an overall increase in the amounts mobilised by the World Bank Group, in particular the IDA, the IFC and the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA). This could be related to the IDA-IFC-MIGA Private Sector Window, which aims to catalyse private sector investment in the world's poorest countries (i.e. only those eligible for IDA funding), including fragile and conflict-affected situations (see the guest contribution in Section 4.2 from the IFC) – however, this will most likely be reflected in the data in the next years, if data are disclosed at a disaggregated level.



#### Figure 3.5. Regional allocation of private finance mobilised in LDCs (average 2017-2018)

Note: the sub regional classification reflects that of the United Nations (UN, 1999[139]). The sub regions of Melanesia, Micronesia, Southern Africa and the Middle East were not included in the figure as the amounts mobilised there were negligible compared with other sub regions.

Source: Authors based on (OECD DAC, 2020[77]), Amounts mobilised from the private sector for development, <a href="http://www.oecd.org/development/stats/mobilisation.htm">http://www.oecd.org/development/stats/mobilisation.htm</a>

To date, very limited blending has taken place in fragile contexts, with most private finance mobilised in fragile situations being geographically concentrated in Africa and, to a lesser extent, Asia. The OECD has conducted a deep-dive on blended finance in fragile contexts; its main takeaways are presented in Box 3.2.

#### Box 3.2. Can blended finance work in fragile contexts?

**Despite growing donor recognition of the imperative to address fragility**<sup>2</sup> **to leave no one behind, blended finance is often omitted in development co-operation strategies to address fragility**. Of the 47 LDCs, 18 identify themselves as fragile and have signed the New Deal for Engagement in Fragile States (International Dialogue on Peacebuilding and Statebuilding, n.d.[140]). Most OECD Development Assistant Committee (DAC) members and other donors have developed specific development cooperation strategies to guide their interventions in fragile contexts. Yet these strategies often bear no specific reference to the role of private investors. Those that do, often focus on capacity building and private sector development. Some multilateral development banks have adopted an explicit focus on mobilising additional private finance for fragile and conflict situations. Most bilateral DFIs limit their interventions to private sector development and only a minority have explicitly committed to mobilising private finance in fragile contexts.

Blending opportunities in fragile contexts are influenced by risk perceptions and income levels. On average, blended finance deals in more stable developing countries mobilised more than double the volume reported in fragile settings. This speaks to the more careful engineering required and the smaller ticket size that can be achieved in fragile contexts. Countries that reported mobilising no private finance scored significantly worse across all fragility dimensions. In general, opportunities for blended finance increase with national income. The level of domestic income will also influence the average amount of private finance mobilised and its origin. When blending in fragile LDCs, more private money is raised per deal from the domestic economy, rather than from the donor country.

There are opportunities for blending to increase with economic, environmental and political stability. On average, higher amounts of private finance were mobilised in countries described as more economically, environmentally and politically stable. Societal fragility and security did not, however, have a decisive influence on the amounts of private finance mobilised during the time analysed.

Several blending instruments are available for donors, but their relevance to addressing fragility remains extremely context-specific. The following are examples of blended finance instruments in fragile contexts.

- The Afghan Credit Guarantee Foundation (ACGF) was started by the German development co-operation with the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) and is now also supported by the World Bank. The ACGF aims to improve access to finance for micro, small and medium-sized enterprises (MSMEs) in Afghanistan by providing credit guarantees and technical assistance to banks and microfinance institutions.
- The **Central Africa SME Fund**, launched by the fund manager XSML in 2010, provides private equity, long-term debt and technical assistance to small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) in the Central African Republic and the Democratic Republic of Congo. The USD 19 million fund leverages technical assistance grants to support SMEs pre- and post-investment.
- The **Humanitarian Impact Bond** is a pooled vehicle of USD 27 million, issued by the International Committee of the Red Cross to fund physical rehabilitation centres in the Democratic Republic of Congo, Mali and Nigeria, with a results-based framework.

**Ultimately, blending efforts must rest on continued support to the enabling environment**. Blended finance in fragile contexts requires the presence of strong institutions, committed to improving the ease of doing business, attracting foreign investment and spurring domestic private sector growth.

Source: (Basile and Neunuebel, 2019[14]), Blended finance in fragile contexts, https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/f5e557b2-en

#### **3.4. Private finance was mobilised in two additional least developed countries in 2018**

Over the 2012–2018 period, 45 out of the 47 LDCs received private finance mobilised by official development finance at least once. Since our 2019 report, two additional LDCs – the Central African Republic and Lesotho – have received private finance mobilised by development finance from two bilateral providers. Figure 3.6 below shows an overview of the cumulative volume mobilised in each LDC over the 2012–2018 period. Overall, the LDCs that received the largest amounts of private finance mobilised belong to the lower-middle-income group (under the World Bank's classification), whereas most of those receiving the lowest amounts are low-income. The exceptions are small island developing states, which are lower-middle-income countries (as opposed to low-income). Over the period analysed, the top five LDCs in terms of the cumulative amount of private finance mobilised are: Bangladesh, Myanmar, Angola, Senegal and Uganda.





Note: The income-group classification refers to that of the World Bank Group.

Source: Authors based on (OECD DAC, 2020[77]), Amounts mobilised from the private sector for development, http://www.oecd.org/development/stats/mobilisation.htm

Figure 3.7 below shows the top ten recipient LDCs in 2017–2018. Among these, Uganda ranks first, with nearly USD 390 million mobilised, followed by Myanmar (USD 339 million) and Bangladesh (USD 306 million). Among Asian LDCs, Cambodia also figures among the top ten recipients. Among African LDCs, Benin, Mauritania, Togo, Zambia, Senegal and Madagascar are those with the largest volumes of private finance mobilised. The private finance mobilised as a share of GDP<sup>3</sup> varies across the top recipients, from 0.12% and 0.45% in Bangladesh and Senegal, to between 2.4% and 2.6% in countries such as Togo and Mauritania. This quite closely reflects the trends of previous years, but with some notable differences. While Angola was the largest recipient country in previous years, it ranked only 21st in 2017-2018. However, this fluctuation is likely to be the result of relatively large transactions in Angola in previous years, such as in the hydroelectric power and manufacturing sectors (MIGA, 2015[141]); (MIGA, 2016[142]). Angola is the only LDC among those that are scheduled for graduation from the LDC category (Angola, Bhutan, Sao Tome and Principe, Solomon Islands and Vanuatu<sup>4</sup>) that received significant amounts of private finance mobilised. Among those LDCs that are eligible for graduation but not yet scheduled to graduate,<sup>5</sup> Myanmar and Bangladesh have received relatively high shares of private finance over the years, followed by Nepal and Lao People's Democratic Republic, while Kiribati, Timor-Leste and Tuvalu are still among the least targeted.



Figure 3.7. Top ten least developed countries in terms of average volume of private finance mobilised

Source: Authors based on (OECD DAC, 2020[77]), Amounts mobilised from the private sector for development, <a href="http://www.oecd.org/development/stats/mobilisation.htm">http://www.oecd.org/development/stats/mobilisation.htm</a>

These trends are broadly consistent with the findings emerging from Convergence data on blended finance transactions (see Box 3.3).

#### Box 3.3. Country allocation of blended finance transactions – historical data

According to the Convergence database, the most frequently targeted countries in terms of average transaction size are Zambia, Mozambique, Senegal, Rwanda and Uganda (with Uganda and Tanzania being among the top five targeted countries across all blended finance transactions). In recent years, blended finance activity has expanded to new LDCs, including within sub-Saharan Africa (e.g. Madagascar, Malawi and Mali) and in new regions such as Southeast Asia (e.g. Cambodia). While these latter countries have not been targeted as frequently as Uganda and Tanzania, transaction count is not necessarily correlated with transaction size. For example, while Uganda received the highest number of transactions (58), its transaction sizes have on average been smaller (averaging USD 140 million) than in less frequently targeted countries, including Mozambique (USD 190 million) and Senegal (USD 180 million).



#### Figure 3.8. Top LDCs targeted in blended concessional finance transactions

While guarantees mobilised the largest share of private finance in LDCs, direct investment in companies and special purpose vehicles experienced the highest increase in 2017–2018.

As Figure 3.9 below shows, guarantees mobilised the largest amounts of private finance by official development finance interventions in LDCs, followed by direct investment in companies and special purpose vehicles (SPVs) and syndicated loans. In particular, guarantees mobilised on average 46% of the total in 2017–2018, considerably lower than in 2015–2016 (62%). Direct investment in companies and SPVs (i.e. equity investments) mobilised 24% of the total on average in 2017–2018. This represents a remarkable increase (up by 10%) with respect to previous years.<sup>6</sup> However, this is likely to be uneven across countries, as LDCs have varying levels of development of equity markets and often challenging business environments. Moreover, while the average share of private finance mobilised by syndicated

loans (11%), credit lines (7%) and shares in collective investment vehicles (CIVs) (3%) remained constant over the years, simple co-financing schemes rose from 5% in 2015–2016 to 8% in 2017–2018.





Note: CIV = collective investment vehicle; SPV = special purpose vehicle Source: Authors based on (OECD DAC, 2020[77]), Amounts mobilised from the private sector for development, http://www.oecd.org/development/stats/mobilisation.htm

Among CIVs, the OECD distinguishes two types of vehicle: funds and facilities. Box 3.4 explains the difference between a fund and a facility. The OECD conducts an annual survey to estimate the investment size, strategy and other aspects of blended finance funds and facilities (see Annex C: Methodology). According to the latest survey, blended finance CIVs invested USD 7.6 billion in LDCs (i.e. 20% of the total reported in developing countries), comprising both development and commercial finance (Figure 3.10 below). Of the USD 7.6 billion invested in LDCs, the majority of investments were made by blended vehicles with concessional finance, while only a small portion of finance (4%) was provided from commercial sources (especially through funds). Overall, more commercial finance was mobilised in structured rather than flat funds, particularly those structured as private equity, thereby confirming the benefits of a diversified strategy in attracting different investor profiles. Moreover, structured funds are generally more likely to reach a size of USD 100 million or greater, as opposed to flat funds. This could support the hypothesis that structured funds may be better suited to mobilising larger amounts of finance, while commercial finance accounted for about 10% of the total (Basile and Dutra, 2019<sub>[143]</sub>).



## Figure 3.10. Blended finance funds and facilities: assets under management by country grouping (2017)

Note: LDCs = least developed countries; LICs = low-income countries; LMICs = lower-middle-income countries; UMICs = upper-middle-income countries

Source: (Basile and Dutra, 2019[143]), Blended Finance Funds and Facilities: 2018 Survey Results, https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/806991a2-en

#### Box 3.4. What is the difference between a blended finance fund and a facility?

**Blended finance funds** are pools of capital composed of mixtures of development and commercial resources that provide financing to direct investees (e.g. projects or companies) or indirect investees (e.g. through credit lines or guarantees) that provide on-lending. In addition to mobilising commercial capital at the fund level, this type of CIV may also mobilise additional financing at the project level. Funds can be structured in two ways – either in a flat structure where risks and returns are allocated equally to all investors (all investors are pari passu) or in a layered structure where risks and returns are allocated differently across investors.

**Blended finance facilities** are earmarked allocations of public development resources (sometimes including support from philanthropies) that can invest in development projects through a range of instruments, with the purpose of mobilising additional finance (e.g. commercial) through their operations. Facilities can be set up in many different ways, with distinct terms of operations and mandates. For example, three potential types of facility may be characterised as follows: (1) managed by governments, providing concessional financing and often investing in funds (e.g. the European Commission's blending facilities and the Green Climate Fund); (2) managed by a DFI or a private asset manager, providing concessional finance (e.g. the Access to Energy Fund from the Dutch entrepreneurial development bank, FMO); and (3) managed by DFIs, on commercial terms (e.g. those by CDC).

Source: (Basile and Dutra, 2019[143]), Blended Finance Funds and Facilities: 2018 Survey Results, https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/806991a2-en

Moreover, Convergence identifies four ways in which concessional finance can be deployed by public and/or philanthropic actors to mobilise additional financing for the SDGs in developing countries (i.e.

through concessional debt or equity, guarantees or risk insurance, design/preparation grants and technical assistance funds). Box 3.5 shows that most blended concessional finance transactions in LDCs benefit from concessional finance, with the share of concessional finance decreasing over time.

#### Box 3.5. Blending archetypes in least developed countries

The vast majority of blended finance transactions targeting one or more LDCs benefit from concessional finance within their capital structure (e.g. first-loss, concessional equity). In particular, over the 2015–2019 period, about 60% of transactions deployed concessional finance. The share of concessional finance decreased over time, as it had stood at 75% in 2010–2014 (see Figure 3.11 below).

Compared with all blended concessional finance transactions, transactions targeting LDCs have been more likely to deploy technical assistance alongside investment capital (47% versus 36% of all transactions). However, this has been on a decreasing basis: while 47% of transactions deployed technical assistance from 2010–2014, this dropped to 34% from 2015–2019. This follows overarching trends in the blended finance market. Meanwhile, guarantees are becoming increasingly popular as blending instruments for transactions targeting LDCs, rising from 25% of transactions to 43% over the same period. This is partly due to the increasing proportion of projects in these markets. Guarantee or risk insurance transactions are also associated with a larger average size (USD 209 million), compared with other instruments. Blended transactions with concessional finance have the lowest average size, at USD 111 million.



#### Figure 3.11. Blending archetypes in LDCs

## **3.5. Most private finance mobilised in least developed countries is concentrated in the energy, banking and financial services sectors**

As Figure 3.12 below shows, the top three recipient sectors of private finance mobilised in LDCs are energy (USD 796 million on average in 2017–2018), banking, financial services and industry (USD 672 million), and mining and construction (USD 337 million). Altogether, they account for over 63% of the total volume mobilised on average in 2017–2018. In these sectors, it is relatively easier to identify revenue-generating projects that would attract private investors. They are followed by sectors such as transport and storage, agriculture, forestry and fishing, and communications, together accounting for 24% of the total. In contrast, sectors such as health, water and sanitation, education, and other social sectors remain among the least targeted sectors. The data are also in line with findings of overall private sector engagement in projects funded by ODA, including modalities beyond blended finance.<sup>7</sup>



#### Figure 3.12. Private finance mobilised in LDCs by sector (average 2017–2018)

Source: Authors based on (OECD DAC, 2020[77]), Amounts mobilised from the private sector for development, http://www.oecd.org/development/stats/mobilisation.htm

However, as Figure 3.13 displays, the sectoral allocation of private finance mobilised in LDCs shows significant changes from year to year. This reflects the fluctuating nature of private finance more generally. In 2018, lower shares of private finance were mobilised in the energy, banking and financial services sectors, as well as in communications,<sup>8</sup> compared with 2017. In 2018 compared with 2017, a slightly higher proportion of private finance was mobilised in sectors such as industry, mining and construction, and transport and storage instead, as well as agriculture, government and civil society, health, and general environmental protection.

Agriculture, one of the key sectors in many LDCs' economies, employs large shares of the populations and is thus crucial for poverty eradication. Blended finance holds significant potential to mobilise resources into agricultural finance ecosystems, including in LDCs. The OECD, together with the Smallholder and Agri-SME Finance and Investment Network (SAFIN), has conducted a deep-dive on mobilising private finance for agri-SMEs through blending. Box 2.4 provides insights on a case study of a blended finance project in Bhutan focused on agriculture.

Moreover, while water and sanitation is still one of the least targeted sectors in blended finance, and investments in this sector's management have historically been financed by the public sector, OECD evidence shows that blended finance can play a critical role in mobilising commercial finance as well as strengthening the financing systems on which water-related investments rely (OECD, 2019<sub>[125]</sub>). Box 2.5 presents a case study on a water-related project financed through a blended finance approach in Uganda.



#### Figure 3.13. Private finance mobilised in LDCs by sector: 2017 versus 2018

Source: Authors based on (OECD DAC, 2020[77]), Amounts mobilised from the private sector for development, http://www.oecd.org/development/stats/mobilisation.htm

#### References

Basile, I. and J. Dutra (2019), "Blended Finance Funds and Facilities: 2018 Survey Results", OECD Development Co-operation Working Papers, No. 59, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/806991a2-en</u> .	[9]
Basile, I. and C. Neunuebel (2019), "Blended finance in fragile contexts: Opportunities and risks", OECD Development Co-operation Working Papers, No. 62, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/f5e557b2-en</u> .	[6]
Convergence (2020), <i>The State of Blended Finance 2020</i> , https://assets.ctfassets.net/4cgqlwde6qy0/s4cNXaFI5n79mevI3Y5Vw/b6f2e14870c002092c2 ee4ec2953f958/The State of Blended Finance 2020 Final.pdf.	[3]
GPEDC (2018), Effective Private Sector Engagement through Development Co-operation - Issues Paper, <u>https://www.effectivecooperation.org/system/files/2020-06/PSE-Issue-Areas-Paper-for-Consultation.pdf</u> .	[12]

| 87

International Dialogue on Peacebuilding and Statebuilding (n.d.), <i>A New Deal for Engagement in Fragile States</i> , <u>https://www.pbsbdialogue.org/media/filer_public/07/69/07692de0-3557-494e-918e-18df00e9ef73/the_new_deal.pdf</u> (accessed on 2 December 2020).	[5]
MIGA (2016), Cambambe Hydroelectric Project-Phase II, https://www.miga.org/project/cambambe-hydroelectric-project-phase-ii.	[8]
MIGA (2015), <i>MIGA Supports Manufacturing Investment in Angola</i> , <u>https://www.miga.org/press-</u> <u>release/miga-supports-manufacturing-investment-angola</u> .	[7]
OECD (2020), <i>States of Fragility 2020</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/ba7c22e7-en</u> .	[13]
OECD (2019), <i>Making Blended Finance Work for Water and Sanitation: Unlocking Commercial Finance for SDG</i> 6, OECD Studies on Water, OECD Publishing, Paris, <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5efc8950-en">https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5efc8950-en</a> .	[10]
OECD DAC (2020), Amounts mobilised from the private sector for development, https://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/development-finance- standards/mobilisation.htm (accessed on 19 June 2020).	[1]
OECD/UNCDF (2019), <i>Blended Finance in the Least Developed Countries 2019</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/1c142aae-en</u> .	[2]
UN (2018), <i>Committee for Development Policy Report on the twentieth session (12–16 March 2018)</i> , United Nations (UN), <u>https://undocs.org/en/E/2018/33</u> .	[14]
UN (1999), <i>Methodology - Standard country or area codes for statistical use (M49)</i> , <u>https://unstats.un.org/unsd/methodology/m49/</u> .	[4]
World Bank (2019), <i>World Development Indicators</i> , <u>https://databank.worldbank.org/source/world-development-indicators</u> .	[11]

#### Notes

<sup>1</sup> For 2012–2014, the IFC could provide data only on its commercial-terms mobilisation, including both private and official co-financiers. These data could therefore not be used for this analysis either.

<sup>2</sup> The OECD characterises fragility as the combination of exposure to risk and insufficient coping capacity of the state, systems and/or communities to manage, absorb or mitigate risks. Fragility can lead to negative outcomes, including violence, poverty, inequality, displacement, and environmental and political degradation (OECD, 2020<sub>[180]</sub>).

<sup>3</sup> This is the share of private finance mobilised on average in 2017–2018 against the average GDP in the same period. GDP data are from the World Bank World Development Indicators (World Bank, 2019<sub>[23]</sub>).

<sup>4</sup> See the timeline of the countries due to graduate from the LDC category here: <u>https://www.un.org/development/desa/dpad/least-developed-country-category/ldc-graduation.html</u>

<sup>5</sup> According to the 2018 report of the Committee for Development Policy of the United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UN, 2018<sub>[172]</sub>).

<sup>6</sup> This is also likely to be partially due to the improvement of the methodology and guidance for data reporting in 2019.

<sup>7</sup> A mapping of 919 private sector engagement projects in Bangladesh, Egypt, El Salvador and Uganda has found that the overwhelming majority of ODA-funded projects involving the private sector, included blended finance, occur in economic sectors, including banking and financial services (GPEDC, 2018[94]).

<sup>8</sup> The communications sector includes sub-sectors such as ICT, radio, television and print media, telecommunications and communications policy and administrative management.

# **4.** Blended finance in least developed countries in practice: guest contributions

This chapter presents a curated series of contributions provided by guest authors from a wide range of organisations: least developed country (LDC) partners, donors, multilateral development banks, private asset managers and investors, international organisations, consultancy companies and research centres. They focus on various topics related to blended finance in LDCs, namely country ownership, transparency, additionality and scalability, as well as specific thematic areas, such as digitalisation, urbanisation, local capital market development, "missing middle" challenges and national development banks.

## 4.1. Ensuring country ownership in blended finance: a perspective from Bangladesh

#### By Saber Hossain Chowdhury

Saber Hossain Chowdhury is Honorary President of the Inter-Parliamentary Union and Member of the Bangladeshi Parliament, representing Dhaka-9 constituency. He is a member of the Business Leaders Caucus of the Global Partnership for Effective Development Co-operation (GPEDC) and supported the development of the Kampala Principles on Effective Private Sector Engagement in Development Co-operation.

**Bangladesh performed commendably in achieving the Millennium Development Goals and as an "early starter" country to implement the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.** Bangladesh prioritised the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and integrated them into its seventh Five Year National Development Plan (2016–2020). Accordingly, this plan was aligned and harmonised with 14 SDGs and partially with three of them.

The SDGs have been embraced and mainstreamed in Bangladesh through an inter-ministerial committee to co-ordinate and facilitate the overall implementation and monitoring of the SDGs under the leadership of the Prime Minister's Office. Based on a comprehensive mapping of the SDGs, each ministry has been assigned targets that are being regularly monitored.

As the focus of the government's efforts is now firmly on SDG implementation, blended finance offers Bangladesh a strategic opportunity to mobilise additional resources by bridging the considerable SDG funding gap at a time when the availability of concessional financing for development is under threat. The SDG Financing Strategy formulated by the Government of Bangladesh stipulates that about 42% of total finance for attaining the SDGs will have to come from the private sector and another 6% will need to be covered by public-private partnerships (Government of Bangladesh,  $2017_{[91]}$ ).<sup>1</sup> Accordingly, the government attaches great importance to inclusive partnerships with the private sector as well as with development partners.

To ensure the sustainability of blended finance in Bangladesh, the terms of such finance should be calibrated and considered in a manner that minimises debt management challenges and debt servicing obligations, while at the same time ensuring that local financial markets are not undermined and market distortions are avoided (GPEDC, 2018[144]). A series of effectiveness considerations around private sector engagement, in particular blended finance, have been noted over the course of the past few years, and also informed the Kampala Principles of the Global Partnership for Effective Development Cooperation (see Figure 4.1 below).

	PRINCIPLE 1	INCLUSIVE COUNTRY OWNERSHIP Strengthening co-ordination, alignment and capacity building at the country level
Ć	PRINCIPLE 2	<b>RESULTS AND TARGETED IMPACT</b> Realising sustainable development outcomes through mutual benefits
2251	PRINCIPLE 3	<b>INCLUSIVE PARTNERSHIP</b> Fostering trust through inclusive dialogue and consultation
	PRINCIPLE 4	TRANSPARENCY AND ACCOUNTABILITY Measuring and disseminating sustainable development results for learning and scaling up of successes
	PRINCIPLE 5	<b>LEAVE NO ONE BEHIND</b> Recognising, sharing and mitigating risks for all partners

#### Figure 4.1. Kampala Principles of the Global Partnership for Effective Development Co-operation

Source: (GPEDC, 2019[66]), Kampala Principles on Effective Private Sector Engagement in Development Co-operation, https://www.effectivecooperation.org/system/files/2019-07/Kampala%20Principles%20-%20final.pdf

#### 4.1.1. Lack of country ownership

Blended finance is applied globally but there is no one size that fits all. Each investment has to take into account the local context and be tailored accordingly. However, to operationalise concept notes into successful ventures, there needs to be a clear understanding of the benefits of such investments and, just as importantly, the capacity to implement them.

Despite the identification of national priorities and the existence of an ambitious strategy, the Bangladesh experience demonstrates that there is greater scope for government participation.<sup>2</sup> Bangladesh could also improve its own capacity to implement the national strategy by increasing the array and combination of enabling policies and frameworks to ensure better co-ordination and delivery.

#### 4.1.2. Targeting blended finance to MSMEs and leaving no one behind

Enterprises that ensure optimum national welfare, including the creation of decent jobs alongside sustainable business practices, should be prioritised as they are severely constrained in terms of access to finance. Micro, small and medium-sized enterprises (MSMEs) account for 25% of Bangladesh's GDP, employing over 80% of the workforce (Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics, 2017<sub>[145]</sub>). Such MSMEs also have a catalytic role in the setting up of larger enterprises in the medium term.

Accordingly, MSMEs are important beneficiaries of development co-operation and receive support in the form of access to finance, capacity development, value chain development and efforts to improve environmental, social and governance standards (GPEDC, 2018<sub>[144]</sub>). They do, however, require additional support to engage in business associations and take up opportunities for public-private dialogue.

**Development partners should consider different approaches to support the engagement of MSMEs in blended finance**, not only as beneficiaries, but also as partners in the design of projects. The use of local currency and investment in capacity building with local financial institutions can help to unlock some

much-needed finance for MSMEs. Moreover, projects in which MSMEs are the final beneficiaries should be developed in close consultation with the organisations or associations representing them.

#### 4.1.3. Mobilising blended finance in priority sectors: a case in point

It is noticeable that despite the opportunities and scope for investment in social infrastructure, blended finance projects in Bangladesh have been largely occurring in economic sectors. Blended finance can be leveraged to attract investment in areas and sectors critical for attainment of SDGs.

**Given the impact of COVID-19, there is the added imperative of engaging, incentivising and mobilising the private sector at a larger scale.** In accordance with the "test, test, test" advice of the World Health Organization, and following the successful strategies of test, trace and treat from countries that have effectively responded to the global pandemic (such as Korea), Bangladesh set up a multipurpose testing and triage booth (the first of its kind) for COVID-19 at the Mugda Hospital and Medical College, Dhaka. This novel initiative, as an immediate response to the global pandemic, was implemented by Digital Healthcare Solutions, a private healthcare provider, in collaboration with the Institute for Developing Science and Health Initiatives, a private foundation. The project was co-funded by UK Aid and implemented under the stewardship of the Ministry of Health and Family Welfare. Digital Healthcare Solutions and the ministry have contributed to the initiative both financially and in kind, including by providing the physical space, supervising and co-ordinating day-to-day activities and mobilising the local community. After successfully conducting over 8,000 tests and proving the concept, the venture has been handed over to the government. This collaboration has been an excellent and defining instance of all aspects of the Kampala Principles in action – country ownership, inclusive partnership, targeted impact, transparency and accountability with an overall focus on benefiting the most vulnerable and those furthest behind.

This project, and the experience in Bangladesh, has shown that a harder look at the effectiveness of implementing blended finance projects (through the Kampala Principles) and mobilising additional private finance (through the Blended Finance Principles of the OECD Development Assistant Committee, DAC) will be critical to ensure blended finance can deliver better on the SDGs and for those furthest behind first.

#### 4.2. The IFC's blended concessional finance for the most challenging markets

#### By Luigi Lannutti and Kruskaia Sierra-Escalante

Kruskaia Sierra-Escalante is the Senior Manager of the Blended Finance Department of the International Finance Corporation (IFC), managing blended concessional finance in the IFC across sectors and themes, including the International Development Association (IDA)'s Private Sector Window blended finance facility.

Luigi Lannutti is a Blended Finance Officer at the IFC, where he focuses on the enhancement of the strategic use of blended concessional finance in highly impactful transactions in risky and complex markets.

The IFC, a member of the World Bank Group, has committed to significantly growing its annual investments in the world's poorest and most fragile countries. In 2017, the IDA created the IDA Private Sector Window, a blended concessional finance<sup>3</sup> facility to help the World Bank Group to deliver more sustainable private sector investment in the world's poorest countries (OECD/UNCDF, 2019<sub>[6]</sub>).

#### 4.2.1. A shift in IFC's blended finance activities

The introduction of IFC's new commitments – the IDA Private Sector Window and other blended finance facilities that focus on low-income countries, LDCs and fragile and conflict-affected situations (e.g. the Finland-IFC Blended Finance for Climate Facility, the Canada-IFC Renewable Energy for Africa Program) – has influenced the trajectory of the IFC's blended finance activities. As shown in Figure 4.2 below, the growth of the blended finance portfolio in the past four years has been faster in the most challenging markets, including low-income countries, LDCs and fragile and conflict-affected situations.<sup>4</sup> For example, the IFC's cumulative blended concessional finance co-investment commitments in LDCs stood at around USD 540 million at the end of the 2020 fiscal year (excluding regional programmes), 60% of which has materialised in the past three years, since the inception of IDA Private Sector Window in 2017, with the remaining 40% having materialised in fiscal years of 2010–2017.



Figure 4.2. Growth of the IFC's blended finance cumulative commitment since the inception of the IDA's Private Sector Window

Note: Low-income, lower-middle income and upper-middle income countries follow the World Bank classification, fragile and conflict-affected situations follow IFC classification and LDCs follow United Nations classification

Note: This figure excludes world or regional programmes with no ex-ante attribution to specific countries. Such programmes include pooled first loss guarantees to support MSMEs across IDA Private Sector Window geographies, which are mostly low-income and lower-middle-income countries, and fragile and conflict-affected situations and LDCs. The inclusion of those programmes would show faster growth, in particular in fragile and conflict-affected situations and lower-middle-income countries. Source: Authors

The IFC's strategic focus and the availability of resources to support clients in the poorest countries have marked a more general shift in culture, which in turn is allowing the IFC to build new pipelines in the most challenging markets. Through these changes, the IFC is taking a more systematic approach to assessing the risks in low-income countries (LICs) and LDCs and designing targeted blended finance solutions.

#### 4.2.2. Blended finance solutions in LICs and LDCs

A review of the IFC's blended finance investments reveals that some solutions are most effective at overcoming specific challenges and risks, especially in LICs and LDCs. While for projects in middle-income countries, limited concessionality may be enough, through either pricing or subordination, to make an innovative project happen and mobilise other financiers, in LICs and LDCs there is a need for more pronounced blending (higher concessionality,<sup>5</sup> multiple instruments, local currency solutions, etc.) to tackle overlapping layers of risk (weak or inexperienced sponsors, higher costs, lack of security, depth and breadth of capital markets). Solutions for investing in LICs and LDCs include the following.

- **Guarantees de-risk an investment by improving its credit profile.** For example, when operating through financial intermediaries, first-loss guarantees help to improve the credit profile of the financial intermediaries' underlying portfolios; the de-risked underlying portfolios can thus be expanded to underserved populations perceived to present a higher risk.
- Subordinated financing can help to bridge a financing gap for a project where there is not enough certainty of cash flows for senior lenders during the initial revenue ramp-up period, or in the case of limited available assets to offer as collateral.
- Concessional local currency solutions allow the extension of long-term local currency loans to offset asset-liability mismatches at terms that are viable for the project to proceed and/or for the end users to actually use the products or services (e.g., loans at tenors and terms that are viable for SMEs).
- Investments in LICs and LDCs can require instruments that present higher concessionality levels. For example, the IFC has observed that guarantees and local currency solutions often embed a grant element that is higher than that of other products.<sup>6</sup>
- Multilayer approaches should be designed when several risks need to be tackled at the same time. For example, the risk due to unavailability of collateral is a participation constraint that in an LDC often coexists with a lack of affordable long-term local currency.
- Less leverage of blended finance instruments is expected in LICs and LDCs, because it is harder to mobilise commercial investors. The overall leverage of the IFC's blended finance facilities of USD 1 of concessional funds to USD 8 of total project cost drops to a 1-in-4 ratio for projects in LICs and LDCs.
- The use of blended finance in tandem with public reforms and capacity building is a must in new and/or underdeveloped markets. For example, it is important to accompany local currency loans with solutions that support the development of the local capital markets, to sustain the commercial viability of future investments; in this context, the IFC strives to use local currency loans in combination with local currency bonds as part of a holistic capital market transformation process. Technical assistance programmes are equally important.

Regardless of where and how blending is implemented, it is imperative to have rigorous governance,<sup>7</sup> clear principles<sup>8</sup> and disclosure practices<sup>9</sup> for an efficient, effective and transparent use of blended concessional finance.

#### 4.2.3. Development impact and COVID-19 solutions

The use of blended finance requires a strong development rationale. The IFC's Anticipated Impact Measurement and Monitoring (AIMM) system enables the IFC to estimate the expected development impact of its investments. The AIMM system also allows the IFC to examine a project's systemic effects on the overall market. This is particularly important when using blended finance in LICs and LDCs, where the objective is to create a new market by using concessional finance only temporarily to help to introduce fully commercial finance over time.

The scores on the AIMM system for projects supported by blended finance are on average higher than for projects that do not use blended finance, and this is even clearer when looking at projects supported by blended finance in the most challenging markets eligible for IDA Private Sector Window resources. First movers' transactions in LIC and LDC markets have a stronger potential for market creation (often through demonstration effects), although their probability of success may be lower due to the local market challenges.

**Market failures and risks in LICs and LDCs may be exacerbated by the COVID-19 crisis.** Risk perception is heightened in these countries where governments may have lower capacity to respond. Blended finance is a critical instrument for the IFC's response. Up to USD 400 million of IDA Private Sector

Window resources are supporting the expansion of the IFC's global trade finance programme (GTFP) in IDA Private Sector Window countries<sup>10</sup> to fill a trade-financing gap that is now widening because of COVID-19. An additional USD 80 million of IDA Private Sector Window resources have been made available to provide de-risking solutions to the IFC's real sector crisis response, which works with IFC's clients in industries vulnerable to the pandemic, including infrastructure, manufacturing, agriculture and services. Up to an additional USD 216.1 million of IDA Private Sector Window resources support the IFC's Working Capital Solutions facility to expand working capital loans in IDA Private Sector Window countries by de-risking these loans through a first loss guarantee. Other blended finance solutions<sup>11</sup> have been designed along with the IDA Private Sector Window to support on-lending from Working Capital Solutions to women-owned and women-led enterprises. In recent years, blended finance has been used to help open new markets and extend development impact; in this period of extreme uncertainty, blended finance can help the IFC to support its clients' continued economic activity, ensuring that the progress to date is not erased and that these businesses will emerge in good standing on the other side of the crisis.

## 4.3. An efficient and scalable approach for blended finance, focused on least developed countries

#### By Aakif Merchant

Aakif Merchant is the Manager of Training and Engagement at Convergence Blended Finance, where he supports investors to execute blended finance transactions that increase private sector investment in emerging markets.

As we enter the decade of action to realise the SDGs, the United Nations Secretary-General António Guterres declared that LDCs will face the gravest battle to achieve sustainable development, in large part due to the annual SDG funding gap across LDCs, which is USD 400 billion, according to the United Nations Sustainable Development Solutions Network (SDSN, 2019[146]).

This staggering figure shrinks in significance in the global context; it amounts to 0.5% of global GDP, 2% of global annual savings and 0.2% of global capital markets. The only way to unlock more existing finance to advance the SDGs in LDCs is to mobilise private finance in greater volume.

The adoption of the Addis Abba Action Agenda in 2015 encouraged the global development community to explore additional ways to draw expertise and resources from the private sector in order to increase investment in projects targeting SDGs, to supplement official development assistance (ODA). In doing so, numerous barriers were identified that are preventing capital flows into frontier and emerging markets, including high perceived and real risks, and poor returns that are not commensurate the risks.

An efficient and scalable approach to overcome some of these challenges exists, and that is blended finance. Blended finance, a structuring approach, can bring risk-adjusted returns in line with private investors' requirements, by shifting risks and/or managing returns. As referenced in this report, and confirmed by data from Convergence's historical deals database, only a small percentage of blended finance flows reaches LDCs. As blended finance enters the mainstream, we need to ask ourselves how this approach can be further leveraged to mobilise much-needed resources for the LDCs.

Private investors face several challenges when investing in LDCs, but one is particularly acute – individual investment opportunities that are often too small for the private sector.

Blended finance can support transactions at one of two levels: the project/company level or the portfolio level (e.g. pooled fund or facility). To get around the barrier cited above, within LDCs, portfolio

approaches can be more effective in mobilising private investment at large scale, for the following reasons.

- Increase the ticket/deal size. Private investors often look for large investment sizes (e.g. USD 10– 15 million) but few projects or companies in LDCs have sufficient stand-alone scale to warrant a sizeable investment. Aggregating multiple projects (e.g. through a portfolio or syndication approach) can therefore achieve the required critical mass.
- Merit the long approval cycles and high appraisal costs. ODA providers such as development
  agencies have long project approval cycles, regardless of project size. Additionally, investors often
  find one-off deals to be too costly to appraise. Investors thus believe it is worth undergoing the long
  approval cycle and high appraisal costs for large deals, which, for SDG-targeted development
  projects in LDCs, can be achieved only on a portfolio basis.
- Create diversification to reduce risk-return variance. Diversification across projects reduces risk-return variance for investors. The big three ratings agencies follow a methodology that allows for a two-notch upgrade for diversification across multiple borrowers in non-investment grade countries. Convergence's analysis shows that countries rated in the LDC cohort have a median long-term sovereign rating of "B", so a portfolio of B-rated projects can be enhanced to BB simply through a portfolio diversification approach. In LDCs, which have a high level of real and perceived risk, diversification across multiple companies/projects or sectors can be highly beneficial. Diversification across LDC countries also needs to be considered. Though Convergence's data show a concentration of blended transactions across Rwanda, Tanzania and Uganda, we have observed in recent years blended finance activity expanding to new LDCs such as Cambodia, Madagascar and Mali.

**Given these reasons, it is indeed no surprise that a plurality (41%) of LDC-focused blended finance transactions in Convergence database represent portfolio approaches to blending**, although this number has decreased over time. Development funders should prioritise a portfolio approach along with asymmetrical risk-return profiles to mobilise private investors. The problems facing LDCs are formidable, and solving them will require significantly more financial resources to flow into projects and transactions in these countries. The approach articulated here will help to draw in additional sources of finance and bring us closer to closing the SDG funding gap in countries with the most challenging environments.

#### 4.4. Providing additionality through investment in different commercial scenarios

By Pooja Yadav and Nathan Kelly

Pooja Yadav is an Associate Principal at the CrossBoundary Group, where she provides investment advisory services, and specialised expertise in unlocking investment across all sectors in fragile and frontier markets.

Nathan Kelly is a Senior Associate at the CrossBoundary Group, where he is involved in the structuring of CrossBoundary's investment facilitation platforms and providing transaction support in frontier markets.

**CrossBoundary manages two blended finance vehicles that invest in renewable energy in sub-Saharan Africa** – one investing in single off-taker, commercial and industrial solar systems, and the other investing in rural solar-powered mini-grids. Both these vehicles use donor capital to unlock private investment into high-risk sectors and geographies. While the literature on blended finance often emphasises the ability to create leverage with limited donor capital, the economic implications of COVID-19 reinforce the importance of also providing additionality in order to create resilient ecosystems, particularly **Demand for donor capital in blended finance vehicles has never been higher.** But when it comes to blended finance vehicles, comparing the impact of donor capital in one vehicle versus another is not always straightforward. Some vehicles will boast very high leverage on donor capital (i.e. the amount of private capital attracted for every dollar of donor capital), while others will pursue higher-risk, lower-return opportunities where donor capital may be more additional (i.e. creates positive externalities that could not otherwise be addressed through commercial capital), but will attract less commercial capital. Understanding and comparing the amount of leverage and additionality each vehicle brings can help donors to compare the impact of blended finance opportunities more precisely, ultimately allowing them to make better decisions with their limited capital.

## 4.4.1. Donor capital use case one: de-risk investment into a commercially viable – yet unproven – asset class

<u>Challenge</u>: Throughout sub-Saharan Africa, businesses face high electricity costs and low reliability. This critical – yet systematically underfinanced – development gap challenges the growth potential for many of the continent's enterprises. It can also have significant environmental implications. Despite emerging solar technology, which offers cheaper, cleaner and more reliable power, many businesses continue to rely on backup diesel generation due to high upfront costs for solar installations and limited access to finance.

<u>Opportunity</u>: In response to this challenge, CrossBoundary launched CrossBoundary Energy (CBE), the first investment vehicle focused on commercial and industrial solar in Africa. CBE aggregates a portfolio of long-term power purchase agreements with enterprises in Africa. This structure allows investors to access a new commercial asset class with the potential for significant environmental and economic impact.

<u>Donor role</u>: The pilot fund launched in 2015 with an innovative two-tier equity capital structure, anchored on USD 1.3 million of first-of-its-kind first-loss capital from the United States Agency for International Development (USAID). By taking a subordinate position to other investors' initial investments, this donor commitment provided more risk-averse investors greater protection and increased their incentive to invest. First-loss capital can provide a critical de-risking mechanism for private investors who may recognise potential for commercial and developmental returns but are discouraged by the risk of a new sector or asset class. The blended finance structure allowed the fund to raise an additional USD 30 million from public and private institutions; it is ultimately expected to mobilise well over USD 100 million. Today, CBE is Africa's largest utility for enterprise solar, supplying the continent's leading brands with reliable and affordable electricity.

## *4.4.2. Donor capital use case two: attract investment into a non-commercially viable – yet developmentally critical – asset class*

<u>Challenge</u>: Mini-grids are the most economical solution for providing access to energy to 100 million of the 600 million people without electricity in Africa (Tilleard, Davies and Shaw, 2018<sub>[147]</sub>). Still, rural mini-grids have struggled to scale up due to a lack of necessary co-ordination between investors, developers and development actors to solve the three core barriers to investment:

- mini-grid companies develop, construct and own mini-grids, but very few investors are able to fund all three activities
- mini-grids are small, with ticket sizes well below typical investor thresholds

• mini-grids target rural customers in developing economies who are typically costly to connect and have low spending power. As such, the initial profitability is low, and the ultimate profitability is unknown.

<u>Opportunity</u>: CrossBoundary Energy Access is a blended project finance facility, the first of its kind dedicated to financing mini-grid projects in Africa, currently with investments in Tanzania. The fund aggregates mini-grid assets into special purpose vehicles – sizeable enough to attract institutional investment – and uses concessional capital to bridge the profitability gap. The fund also tests models to reduce risk (such as pay-as-you-go models) and to increase profitability (such as appliance financing schemes).

<u>Donor role</u>: Thanks to concessional capital from The Rockefeller Foundation, the USD 18 million pilot fund successfully raised equity from private investors and debt from development finance institutions (DFIs), allowing investors to finance just the mini-grid assets (insulating them from the development, construction and customer acquisition risk that they would face by investing directly into the developer) and subsequently receive inflation-linked returns over a 10- to 20-year period.

In this example, where the underlying assets require a subsidy to achieve commercial returns, blended finance can be used to unlock additional capital to achieve even greater impact outcomes. If the fund proves successful, it has the potential to unlock access to a trillion-dollar infrastructure capital market and bring electricity to millions of people across Africa.

## *4.4.3.* Donors should evaluate the commercial viability of the underlying investment in a blended finance vehicle and weigh it against the development impact they want to achieve

For blended finance vehicles that address unproven markets but are forecasted to be commercially viable, donor capital can unlock a sector through simple risk mitigation, ultimately attracting large volumes of commercial capital for every dollar of donor capital.

For blended finance vehicles that address an asset class that is not forecasted to be commercially viable initially, donor capital will attract less commercial capital for every dollar of donor capital spent. However, these investments tend to achieve greater additionality (see Figure 4.3).

For donors in LDCs, understanding the commercial viability of the underlying investment will help to weigh one opportunity fairly against another in a way that relying on leverage or additionality alone will not do.



#### Figure 4.3. Commercial viability versus development impact

#### BLENDED FINANCE IN THE LEAST DEVELOPED COUNTRIES 2020 © OECD/UNCDF 2020

#### 98 |

#### 4.5. Four ways to refresh blended finance in the wake of coronavirus (COVID-19)

#### By Feisal Hussain

Feisal Hussain is the Managing Director of ThinkAhead Consulting, where he specialises in innovation and blended finance.

Blended finance perfectly captures the zeitgeist of the millennial generation, bringing together in harmony seemingly contrasting characteristics of conscious capitalism and pragmatic idealism. However, the COVID-19 pandemic has exposed the fault lines that were already evident before the pandemic, while also revealing new ones. Blended finance providers need to make a case for why, in the context of extreme fiscal pressures and bare markets, blended finance offers stronger long-term prospects to help build the economy back better. However, in doing so, they need to avoid merely rehashing the traditional business case for blended finance, and show how they will change blended finance's priorities and approaches as a consequence of COVID-19.

#### 4.5.1. Building up resilient systems

The success of blended finance should be measured not simply in terms of the scale of investment triggered and the amount of private finance mobilised. More emphasis should be placed on how well blended finance has contributed to market systems that are more inclusive, sustainable and resilient, and how well it has enabled large-scale and sustainable growth in private investment.

As the world recovers from COVID-19, the blended finance community will need to ensure that every investment contributes to creating systems resilience. This means prioritising blended finance investments in, for example, health systems, research and development, and natural ecosystems that can help to regenerate local economies, while also requiring every investment, irrespective of sector, to integrate digital systems to enhance transparency and reduce risk and transaction costs. This will also improve the predictive and response capability of the systems as a whole.

#### 4.5.2. Being responsible and thoughtful actors

The application of blended finance must be promoted responsibly and with caution, ensuring that it does not deliberately compete for public and non-commercial resources in areas that carry no private returns but generate very high socio-economic returns. Moreover, a push for blended finance should not eclipse the need for grants or divert public subsidy away from interventions that boost local investment environments.

There is reason to approach this cautiously because the unintended consequences of pushing blended finance may be to create perverse outcomes. It is important to recognise that distributional inequities in blended finance are symptoms of deeper binding constraints on commercial investment decisions. Typically, these are where the investment climate is challenging (e.g. complex regulatory requirements or corruption), markets are not functioning and the risk-adjusted rate of return is uncompetitive. For example, the Overseas Development Institute (ODI) estimates that more than 96% of private finance mobilised through blended finance goes to countries with a credit rating, which most LDCs do not have or fare badly in (ODI, 2019<sub>[148]</sub>). Under such circumstances, concessional finance may tip the balance, but will not work or sustain its effects if the economic fundamentals are not in place.

#### 4.5.3. Opening up the gated community

The blended finance community must break free of its dominant public sector character and must include the diverse range of providers that make up the blended finance ecosystem. The blended finance universe has found itself confined to a gated community of members drawn from the traditional world of bilateral DFIs and multilateral development banks (MDBs). Today, this traditional club of providers is complemented by the growth of other forms of financing, including from the non-DAC countries, impact investors and philanthropists, as well as private individuals who are taking advantage of digital platforms to invest directly into enterprises and projects that would have been unthinkable and prohibitively expensive a decade or two ago. Taken together, these new financiers deliver more capital to developing countries and leverage more commercial capital than traditional purveyors of blended finance. Consider the following facts.

- According to the DFI Working Group on Blended Concessional Finance for Private Sector Projects, DFIs and MDBs mobilised USD 1.7 billion from the private sector in 2018 by blending USD 1.1 billion in concessional funds with USD 2.4 billion of DFI own-account investments (DFI Working Group, 2019<sub>[149]</sub>).
- According to Giving USA, American philanthropic foundations managed about USD 950 billion in their endowments, and invested roughly USD 75 billion in 2019 (Giving USA, 2019<sub>[150]</sub>).
- According to Global Impact Investing Network, its impact investor members collectively manage over USD 400 billion in assets, and in 2019 invested USD 47 billion with a compound annual growth rate of 17% (GIIN, 2019<sub>[151]</sub>).
- According to Statista, alternative lending platforms in emerging and developing economies, including crowd lending (i.e. digital lending to SMEs) and peer-to-peer lending (i.e. digital lending to individuals), channelled USD 225 billion in 2019 with a compound annual growth rate of over 50%. Excluding China and India, the alternative lending market channelled more than USD 2.4 billion to businesses and individuals in developing and emerging markets, leveraging capital from the private sector at roughly the same level as traditional blended finance providers (Statista, 2020<sub>[152]</sub>).

The gates of the blended finance community, therefore, need to be opened to these new players, to new approaches and platforms, and to new forms of collaboration based on comparative advantage.

#### 4.5.4. Creating strategic convergence and synergy

The artificial distinction between grant and non-grant instruments must change post-COVID-19. Blended finance as implemented by DFIs and MDBs has become synonymous with the use of non-grant instruments. Yet if financial leverage is the metric by which blended finance is judged, there is a distinction without a difference between grant and non-grant instruments vis-à-vis their blended finance capabilities. According to the ODI, MDBs and DFIs contributed just shy of 60% of the cost of blended-finance investments overall and as much as 73% in LDCs. On the other hand, bilateral grant providers mobilise more private finance in LDCs than MDBs, relative to their contribution.

Besides value for money and leverage, the differences in approach between grant-giving institutions and non-grant-giving DFIs and MDBs are narrowing. Grant providers have been gradually honing approaches and tools that increase private sector investment. This is especially true in LDCs, where risk levels are high and private investors require a greater degree of risk mitigation. Grant providers have tested and scaled up approaches that create conditions for greater private sector investment (e.g. investment climate assessments, financial sector development, assistance for capital market development, etc.). They have also tested and scaled up tools that work directly with the private sector to trigger investment using both non-financial instruments (e.g. market systems approaches to private sector development, start-up incubators, etc.) and financial tools (e.g. challenge funds).

Notwithstanding greater convergence, non-grant and grant providers have distinctive incentives and philosophies. Non-grant agencies are instinctively risk-averse, given the pressures to retain the value of their capital or AAA rating. Consequently, they are unlikely to significantly increase their exposure in LDCs any time soon. On the other hand, grant providers have none of the commercial pressures faced by DFIs and MDBs and thus can take greater risks, especially in LDCs.

**Post-COVID-19 blended finance arrangements will, therefore, need more joint approaches between grant providers and non-grant providers**, leveraging each other's comparative advantages, tools and instruments to maximise both financial leverage and larger impact. As the world convulses in response to COVID-19, so too does blended finance. While this poses some immediate risks, the pandemic also presents opportunities to improve and reform blended finance, allowing the system to build forward better.

#### 4.6. Taking blended finance to large scale by developing market systems

#### By Roland V Pearson Junior

Roland V Pearson Junior is the Executive Director of USAID CATALYZE, implemented by Palladium, where he is also a Director for Innovative Finance in the Economic Growth and Governance practice.

**Blended finance continues to grow apace**. Data from Convergence and the OECD/UNCDF show average annual growth rates of around 20% over the past five to ten years in both the amount of capital mobilised and the number of deals done across all sectors and country types.<sup>12</sup> We continue to see innovations introduced among transactions at the enterprise, institution and fund levels. New structures and approaches have begun to address a more robust set of risks.

Nonetheless, several impediments continue to stymie the potential growth and impact of blended finance, such as asymmetric information, country risk, volatile foreign exchange risk, poor governance, and enterprise-level risks. In particular, frontier markets (or LDCs) and social sectors such as health and education continue to attract the tiniest proportions of global capital mobilised. Market friction presents another major barrier to the growth and sustainability of blended finance – as evidenced by the expense, complexity and over-reliance on experts from the global north. The preponderance of debt among blended finance transactions reflects market demand and supply-side limitations. However, in the absence of equity and other non-debt and longer-term instruments, enterprises face the risk of over-leverage, which will limit their ability to grow and to contribute to increases in national and household incomes, as well as job creation. To scale up and achieve more systemic impact, blended finance will need to incorporate more equity and other sophisticated instruments.

The COVID-19 crisis has shed glaring light on the insufficiency of the ecosystems of key actors and enabling policies, structures and capabilities, which mutes blended finance potential. The lack of local capital market integration, the poor capacity of intermediaries to connect enterprises with emergency sources of funding, and an absence of blended finance vehicles that work in the aggregate (e.g. standby facilities that would trigger guaranteed government bond issues in a crisis) are only a few of the shortcomings in current markets. Concurrently, COVID-19 does offer an opportunity to broaden the frame to look at blended finance through a risk/resilience lens. For blended finance to have sustained relevance, especially in LDCs, it must be able to respond in a systemic way to systemic crises. Blended finance must yield scope and scale that go beyond individual actors, and over periods of time that extend well beyond "normal" transactional time frames, not just in response to COVID-19, but also climate change, recurring natural disasters and persistent threats of unrest.

Beyond building the facilities for blended finance to operate well at systemic levels, a market development approach also addresses specific LDC issues. Many LDCs tend to be smaller economies

where transaction costs can be inordinately high. LDCs also often lack a sufficient mass of players and prospects, while at the same time suffering from underdeveloped financial and capital markets.

In recognition of these market deficiencies, Palladium has designed a blended finance market development approach that focuses on building a key component of that ecosystem, namely, a transaction advisory and business development advisers. Our approach generates blended finance transactions, by using donor grants to fund paid-for results incentives for the advisers to close deals between financial institutions and designated demand-side clients (agro-processors, educational institutions, health services providers, women-owned enterprises, etc.). Meanwhile, we also provide training, mentorship, technical assistance and other forms of capacity building support to those advisers. We also look to embed long-term market viability and capacity support by connecting advisers to local and regional training and other institutions, facilitating connections among advisers and other key market actors.

Under the USAID-funded, eight-year CATALYZE programme, which began in October 2019, **Palladium** has a mandate to work globally in any sector, with a keen focus on frontier markets and social sectors. Under CATALYZE, we will apply our market development model in places like the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ethiopia, the Sahel and Zambia, while also achieving improved development outcomes across issues as diverse as early childhood development, primary education, women's labour force participation, and youth entrepreneurship in multiple agricultural value chains.

Although we have yet to see enough activity in our start-up phase to offer performance data, **we do see potential to catalyse blended capital and foment market development through our interventions.** For example, by leveraging the attention brought by COVID-19 and applying a risk and resilience lens to many investment theses, we have begun to see investor interest in post-harvest loss interventions (e.g. storage, refrigeration, etc.) for agriculture, or the building of manufacturing capabilities to meet local demand with local supply. Meanwhile, additional players are being introduced to the education field, by positioning investments as opportunities to leverage digital technologies for myriad development objectives, including to facilitate remote learning.

Across geographies and sectors, Palladium will create and promote a community of action, composed of investors, enterprises and innovators, as well as a coterie of intermediaries, thought leaders and other market actors. Facilitating transactions will result in the achievement of our USD 2 billion capital mobilisation target. More importantly, that activity will serve as both an impetus for, and a demonstration of, market development.

## 4.7. How the digital revolution is transforming blended finance solutions that reach the last mile

#### By Henri Dommel

Henri Dommel is the Director of UNCDF's Financial Inclusion practice, where he is responsible for leading the unit's strategy in promoting digital finance and the development of inclusive digital economies in LDCs.

The COVID-19 crisis has further increased the massive financing gap LDCs are facing to achieve the SDGs by 2030. A major disrupter and potential accelerator in attracting private capital is the digital finance revolution, which is transforming how private finance can be sourced, mobilised, deployed and monitored in ways that can reach the last mile and that were unthinkable just a decade ago.

Over the past ten years, the digital revolution has not only transformed how people access and use financial services, but has also enabled the growing integration of finance with the "real economy" in such areas as clean energy, agriculture, entrepreneurship, and health and education (UN, 2020<sub>[153]</sub>). This disruption has created rapid growth for a wide range of SMEs, and business models that can leverage blended finance solutions to reach large scale. For example, energy service companies that use digital pay-go solutions have become a new and rapidly growing asset class for blended finance investors. In LDCs, energy service companies have become some of the major recipients of on-balance-sheet concessional lending, enabling follow-on investment by domestic financial institutions or international impact investors.

**Digital technologies have also profoundly transformed options to mobilise finance and align its deployment with the SDGs**, as highlighted in the report of the United Nations Task Force on Digital Financing of the SDGs (UN, 2020<sub>[153]</sub>). Innovations in agent banking and alternative delivery channels have made it possible to mobilise and channel informal savings at large scale into the formal financial system. Digital technology can facilitate the reinvestment of those savings into long-term investments in priority socio-economic infrastructure (roads, schools, health centres, etc.) and localise those investments in districts where individual savers will directly benefit from improved services and from receiving financial dividends. The digital finance revolution is also disrupting and expanding how blended finance solutions can be deployed to contribute to the financing of the SDGs. It is doing so by transforming the potential for domestic resource mobilisation and for citizens to have a voice in how their savings are invested, or by expanding blended finance solutions rests on an innovative use of data that enables new models of resource mobilisation (even from very small individual savings) and their aggregation to finance a wide range of economic priorities, from socio-economic infrastructure to women-led MSMEs, supported by derisking instruments and donor-funded technical assistance.

The feasibility of using digital savings for reinvestments by local and national governments in key socio-economic infrastructures is being tested by a2i<sup>13</sup> in partnership with UNCDF as one of the pathfinder projects of the United Nations Task Force on Digital Financing of the SDGs. Pre-COVID-19, it was forecasted that, in 2020, savings by Bangladeshi citizens totalling USD 118.4 billion could be tapped to finance SDGs (including USD 61 billion formal savings, USD 41 billion informal savings, USD 14 billion from remittances flows, and USD 2.4 billion zakat funds) (LightCastle Partners, forthcoming[154]); (McKinsey Global Institute, 2016[155]).<sup>14</sup> Digital finance offers the potential to transform Bangladeshi citizens from micro-savers to micro-investors, enabling the aggregation of those savings at very low cost, with the reguisite guarantee and liguidity mechanisms built into investment instruments that could fund the socioeconomic infrastructure that would directly improve their lives. The infrastructure budget in Bangladesh for the fiscal year 2019–2020 stood at USD 24 billion, 48% of which was financed through external sources (LightCastle Partners, forthcoming<sub>[154]</sub>);<sup>15</sup> this is expected to grow substantially by 2030 due to funding requirements to meet the SDGs. Harnessing domestic savings could help both to lower the dependence on external debt and to strengthen Bangladeshi citizens' stakes in and ownership of those investments. More generally, connecting national SDG priorities and digital financing opportunities offers a tremendous scope for growth and is an area currently advanced by UNCDF. The deployment of this type of solution calls for blended finance models that include sovereign guarantees to protect the integrity of those citizens' savings or de-risk those infrastructure investments.

**Digital finance is also accelerating the formalisation of remittance flows**, which can directly benefit migrants and their families, not only through lower fees, but also by creating a financial transaction history that can facilitate access to other financial services, especially loans. Blended finance models can be deployed to further support the reinvestment of remittances in priority sectors, with a government or third-party guarantee. In Nepal, UNCDF supported a partnership between AI Fardan Exchange in the United Arab Emirates and Laxmi Bank to test a new use case to securitise remittance flows in order to extend un-

collateralised credit based on the remittance transaction history and other alternative data sources, using a blockchain lending platform.

**Digital innovations are also transforming blended finance models for MSME access to capital markets**. In the context of the United Nations Task Force on Digital Financing of the SDGs, EcoCash and Financial Securities Exchange (FINSEC), with support from the Investors Exchange (IEX), the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations and UNCDF, have set up an MSME investment platform (GEM Portal) in Zimbabwe linked to FINSEC that leverages alternative data generated from the major mobile money operator in the country and banks, to create investment profiles and bridge the long-term financing gap between high-potential MSME and investors.<sup>16</sup> This platform will offer a new venue for investors, banks and venture capitalists to invest in MSMEs in Zimbabwe in a totally new way. With non-traditional and digital mechanisms of enterprise assessment implemented through this platform, the role of DFIs in this initiative to catalyse and unlock private capital to be invested becomes important, by deploying guarantee instruments and concessional capital.

In addition to improving risk pricing, the exponential growth in data gathering and processing that is enabled by the digital revolution has helped to increase both the alignment with the SDGs and the impact monitoring of blended finance investment decisions. Digital platforms such as the Future of Sustainable Data Alliance are advancing data-driven approaches to the effective integration of environmental, social and governance factors into decision making processes, and greater incorporation of SDG-related risks and impacts in financing decisions. In that respect, the digital revolution also holds the potential to help further align blended finance deployments to the SDGs.

#### 4.8. Cities and blended finance in the aftermath of coronavirus (COVID-19)

#### By David Jackson and Nan Zhang

David Jackson is the Director of UNCDF's Local Development Finance practice, where he manages and leads the substantive development of a portfolio of local development programmes and projects that leverage increases in local capital formation and local fiscal space in LDCs.

Nan Zhang is a Programme Analyst at UNCDF where she supports global projects in municipal finance, urban infrastructure, and climate change adaptation.

#### 4.8.1. Problem: the existential dilemma of urbanisation finance

On the 75th anniversary of the United Nations it is useful to reflect on the changed demographics of the world and the financial arrangements and institutions that are now required. At the birth of the United Nations, less than a third of people lived in urban areas. By 2010, we reached a 50/50 share. Today, around two-thirds of us live in towns and cities (UNCDF,  $2020_{[156]}$ ). This change is happening at an accelerating rate (see Figure 4.4). It took Paris over 100 years to grow from half a million to a million inhabitants. Asian cities in the mid-20th century required 50 years. Lagos needed only ten years, from 1955 to 1965. Currently, African cities are making this transition at even more rapid rates.<sup>17</sup>



#### Figure 4.4. Urbanisation growth in Lagos, Paris and Seoul

Source: (UN, 2018[157]), World Urbanization Prospects: The 2018 Revision. Annual Population of Urban Agglomerations with 300,000 or more in 2018 (thousands). <u>https://population.un.org/wup/DataQuery/</u>

**The world is also a much richer place than it was 75 years ago – and a more unequal one.** In sub-Saharan Africa, the urban population has increased from 22% in 1980 to over 40% in 2018, and total GDP surged from USD 271 billion to USD 1.7 trillion (World Bank, 2019<sub>[23]</sub>). Globally, urbanisation and GDP growth have risen hand-in-hand (see Figure 4.5) and there seems to be a correlation between urbanisation and increases in productivity (EIB, 2020<sub>[158]</sub>).

#### Figure 4.5. Urban population versus GDP per capita, 2016



Share of the total population living in urban areas versus gross domestic product (GDP) per capita, measured in 2011 international-\$.

Source: (Our World in Data, 2016[159]), https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/urbanization-vs-gdp

#### **106** |

This correlation, however, is not automatic. A closer look at the global data on GDP over time reveals that gross fixed capital formation (GFCF) has remained at about 25% of GDP since 1980. In the meantime, import and export of goods and services grew from 13% to 26%.<sup>18</sup> Remittances also grew. The data show a positive relationship between trade and growth while investment remains constant, but the devil is in the detail. While GFCF is stable at the aggregate level, in individual countries it reaches up to 45% for sustained periods during the critical accelerating phases of urbanisation.<sup>19</sup> On this basis, the data suggest that urbanisation needs to be accompanied by investment for it to drive increases in productivity.

These are meta-trends, but economic history confirms that they map the trajectory of economic development in North and South America, the Middle East, North Africa and parts of Asia (Collier, 2017<sub>[160]</sub>). What lessons do they have for the current rapid urbanisation in Africa and other parts of Asia?

In sub-Saharan Africa, GFCF fell from nearly half of GDP in 1980, to less than one-fifth in 2018 (see Figure 4.6). In contrast, total services as a share of GDP increased from 45% to 52%, and remittances received expanded from 0.6% to 2.8%. Total government expenditure remained constant at one-quarter of GDP on aggregate (World Bank, 2019<sub>[23]</sub>).



#### Figure 4.6. Urbanisation versus gross fixed capital formation

Source: (World Bank, 2019<sub>[23]</sub>), Urban population (% of total population) – sub-Saharan Africa (1980–2018); Gross fixed capital formation (% of GDP) – sub-Saharan Africa (1980–2018). <u>https://data.worldbank.org/</u>

In terms of economic history, urbanisation and capital investment (public and private, often subsidised) kick-started higher value-added trade in goods and services. This is a well-trodden and well-documented path.

It is also clear from the data that parts of Africa and parts of Asia are not following this route, but experiencing urbanisation without investment and services, and remittance growth without higher value jobs and wages.<sup>20</sup> Have they found an alternative road? Can they consume their way to prosperity through an army of informal and/or small businesses? Or, more worryingly, are they not moving towards sustainable structural transformation?

The answer partly lies in productivity. Either services and remittances without investment will increase productivity, or new cities will become unproductive and environmentally unsustainable urban sprawls.
Household incomes are a key barometer of what is happening. So far, the signs are not good. On aggregate, they are not increasing at a scale that indicates sufficient productivity growth.<sup>21</sup>

### 4.8.2. How blended finance can help (potentially)

**Despite prolonged low interest rates, capital investment in the LDCs has remained subdued.** On the face of it, this is a paradox. A growing city represents a growing market, increasing land values, a larger tax base and a more diverse and skilled workforce. There ought to be interest in the potential for returns on investment. But unfortunately, the global financial architecture does not encourage capital investment. First, the domestic capital markets in the urbanising LDCs are not broad enough (in policy and the variety of investment vehicles) or deep enough (in liquidity and volume). Second, borrowing on the international market at the scale required is discouraged due to current Bretton Woods policies on national debt; domestic subnational and non-sovereign infrastructure finance would mitigate against the sovereign debt issue, although not fully, as there are issues of contingent liability that need to be addressed.<sup>22</sup> Yet global private infrastructure funds, while strongly capitalised, including by pension funds, focus almost exclusively on already urbanised countries. So where will the money come from?

**In recent times the international community has committed to subsidise investment at the volume required**, for example through the financing of expansion by the European Union or the Belt and Road investments supported by China. However, these schemes do not address urbanisation in sub-Saharan Africa and parts of Asia.

Another example is green finance. The volume of concessional investment finance is significant, and appropriate investment vehicles, such as green bonds, are multiplying.<sup>23</sup> Furthermore, the geographical coverage is more friendly to sub-Saharan Africa and the rapidly urbanising parts of Asia, and the tenor and structure of much of this finance is appropriate.

**Most green finance is blended, but not all blended finance is green.**<sup>24</sup> Blended green finance is not the magic solution to the problem outlined here, but it could go some of the way towards addressing it. So far, rapidly expanding cities have not been able to tap into this second stream of financing because they have not been able to green their growth in verifiable ways. There are positive signs that this may be about to change, however.

A growing number of city networks and development finance institutions have coalesced around this agenda. For example, the Malaga Global Coalition for Municipal Finance established by UNCDF and the World Organization of United Cities and Local Governments (UCLG) promotes a financial ecosystem that works for local governments and municipalities to unlock finance for cities in the developing world to achieve sustainable, green and resilient growth. The challenge is to design blended investment packages that are appropriate to the cities' development needs, qualify for green finance and can attract enough private capital to mitigate pressure on sovereign balance sheet liabilities. Sub-sovereign and non-sovereign intermediaries can also relieve this pressure (Smoke, forthcoming[161]).

This is not easy. There has been an oversimplification that a paucity of bankable projects is the problem. It is not as straightforward as that. Projects that are eminently profitable often do not respect green criteria. Projects that are appropriate to the cities' needs are often green but not bankable. Projects that are green and bankable are not always urban in nature. Green finance can be attracted to projects with measurable greenhouse gas impact or measurable adaptation or resilience. Examples include transport, carbon sinks and adaptive or resilient land use (a large category from drainage to green roofs), energy, waste management, green built environment (e.g. heating or cooling), and the manufacture of green products. COVID-19 has caused a fiscal crisis, particularly for subnational governments.<sup>25</sup> This further exacerbates the situation and we are already seeing evidence that cities are moving to rebuild their fiscal space through bankable projects that increase revenue but not productivity (e.g. shopping malls).<sup>26</sup>

On the other hand, there is evidence that the impact of the pandemic will bring value chains closer to home, and governments are now promoting local productive industry, which can be further accelerated if green.<sup>27</sup>

**UNCDF** has sponsored the Malaga Global Coalition for Municipal Finance with the UCLG to advocate a financial ecosystem that works for local governments and municipalities. The Malaga Coalition promotes the global policy goals needed to unlock finance for cities in the developing world to achieve sustainable, green and resilient growth. One example is its financial instrument – the International Municipal Investment Fund – that will be managed by Meridiam and will invest in demonstration examples of blended green finance brought forward by UNCDF and its city partners.

Connecting urban investments with green blended finance through the Paris Agreement targets and other global goals is a route to increasing productive capacity in the rapidly urbanising parts of the world, in line with the sweep of economic history and the recommendations of the United Nations Committee for Development Policy towards the next LDC programme of action (UN, 2020<sub>[162]</sub>).

# 4.9. How blended finance can support the development of local capital markets in least developed countries

### By Lasitha Perera

Lasitha Perera is Chief Executive Officer of GuarantCo, the guarantee arm of the Private Infrastructure Development Group (PIDG), which was established in 2005 to help mobilise local currency financing into domestic infrastructure in developing countries across Africa and Asia.

As a company founded to help mobilise local currency financing into domestic infrastructure in developing countries across Africa and Asia, GuarantCo promotes the development of local capital markets in order to support the alleviation of poverty.

Unfortunately, in reality, creating affordable infrastructure financed by local capital markets in LDCs can be very challenging. The high-double-digit interest rates, short tenors (typically three years), limited understanding of project financing, uncommercial collateral/security requirements and risk-averse financial market regulators are all common barriers that developers of infrastructure encounter. Nevertheless, as pension and insurance markets in LDCs develop, and the pools of capital requiring long-term investment opportunities consequently grow, local capital markets will have an increasingly important role to play in addressing the infrastructure financing gap.

Typically, investors in LDCs are restricted to investing in government securities or short-term deposits with the largest banks, thus creating significant concentration risks, which are neither desirable nor wise. This raises the question of why they are reluctant to be diversifying and investing in infrastructure projects, which in developed economies are viewed as a safe asset class. The answer lies in the local capital markets' capacity to assess the credit (repayment) risk of an infrastructure project and therefore how to price the credit risk of infrastructure projects appropriately.

GuarantCo uses blended finance in three ways to help address this capacity gap and to mobilise local capital markets to provide long-term local currency financing into infrastructure projects.

# 4.9.1. Leveraging public sector donor capital to provide guarantees to local investors

**GuarantCo was designed to be a blended finance vehicle**, receiving first loss (equity) capital from public sector donors (shareholders) against which it is able to write guarantees of up to three times the

value of its shareholder equity. These guarantees in turn can, on average, mobilise up to a further four times private sector investment into infrastructure projects. Consequently, through GuarantCo, every USD 1 of public sector donor capital can mobilise up to USD 12 of private sector investment into an infrastructure project in the markets on which PIDG focuses, including LDCs.

**GuarantCo has high international credit ratings** from Fitch Ratings (AA-) and Moody's (A1) underpinned by the equity commitments of its government shareholders and its 15-year track record of providing guarantees without incurring any significant loss. These credit ratings make GuarantCo's credit risk equivalent to that of sovereign credit risk in LDCs. In other words, GuarantCo risk is as good as government risk as far as the local capital market is concerned. Thus, by GuarantCo providing a guarantee, the local capital market is able to price the risk of the infrastructure project against established government benchmarks.

GuarantCo is also able to use its guarantees to extend the tenor of a financing beyond established local capital market norms, while financing to match the long-term lifecycle of infrastructure is critical. In 2019, GuarantCo provided a guarantee to a bank in Bangladesh to provide a 13-year local currency loan to the first utility-scale solar project in the country. GuarantCo was able to mobilise the bank to provide the financing with an initial 50% guarantee. Although the bank already had experience in financing the established power sector in Bangladesh, it needed to mitigate the first-mover risk attached to the solar project (despite the technology being proven and well-established elsewhere) and to extend a tenor significantly longer than the market norm of five years. To help the bank overcome these challenges, GuarantCo's guarantee steps up from covering 50% of the loan after the first five years to gradually covering 100% in the later years.

# 4.9.2. Using PIDG technical assistance to provide grants to support capacity building workshops for local investors

In addition to providing guarantees, GuarantCo also regularly complements its transactions with **PIDG technical assistance**, the grant-providing arm of PIDG that is also donor-funded, to finance free-toattend capacity building workshops in local markets. These are designed to help train and educate investors about how to assess the credit risk of infrastructure projects.

For example, in 2014, GuarantCo organised a one-week training workshop, funded by a grant from PIDG technical assistance, for a group of Nepalese banks to learn about project financing, which resulted in these banks providing a 16-year local currency financing with a 90% guarantee after originally seeking a 100% guarantee from GuarantCo. The 10% residual risk taken by the Nepalese banks was equivalent to 14 times the value of the grant provided by PIDG technical assistance to finance the training workshop, thereby demonstrating another way that blended finance can help to develop local capital markets.

# *4.9.3. Developing local currency guarantors to support the development of local capital markets*

In 2017, PIDG partnered (through GuarantCo and PIDG technical assistance) with the Nigerian Sovereign Investment Authority to set up and operationalise InfraCredit, a local currency guarantor dedicated to mobilising long-term local currency financing into infrastructure in Nigeria. Through its guarantees, rated AAA locally, InfraCredit has enabled Nigerian pension funds to invest in long-dated infrastructure transactions for the first time, thereby opening up a pool of local currency liquidity equivalent to USD 2 billion, which previously had been unavailable to the infrastructure sector.

As can be seen from Figure 4.7 GuarantCo provides contingent capital (a form of guarantee) to InfraCredit that is leveraged through InfraCredit to enable every USD 1 of public sector donor capital in GuarantCo to mobilise USD 81 of private sector investment in Nigeria. GuarantCo is funded by public sector donor capital. Each USD 1 of public sector donor capital invested can be leveraged and deployed three times in

GuarantCo investments to attract private capital. The contingent capital, a form of guarantee, that GuarantCo provided to InfraCredit can in turn be leveraged up to 7.5 times. As a result, public sector capital invested in GuarantCo can be leveraged up to 22.5 times through this structure. On this scale, guarantees can be truly transformational for local capital markets, as InfraCredit is proving. PIDG is actively working to build further versions of InfraCredit in other emerging markets to act as market champions.

## Figure 4.7. InfraCredit



Note: Capital numbers as of December 2019 Source: Author

In summary, specialised blending facilities, such as GuarantCo, support the reduction of local currency risks for infrastructure projects, help to crowd in private sector investors and develop local capital markets that ultimately create a significant developmental impact on people's lives in lower-income countries throughout Africa and Asia. Since GuarantCo was established in 2005, the company has closed 55 transactions in 22 countries, provided 43 million people with improved access to infrastructure, created 235,000 jobs and enabled USD 5.6 billion of investments (PIDG, 2019[163]).<sup>28</sup>

## 4.10. Addressing the "missing middle" challenge in least developed countries

By Anders Berlin and Abdul-Rahman Lediju

Anders Berlin is the Director of UNCDF's Least Developed Countries Investment Platform, where he manages financial support of SMEs, small infrastructure projects and financial service providers.

Abdul-Rahman Lediju is an Investment Specialist for UNCDF, where he specialises as an Investment Adviser and Risk Manager for the LDCs Investment Platform.

The COVID-19 crisis, which has prompted national lockdowns, social distancing guidelines and disrupted regional and global value chains, has forced many businesses to endure a significant slowdown or stoppage of economic activities. In higher-income economies, businesses can apply for stimulus support to manage these unprecedented circumstances. In more vulnerable markets, such as the LDCs, limited fiscal capacity makes such options difficult, thereby risking the suspension and extinction of many businesses, especially SMEs. This can have negative knock-on effects on unemployment levels, social unrest, conflict and forced migration.

Achieving the SDGs, recovering from the COVID-19 crisis and rebuilding inclusive and resilient economies will be virtually impossible for any LDC without SMEs. SMEs play a major role in formal employment (responsible for seven out of every ten new jobs created in emerging markets), economic growth (contributing up to 40% of emerging-market GDP), and innovation, creating more resilient and competitive economies (World Bank Group, 2017<sub>[164]</sub>). They deliver essential goods and services that allow communities to further grow and thrive. With population trends predicting that over 600 million new jobs will be needed to absorb a growing labour force, SMEs will be the engine for the jobs of the future.

**These enterprises often do not receive the right type of financial solutions to grow**. They are usually too large to receive financing from microfinance institutions, but simultaneously below the radar for classic local commercial banks, DFIs and impact investors. This is what is commonly referred to as the "missing middle" challenge.

There are three drivers that contribute to the unfortunate persistence of the missing middle: transaction costs, risk perception and investment readiness.

- Transaction costs. The costs to appraise and monitor investments for an SME are often the same as for larger transactions. Since the returns generated from any transaction are directly connected to transaction size, it follows that it is usually more expensive to handle SME deals, especially in contrast to larger enterprises.
- Risk perception. SMEs generally lack the attributes that conservative financiers like to see. These
  features include collateral options to offer as security, key founders having enough "skin in the
  game", profitability trends, business life, and investor or bank investment experience in the sector
  or region in question. The lack of these qualities may be compounded by the financier's lack of
  investment experience, or lack of data, in the sector or region in question, which leads to further
  uncertainty in evaluating risk. Moreover, commercial financiers lack the risk appetite to design
  tailored investment solutions at large scale to overcome these traditional constraints. Many SMEs
  therefore rely heavily on friends and family, as well as community-based informal lenders who
  exploit the absence of formal solutions by providing tougher terms and pricing (Runde, Yayboke
  and Ramanujam, 2019<sub>[165]</sub>).
- Investment readiness. SMEs sometimes lack the fluency to engage with local commercial banks and investors in a way that can yield positive results. For example, sustained engagement with a prudent investor or bank requires the ability to build (and maintain) robust financial models, and to design strategic business plans that include a clear revenue model description, market and competition analysis, customer segmentation details, detailed strategies to finance growth, and a logical sales strategy to acquire and maintain customers.

**Solving a problem as complex as the missing middle financing gap, especially during a pandemic, requires collective action**. It is well understood that public stakeholders alone, acting through ODA and domestic national fiscal plans, cannot generate enough resource flows to meet this development challenge (Runde, Yayboke and Ramanujam, 2019<sup>[165]</sup>).

One solution would be to establish investment platforms or facilities that take "on higher risk" and invest in "smaller projects with growth potential and longer investment horizons". Such a platform or facility should take into account that SMEs need different financial solutions at various stages of their

lives – start-up, growth (early and mid) and expansion (Runde, Yayboke and Ramanujam, 2019<sub>[165]</sub>). UNCDF, for example, through its LDC Investment Platform, manages a portfolio of loans and guarantees on its balance sheet, focused on nurturing early-stage missing middle enterprises and projects in LDCs. By providing catalytic capital and technical assistance, we help to de-risk these businesses and enable them to access additional blended and commercial capital.

**UNCDF's finance capabilities include offering solutions that** can respond in terms of pricing (concessionary terms), grace periods (up to 36 months), ranking (UNCDF can invest in any position in the investment target's debt capital structure), risk coverage (subordinated and pari passu guarantees) and tenors (12 months to 15 years). Moreover, UNCDF invests with systemic goals in mind – either to demonstrate and build market viability, to unlock the ability of other financiers to join in, or both.

The LDC Investment Platform is 100% backed by grant donations and the revolving use of the funds means that a relatively small amount of capital has the potential to support numerous businesses and amplify development impacts over time and where the support is needed most.

Another complementary solution to tackling the missing middle financing gap is to pool public and private funding in structured blended finance vehicles that offer flexible, risk-tolerant capital solutions to SMEs that are otherwise generally not available from existing funds or financiers (Johnston, 2019<sub>[166]</sub>). In UNCDF's experience of working alongside Bamboo Capital Partners on the missing-middle-focused BUILD Fund, key considerations include mobilising the right proportion of public versus private capital, and implementing the right workflows to significantly support the missing middle in a cost-efficient (and therefore scalable) way (UNCDF, 2020<sub>[167]</sub>).

**Paradoxically, the higher the proportion of public capital, the more risk-tolerant and flexible the blended finance vehicle can be.** Striking the right balance is key in this regard, especially given ODA resource scarcity. In the case of the BUILD Fund, several layers (or "tranches") of capital will be used to invest in the same future portfolio of SMEs, but with different risk and return features for the ultimate investors dependent on the tranche.

If there is a loss, the first-loss (or "catalytic") tranche will be the first to bear it, thereby protecting the other layers of investors. The first-loss layer appeals to public actors who can use their dollars beyond grant-making to support their development objectives. If the BUILD Fund measures risk properly, the initial dollar invested can grow, be recycled for future investments, and further amplify development gains. The upper investment layers are designed to appeal to private actors. These potential investors would receive an annual, reasonable return, and would also be protected by a significant first loss layer (20% protection) in the event of losses in the underlying investment portfolio, including foreign exchange losses. In other words, the portfolio would have to effectively lose one-fifth of its value before a private investor's initial capital is affected. This represents a significant cushion to support the crowding in and blending of different sources of capital to address the missing middle challenge.

Regarding workflows, UNCDF will leverage its in-house footprint, development expertise, technical assistance resources, and increased investment origination and due diligence capacity to develop a pipeline of investable businesses for BUILD. This will drive down some of the costs that would otherwise be fully borne by Bamboo Capital Partners and the vehicle itself.

The pandemic has reminded us that our social, public health and economic systems are intimately interconnected. SMEs, which navigate the missing middle challenge daily, are not likely to be rescued by stimulus government packages to remain resilient through the crisis. It is imperative to look to risk-tolerant facilities and blended finance to support these businesses, their customers, suppliers and their workers in the poorest and most vulnerable communities around the world.

# 4.11. Out of the shadows into the limelight: national development banks as key actors in the decade of action

#### By Samantha Attridge

Samantha Attridge is a Senior Research Fellow and development finance expert for the Overseas Development Institute (ODI), specialising in innovative and blended finance, DFIs and national development banks.

### 4.11.1. Growing recognition of the key role of national development banks

National development banks (NDBs) are driving change in their countries by providing crucial funding and mobilising private investment in support of the SDGs and the Paris Agreement. Just under two-thirds of LDCs have an NDB. To date, NDBs have been largely overlooked, especially in international policy discussions, but change is afoot. There is growing recognition that these institutions have made important achievements and have further huge untapped potential to support the implementation of these two key agendas.

### 4.11.2. Supporting the transition to climate-smart growth

Take, for example, the urgent need to lock in climate-smart growth and the need for countries to invest in climate-smart infrastructure. This is not an easy task for any country, not least for many LDCs, whose capital markets are not that well developed and whose public finances are stretched. Climate-smart investment often requires large upfront investment with long payback periods, requiring long-term financing, which is not widely available. When it is, it is extremely costly.

Other challenges include the risk-to-profit ratio associated with potentially risky new climate-smart technologies, and uncertainty surrounding the security of revenue generation stemming from possible changes to government policy. All these challenges are compounded by the fact that significant externalities, such as decreasing carbon emissions, are not yet reflected in market prices. For these reasons, private finance has not – and does not – naturally flow to climate-smart investments, especially in LDCs.

**Cue NDBs, which are uniquely placed to overcome these challenges. Thanks** to their development mandate and financing models, they can provide longer-term, more affordable financing than what is available in the market. And with their unrivalled knowledge of local markets and long-standing relationships with local private and public sectors, they possess important comparative advantages over the multilateral and bilateral banking system. Deeply rooted into the local context, NDBs are well placed to effectively and efficiently mobilise, intermediate and channel climate-smart finance and investment.

### 4.11.3. Realising the potential of NDBs: three preconditions

**In many countries, including LDCs, the role of NDBs is changing**. Traditionally, NDBs acted as public financiers of infrastructure investment. But many now play multiple roles, including focusing on the mobilisation of private investment through the blending of public development capital with their own account resource, the development of bankable pipelines, and the shaping of policy frameworks to incentivise and support climate-smart infrastructure investment (ODI, 2020<sub>[168]</sub>). To fully capitalise on the unique position of NDBs to drive investment in climate-smart infrastructure, three interlinked and mutually reinforcing preconditions need to be in place.

### Good governance

Good governance underpins the willingness of governments to invest in NDBs, and the willingness of private investors, MDBs, DFIs and international climate funds to partner with them. It also affects their ability to develop and access capital markets. Well-governed and well-run NDBs with clear and stable green mandates are more likely to be integrated into policy frameworks and to have a seat at the policy table, as they are better able to deliver government objectives. This leads to a virtuous circle of good governance.

### Well-resourced NDBs

NDBs need enough resources to enable them to operate at the scale required to support the transition to climate-smart growth in a meaningful way. Apart from a few large NDBs such as those in Brazil, China and Germany, most are constrained in their ability to finance and mobilise private investment at large scale. Access to developed local capital markets can help NDBs to grow and overcome scale challenges, given the real and perceived fiscal constraints in many LDCs. Where these markets are less developed, NDBs can work closely with the government, regulators and the international community to develop them. This is an area that is often overlooked, but is crucial to optimise NDB resource and mobilise private domestic savings into climate-smart investment.

### International support

Some international public actors are working closely with NDBs and are fully engaged, while others have yet to take the leap, especially in many LDCs. In our research, we found good examples of this collaboration yielding positive results, including NDB governance reform and, in some cases, even protecting NDBs from political interference. Access to international concessional climate finance and the associated capacity building has also played an important role in helping NDBs to develop their climate-smart investment portfolios, especially building pipelines of investable opportunities and bolstering the capacity of NDBs to undertake climate-smart investment. The problem is that NDBs – which are uniquely placed to leverage this capital to maximum effect – do not have access to it, especially in LDCs.

### An agenda for action

All this suggests a very clear action agenda. At the country level, NDBs need to strengthen their governance in order to improve their performance and shift their business models to allow them to fully support the mobilisation agenda. For their part, governments need to give NDBs clear and stable mandates, ensure they are adequately resourced, that supportive policy and regulatory frameworks are in place to incentivise investment, and that NDBs are integrated within these.

At the international level, MDBs, regional development banks (RDBs), DFIs and international climate funds need to step up their engagement with NDBs and support the development of their capacity. This engagement should be based on their respective comparative advantages. Smaller NDBs in LDCs can utilise their non-financial strengths to identify, develop and originate investment opportunities helped by direct access to concessional climate finance, as is the case, for example, for the Uganda Development Bank and the Development Bank of Rwanda; and MDBs, RDBs and DFIs can bring their financial might to help to catalyse private investment in these opportunities.

As we enter the decade of action we need to move away from business as usual and seek to build new partnerships and ways of working. Seizing the opportunity to embrace the potential of NDBs will help bring fresh impetus to this agenda and help to accelerate our efforts to achieve the SDGs and meet the targets of the Paris Agreement.

## 4.12. Promoting transparency in blended finance

#### By David Hughes

David Hughes is a Senior Policy Analyst in the International Assistance Policy Bureau at Global Affairs Canada.

As blended finance continues to evolve as an important component of the development finance toolkit, a growing number of development practitioners, including Global Affairs Canada, are looking at how to improve the effectiveness of blended financing mechanisms to achieve shared sustainable development objectives.

To make blended finance a scalable tool, capable of having a significant impact on SDG achievement, we need to know more about what works and where we can improve the effectiveness of blended finance mechanisms when it comes to both financial performance and development impact. Donors have an important role to play and are well placed to support the development of this evidence by creating benchmarks, monitoring trends, promoting transparency, identifying and diffusing best practices, and advocating the use of blended financing mechanisms in developing countries and frontier markets.

Yet challenges persist for all stakeholders. The international community needs access to more reliable and robust disaggregated and gender-sensitive data about blended finance projects. Access to better data will allow more accurate risk/return calculations to ensure investments are financially sustainable and to strengthen accountability to shareholders and taxpayers. Reliable data on financial performance can also help to build a public record of accomplishment for blended finance and potentially unlock greater volumes of commercial investment. This is particularly important for blended finance in the LDCs, where the perception of risk is heightened and evidence to the contrary could mobilise new forms of financing.

By increasing transparency in our blended finance transactions, we can:

- improve access to disclosure data and information, particularly for emerging market stakeholders
- better understand the direct impact/benefits of blended finance on poverty alleviation and/or on other relevant SDGs
- ensure reliable, disaggregated data collection and impact measurement
- promote a fair, open and inclusive process for participation in blended finance projects
- encourage proper contract enforcement and respect for property rights
- gain a better understanding of the amounts of private finance mobilised
- demonstrate the catalytic nature of investments and encourage the continued participation of stakeholders in blended finance
- strengthen trust and public accountability in terms of the financial and development performance and outcomes of blended finance transactions (e.g. volumes of ODA spent, concessionality provided, and social and environmental outcomes and impact) (OECD and DANIDA, 2018[169]).

A recent effort to mainstream principles and perspectives on blended finance is the Tri Hita Karana (THK) Roadmap for Blended Finance, which sets out shared values and key action areas for effectively scaling up blended finance operations (OECD, 2018[170]). Canada, together with the OECD and the IFC, co-chaired a multi-stakeholder working group on transparency in blended finance within the THK framework, which has been looking at proposals to improve blended finance transparency. The research and discussions among working group members have highlighted a need for greater transparency, particularly for impact data, in blended finance. At the same time, the members recognise that there are

challenges, such as undermining competition, that need to be addressed, as well as legal limitations and/or market practices that make transparency at the project and activity level challenging.

The working group concluded that building a common understanding of the context, challenges and opportunities is critical to maintaining a conducive environment for the effective scale-up of transparency in blended finance. The working group's recommendations include:

- maintaining multi-stakeholder dialogue and collaboration for transparency in blended finance
- establishing clear roles and responsibilities across all stakeholder groups
- agreeing on minimum reporting requirements for different stakeholders
- considering the feasibility of establishing common reporting principles
- enhancing access to information on existing blended finance facilities and investments.

These recommendations recognise that increased transparency around operationalising blended finance is not only an end in itself; it also enables all actors to improve co-ordination, learning, trust, accountability and effectiveness with a view to strengthening sustainable development impact and the achievement of the SDGs.

As the international community responds to the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly in the LDCs, we need to ensure that our investments support sustainable outcomes. To safeguard development gains, the international community will need creativity in how it deploys international assistance tools, and a clear vision for how blending public and private finance can make a real difference by helping to stabilise economies and spur recovery. Canada looks forward to exploring the opportunities with our partners and to contributing to the thought leadership around blended and innovative financing for sustainable development.

## References

Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics (2017), <i>Quarterly Labour Force Survey 2015-16.</i> , http://bbs.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/bbs.portal.gov.bd/page/96220c5a_5763_4628_ 9494_950862accd8c/QLFS_2015.pdf.	[4]
Collier, P. (2017), <i>African urbanization: an analytic policy guide</i> , Oxford Review of Economic Policy, <u>https://academic.oup.com/oxrep/article/33/3/405/3926157</u> .	[21]
Convergence (2020), <i>Market Size</i> , <u>https://www.convergence.finance/blended-finance#market-size</u> .	[32]
DFI Working Group (2019), <i>DFI Working Group on Blended Concessional Finance for Private</i> Sector Projects Joint Report, October 2019 Update, <u>https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/73a2918d-5c46-42ef-af31-</u> 5199adea17c0/DFI+Blended+Concessional+Finance+Working+Group+Joint+Report+%28Oc tober+2019%29+v1.3+Report+.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CVID=mUEEcSN.	[9]
EIB (2020), BANKING IN AFRICA financing transformation amid uncertainty, https://www.eib.org/attachments/efs/economic_report_banking_africa_2020_en.pdf.	[19]
GIIN (2019), 2019 Annual Impact Investor Survey, <u>https://thegiin.org/research/publication/impinv-</u> <u>survey-2019</u> .	[11]

BLENDED FINANCE IN THE LEAST DEVELOPED COUNTRIES 2020 © OECD/UNCDF 2020

Giving USA (2019), <i>Giving USA 2019 : Americans gave \$427.71 billion to charity in 2018 amid complex year for charitable giving</i> , <u>https://givingusa.org/giving-usa-2019-americans-gave-427-71-billion-to-charity-in-2018-amid-complex-year-for-charitable-giving/</u> .	[10]
Government of Bangladesh (2017), <i>SDGs Financing Strategy: Bangladesh Perspective</i> , <u>http://pksf-bd.org/web/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/2SDGs-Financing-Strategy-Bangladesh-Perspective.pdf</u> (accessed on 3 July 2020).	[1]
GPEDC (2019), Kampala Principles on Effective Private Sector Engagement in Development Co-operation, <u>https://www.effectivecooperation.org/system/files/2019-</u> 07/Kampala%20Principles%20-%20final.pdf (accessed on 6 December 2019).	[3]
GPEDC (2018), <i>Private Sector Engagement through Development Co-operation in Bangladesh</i> , Global Partnership for Effective Development Co-operation (GPEDC), <u>https://www.effectivecooperation.org/system/files/2019-04/Bangladesh_Country_Report.pdf</u> .	[2]
Johnston, J. (2019), As blended finance deals get bigger, don't forget the little guys, Convergence, <u>https://www.convergence.finance/news-and-</u> <u>events/news/4l2G2RAluknXQ2PFIh0cTb/view</u> .	[27]
LightCastle Partners (forthcoming), <i>Mobilizing Savings by Bangladeshi Citizens for SDG Financing</i> .	[14]
McKinsey Global Institute (2016), <i>DIGITAL FINANCE FOR ALL: POWERING INCLUSIVE</i> <i>GROWTH IN EMERGING ECONOMIES</i> , <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/featured%20insights/employment%20and%20g</u> <u>rowth/how%20digital%20finance%20could%20boost%20growth%20in%20emerging%20econ</u> <u>omies/mg-digital-finance-for-all-full-report-september-2016.ashx</u> .	[15]
ODI (2020), Securing climate finance through national development banks, https://www.odi.org/publications/16552-securing-climate-finance-through-national- development-banks.	[29]
ODI (2019), <i>Blended finance in the poorest countries</i> , <u>https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/resource-documents/12666.pdf</u> .	[8]
OECD (2018), <i>TRI HITA KARANA ROADMAP FOR BLENDED FINANCE</i> , <u>https://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/development-finance-topics/_THK%20Roadmap%20booklet%20A5.pdf</u> (accessed on 17 April 2020).	[31]
OECD and DANIDA (2018), The next step in blended finance: addressing the evidence gap in development performance and results, <u>https://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/development-finance-topics/OECD-Blended%20Finance-Evidence-Gap-report.pdf</u> .	[30]
OECD/UNCDF (2019), <i>Blended Finance in the Least Developed Countries 2019</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/1c142aae-en</u> .	[5]
Our World in Data (2016), <i>Urban population vs. GDP per capita, 2016</i> , <u>https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/urbanization-vs-gdp</u> .	[20]
PIDG (2019), 2019 Annual Review, https://www.pidg.org/2020/05/2019-annual-review/.	[24]

Runde, D., E. Yayboke and S. Ramanujam (2019), <i>The New Missing Middle in Development Finance</i> , <u>https://csis-website-prod.s3.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/publication/191107_MissingMiddleinDevelopment.pdf</u> .	[26]
SDSN (2019), SDG COSTING & FINANCING FOR LOW-INCOME DEVELOPING COUNTRIES, https://sdgfinancing.unsdsn.org/static/files/sdg-costing-and-finance-for-LIDCS.pdf.	[6]
Smoke, P. (forthcoming), The Role of Special Financial Intermediaries in Subnational Development Finance.	[22]
Statista (2020), <i>Alternative Lending report 2020</i> , <u>https://www.statista.com/study/50625/fintech-</u> report-alternative-lending/.	[12]
Tilleard, M., G. Davies and L. Shaw (2018), <i>Minigrids Are the Cheapest Way to Bring Electricity</i> to 100 Million Africans Today, <u>https://www.greentechmedia.com/articles/read/minigrids-are-</u> the-cheapest-way-to-electrify-100-million-africans-today.	[7]
UN (2020), Committee for Development Policy Report on the twenty-second session, https://undocs.org/en/E/2020/33.	[23]
UN (2020), <i>People's Money: Harnessing Digitalization to Finance a Sustainable Future</i> , <u>https://unsdg.un.org/resources/peoples-money-harnessing-digitalization-finance-sustainable-future</u> .	[13]
UN (2018), <i>World Urbanization Prospects: The 2018 Revision</i> , United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, <u>https://population.un.org/wup/DataQuery/</u> .	[17]
UNCDF (2020), <i>Local Government Finance is Development Finance</i> #1, <u>https://local-government-finance-is-development-finance.blog/2020/07/01/local-government-finance-is-development-finance-1/</u> .	[16]
UNCDF (2020), The BUILD Fund: A UNCDF and Bamboo Capital Partners partnership, https://www.uncdf.org/article/5305/the-build-fund.	[28]
World Bank (2019), <i>World Development Indicators</i> , <u>https://databank.worldbank.org/source/world-development-indicators</u> .	[18]
World Bank Group (2017), <i>What's Happening in the Missing Middle?</i> , <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/26324/113906-</u> <u>WhatsHappeningintheMissingMiddleLessonsinSMEFinancing-29-3-2017-14-20-</u> <u>24.pdf?sequence=1&amp;isAllowed=y</u> .	[25]

### **Notes**

<sup>1</sup> In this scenario, the strategy stipulates that the public sector would account for around 34% of the financing for the SDGs while external sources, including foreign direct investments, would account for 15%, with the remaining gap being filled by non-state organisations.

<sup>2</sup> A mapping of 240 development co-operation projects in Bangladesh with the active participation of the private sector, carried out by the GPEDC, found that government institutions were listed as partners for only 9% of projects, while 8% involved civil society organisations and less than 1% involved domestic business associations (GPEDC, 2018<sub>[144]</sub>).

<sup>3</sup> Blended concessional finance is the combination of concessional finance from donors or third parties alongside the IFC's own normal account finance and/or commercial finance from other investors, to develop private sector markets, address the SDGs and mobilise private resources.

<sup>4</sup> There is a significant overlap across the categories of LDCs, other low-income countries, and fragile and conflict-affected situations. Since most fragile and conflict-affected situations are classified as either low-income countries and/or LDCs, the rest of this guest contribution will focus on low-income countries and LDCs.

<sup>5</sup> More information on how concessionality is calculated and levels can be found at: <u>https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/topics\_ext\_content/ifc\_external\_corporate\_site/bf</u>.

<sup>6</sup> Concessionality levels by product and themes in the IFC's blended finance portfolio can be found at: <u>https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/topics\_ext\_content/ifc\_external\_corporate\_site/bf</u>.

<sup>7</sup> More information on the IFC's governance system for blended concessional finance can be found at <u>https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/industry\_ext\_content/ifc\_external\_corporate\_site/financial+institutio</u>ns/resources/blended+concessional+finance+governance+matters+for+impact.

<sup>8</sup> More information can be found at: https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/topics ext content/ifc external corporate site/bf/bf-details/bf-dfi.

<sup>9</sup> When using blended finance, the IFC publishes information on concessionality at the transaction level (see the data portal at <u>https://disclosures.ifc.org</u>).

<sup>10</sup> The IDA Private Sector Window contribution includes a pooled first loss guarantee as well as a limit expansion facility to help GTFP leverage at least USD 1 billion in trade finance in countries eligible for the IDA Private Sector Window.

<sup>11</sup> These include performance-based incentives offered through the Global SME Finance Facility (GSMEF), the Women Entrepreneurs Opportunity Facility (WEOF) and/or the Women Entrepreneurs Finance Initiative (We-Fi).

<sup>12</sup> See *Can Blended Finance Work to Leave No One Behind*?, 2020 Blended Finance LDC Consultation; and (Convergence, 2020<sub>[181]</sub>).

<sup>13</sup> a2i – a whole-of-government programme of the information and communications technology division, supported by the cabinet division and the United Nations Development Programme, that catalyzes citizen-

friendly public service innovations simplifying government and bringing it closer to people. It supports the government to be on the forefront of integrating new, whole-of-society approaches to achieve the SDGs.

<sup>14</sup> The annual zakat estimation is based on expert opinion.

<sup>15</sup> Budget data from the Ministry of Finance, Government of Bangladesh (2015–2016, 2016–2017, 2017–2018, 2018–2019, 2019–2020) courtesy of the Economic Relations Department.

<sup>16</sup> UNCDF and International Labour Organization feasibility study on the MSME financing digital platform linked to the alternative stock exchange, Zimbabwe.

<sup>17</sup> In many big cities in Africa, their populations have increased by more than 1 million between 2010 and 2020, such as Addis Ababa, Ethiopia (from 3.1 million to 4.8 million), Dar es Salaam, Tanzania (from 3.9 million to 6.7 million), Luanda, Angola (from 5.3 million to 8.3 million), and Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo (from 9.4 million to 14.3 million). Data source: <u>https://population.un.org/wup/DataQuery</u>.

<sup>18</sup> The contribution of GFCF to GDP has remained at about the same level with slight fluctuations from 25.6% in 1970 to 23.6% in 2018. Exports of goods and services as a share of GDP grew from 13.6% to 30.1%, and imports of goods and services from 13.7% to 29.3%. Data source: (World Bank, 2019<sub>[23]</sub>).

 $^{19}$  For example, in Korea, GFCF averaged 35% of GDP from 1970 to 1990 while urbanisation was rapidly increasing. Korea also shows that, once urbanisation reaches 80% it levels off and can even decline – a phenomenon seen in many countries.

<sup>20</sup> Countries that are not following the usual path are primarily the LDCs in Africa and Asia. Poor regions in middle-income countries in Africa and Asia are also experiencing urbanisation without investment.

<sup>21</sup> Some African countries are urbanising rapidly with real GDP growth lagging, such as Angola, Malawi and Mozambique. Also see: UNCDF (2020). Capital Locast – Episode 9. Podcast interview with Jean Pierre Elong Mbassi, April 2020. <u>https://capital-locast.captivate.fm/episode/capital-locast-episode-9</u>.

<sup>22</sup> A contingent liability arises for central governments when they are held accountable directly or indirectly for debts that are on the balance sheet of local governments. Often it is assumed that, as a last resort, central government would underwrite these debts, therefore local government borrowing can impact the national credit rating. See South Africa Local Government: Municipal Finance Management Act (2003). https://www.westerncape.gov.za/Text/2004/8/mfma.pdf.

<sup>23</sup> According to the Global Landscape of Climate Finance 2019, by the Climate Policy Initiative, total global climate finance flows had been increasing rapidly from USD 350 billion in 2013 to USD 550 billion in 2018. According to the Climate Bonds Initiative, global green bonds reached USD 257.7 billion in 2019, driven by European, Asia-Pacific and North American markets. See <a href="https://www.climatebonds.net/resources/reports/2019-green-bond-market-summary">https://www.climatebonds.net/resources/reports/2019-green-bond-market-summary</a>.

<sup>24</sup> Blended green finance investors include the Green Climate Fund, the European Investment Bank, other development finance institutions, asset managers, and other private investors.

<sup>25</sup> 2021 will be a very challenging year for local governments, with increased demands for their services and reduced fiscal space. In this context, UNCDF has started a new initiative on Rebuilding Local Fiscal Space to understand the loss of local fiscal space due to the COVID 19 pandemic and to unlock access to public and private capital for local fiscal and economic recovery.

<sup>26</sup> For instance, due to the significant loss of local government revenue, the city of Kumasi is focusing municipal investment more on projects that can generate revenues quickly but not contribute to productivity growth, such as car parks and shopping malls. This is also happening in other developing cities. UNCDF, through its International Municipal Investment Fund Technical Assistance Facility, is supporting cities to rebuild local fiscal space in a more sustainable way (see footnote 24).

<sup>27</sup> For example, Burkina Faso is starting to make pharmaceutical equipment that was previously imported.

<sup>28</sup> For more information, visit <u>https://guarantco.com/blendedknowledge/</u>.

# Annex A. The least developed country category: criteria for inclusion and graduation

The United Nations classification of least developed countries (LDCs) currently encompasses 47 countries: Afghanistan, Angola, Bangladesh, Benin, Bhutan, Burkina Faso, Burundi, Cambodia, the Central African Republic, Chad, the Comoros, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Djibouti, Eritrea, Ethiopia, the Gambia, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Haiti, Kiribati, the Lao People's Democratic Republic, Lesotho, Liberia, Madagascar, Malawi, Mali, Mauritania, Mozambique, Myanmar, Nepal, the Niger, Rwanda, Sao Tome and Principe, Senegal, Sierra Leone, Solomon Islands, Somalia, South Sudan, the Sudan, Timor-Leste, Togo, Tuvalu, Uganda, the United Republic of Tanzania, Vanuatu, Yemen and Zambia (UN, 2018<sub>[171]</sub>).

LDC status and progress are reviewed every three years by the Committee for Development Policy (CDP), a subsidiary body of the United Nations Economic and Social Council. The CDP uses the following three criteria to monitor the LDCs:

- gross national income (GNI) per capita (three-year average), with a threshold for inclusion in the LDC list at USD 1,025 and a threshold for LDC graduation of USD 1 230;
- a human assets index, composed of three health indicators (under-five mortality rate, percentage
  of population undernourished and maternal mortality rate) and two education indicators (gross
  secondary school enrolment ratio and adult literacy rate), with the LDC inclusion threshold set at
  60 and the LDC graduation threshold at 66;
- an economic vulnerability index (to be renamed the economic and environmental vulnerability index), composed of eight indicators: (i) share of agriculture, forestry and fishing to GDP; (ii) remoteness and extent of being landlocked; (iii) merchandise export concentration; (iv) instability of exports of goods and services; (v) share of population in low elevated coastal zones; (vi) share of population living in drylands; (vii) instability of agricultural production; and (viii) victims of natural disasters. The LDC inclusion threshold is set at 36 and the LDC graduation threshold at 32 (UN, 2018<sub>[172]</sub>).

A country is recommended by the CDP for graduation from LDC status if it has met graduation thresholds for at least two of the three criteria at two successive triennial reviews. However, a country with the threeyear average per-capita GNI sustainably above twice the normal graduation threshold may be recommended for graduation even if it does not meet the graduation threshold for either of the two other criteria.

Since the LDC category was introduced and the first group of LDCs was listed by the United Nations in 1971, only five countries have graduated from the LDC status: Botswana in 1994, Cabo Verde in 2007, Maldives in 2011, Samoa in 2014 and Equatorial Guinea in 2017. The CDP last conducted a triennial review of the list of LDCs in 2018, where it found that Bhutan, Sao Tome and Príncipe and Solomon Islands were eligible for graduation for the second consecutive time and recommended them for graduation from the list.

# Annex B. Financing sustainable development in least developed countries

This annex highlights the development and well-being indicators in least developed countries (LDCs). It provides an overview of the financing for sustainable development landscape in LDCs. It analyses how the financing for sustainable development mix differs across country groupings. It also examines the roles of the different sources of financing in LDCs, such as domestic resources and external finance – that is, development finance, remittances and private investment.

# Development and well-being indicators: Least developed countries versus other developing countries

In the final year of the Istanbul Programme of Action, evidence shows that despite significant progress in certain areas, LDCs still face structural impediments to eradicating poverty through economic growth, structural transformation, the building of productive capacity or through increasing the share of exports (UN, 2020<sub>[4]</sub>). Moreover, LDCs have been hard hit by COVID-19 and the ensuing global economic downturn, exacerbating existing vulnerabilities.

As Table B.1 below shows, the latest available data show significant differences between LDCs and other developing countries across dimensions of human and social development, as well as economic and environmental sustainability. In 2017, 36% of population in LDCs lived below USD 1.90 per day. LDCs severely lag behind across all human development dimensions, namely life expectancy, education and gross national income (GNI) per capita and gender equality. Women still face significant barriers to economic opportunities in LDCs, in particular in the informal sector, where 50% of women employees are unpaid, compared with 33% of men. Only 45% of the population in these countries had access to electricity in 2017 and merely 37% of the population use at least basic sanitation facilities, compared with more than double that in other developing countries. Moreover, a third of the population in LDCs still lack access to clean drinking water.

Table B.1 also shows that the economic sustainability outlook in LDCs is particularly worrying. In 2017, LDCs had a GNI per capita level of less than half that of other developing countries. While LDCs' real GDP growth in 2018 beat that of other developing countries on average, real GDP growth per capita lags behind (3.1% for LDCs versus 3.6% for other developing countries). The agriculture sector plays a much more prominent role in LDCs' economies (its value added represents almost 25% of GDP in 2017) with respect to other developing countries (almost 10% of GDP). As such, LDCs have made slow progress in the structural transformation of their economies and transitioning from sectors with low productivity to sectors with higher productivity.

The domestic credit provided by the financial sector in LDCs amounted to 29.6% in 2017, as opposed to 58.5% in other developing countries, which shows the low level of financial sector development. LDCs also show low levels of gross domestic savings and gross capital formation. LDCs still face major barriers in attracting investment and in developing the private sector. Improvements in the enabling environment have been observed in some cases, with the time and cost of business start-up procedures (as a share of GNI

per capita) declining from about 89% in 2012 to almost 41% in 2019 (World Bank, 2019<sub>[23]</sub>). However, only five LDCs ranked among the top 100 in the 2018 Ease of Doing Business index.

LDCs' share of global trade is marginal at around 1%. SDG target 17.11 calls for doubling the share of LDCs in global exports by 2020, a target that has not been achieved. LDCs are also less connected than other countries, with only two broadband connections per 100 people, compared with 11 in developing countries and 36 in developed countries (ITU, 2019<sub>[130]</sub>) and women are 33% less likely than men to access the Internet.

LDCs also lag behind in terms of environmental sustainability. While there is a relatively high renewable energy consumption across LDCs, the countries show signs of environmental degradation, namely in terms of forest area coverage and a faster rate of natural resource depletion than in other developing countries. Moreover, nine LDCs are small islands and developing states, which are highly vulnerable to the impacts of climate change and natural disasters. LDCs are disproportionately affected by natural disasters and the effects of climate change, with higher proportions of deaths caused by such events, and they bear significantly higher economic losses, compared with other countries.

# Table B.1. Key development indicators: Least developed countries versus other developing countries

Indicator	LDCs	Other developing countries
Human and social development		
Human Development Index (2018) [1]	0.528	0.710
Life expectancy at birth (2018) [1]	65	72.6
Expected years of schooling (2018) [1]	9.8	13.2
Mean years of schooling (2018) [1]	4.8	8.8
Gender Inequality Index (2018) [1]	0.56	0.35
Poverty: share of population living below USD1.90 a day (2017) [2]	36.1	10.3
Demography		
Population, billion (2018) [3]	1	5.1
Share of world population (2018)	13%	68%
% urban population (2018) [2]	33.6%	53.9%
Annual population growth (2018) [3]	2.36%	1.27%
Income and composition of resources		
Real GDP growth (2018 annual average) [3]	5.4%	4.7%
Real GDP growth per capita (2018 annual average) [2]	3.1%	3.6%
GNI per capita (USD, 2017) [3]	2,722 [2]	5,833 [3]
Agriculture, forestry, and fishing value added (% of GDP) (2017) [3]	24.9%	9.9%
Industry value added (% of GDP) (2017) [3]	23%	26.5%
Services value added (% of GDP) (2017) [3]	44.8%	55%
Economic sustainability		
Domestic credit provided by financial sector (% of GDP) (2017) [3]	29.6%	58.5%
Gross domestic savings (% of GDP), 2016 [2]	19.3%	33.6%
External debt stocks (% of GNI), 2017 [2]	29.9%	18.8%
Total debt service (% of exports of goods, services and primary income), 2017 [2]	7.8%	11.4%
Gross fixed capital formation (% of GDP) (2017) [3]	24.6%	22%
Environmental sustainability		
Renewable energy consumption (% of total final energy consumption) (2015) [3]	63.7%	26.2%
Percentage of land area covered by forest (2018) [2]	27.4%	28.3%
Natural resource depletion (% of GNI) (2017) [3]	8.4%	4.3%
Quality of standards of living		
Vulnerable employment (% of total employment) (modelled International Labour Organization estimate) 2018 [3]	72.7%	37.6%

Population with access to electricity (2017) [2]	45%	92%
Population using at least basic drinking-water sources (2017) [3]	66.4%	90.5%
Population using at least basic sanitation facilities (2017) [3]	36.6%	80.4%

Note: "Other developing countries" are all ODA-eligible countries that are not classified as LDCs. Countries for which data were not available were excluded from the calculations.

Source: [1] Own calculations based on (UNDP, 2018[173]) Human Development Data, http://hdr.undp.org/en/data

[2] (UNCTAD, 2018<sub>[174]</sub>) Statistical Tables on the Least Developed Countries, 2018, <u>https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/ldcr2018stats\_en.pdf</u> [3] Own calculations based on (World Bank, 2019<sub>[23]</sub>), World Development Indicators database (accessed May 2020)

# Least developed countries' financing for sustainable development landscape: an overview

### Financing for sustainable development: LDCs versus other country groupings

Although financing challenges are common to all developing countries, LDCs face particular barriers. Financing investment through domestic resources is challenging for LDCs, which have low levels of income and domestic savings and often ineffective domestic resource mobilisation. Although tax revenues represent on average the largest source of financing for sustainable development in developing countries, tax revenues account for a much lower share of GDP in LDCs (14.2%), compared with lower-middle-income countries (19.2%) and upper-middle-income countries (21.7%), as Figure B.1 below shows. For LDCs, external finance (i.e. development finance, remittances, foreign direct investment (FDI), private investment and other investment, with each having specific financing purposes) represents a larger share of the financing mix than domestic finance.

# Figure B.1. Sources of financing for sustainable development across country groupings



Tax revenues
 Bilateral development finance
 Multilateral development finance
 Remittances (inflows)
 FDI (net inflows)
 Portfolio investment (net inflows)
 Other investment (net inflows)

## External finance in LDCs

As Figure B.2 below indicates, external finance represents a major source of financing for LDCs (16% of GDP in 2018), and has remained relatively stable throughout 2012–2018. Bilateral and multilateral development finance, which was stable over the same time (on average 5.7% of GDP), experienced a slight increase in 2018. Remittances represented, on average, over 4% of GDP in LDCs and also rose in 2018. Private investment inflows accounted on average for 6% of GDP in LDCs throughout the period, with FDI being the most prominent. However, these are also the most volatile source of external finance, experiencing a significant drop in 2017 and further decrease in 2018 (in relative terms). Further research highlights that, in 2019, FDI inflows to LDCs declined by 5.7% to USD 21 billion, accounting for merely 1.4% of global FDI. LDCs were the only country grouping to experience a drop in FDI flows in 2019, although with differences across countries (FDI increased only in African LDCs) (UNCTAD, 2020<sub>[39]</sub>).

## 126 |

Note: LDCs = least developed countries; LMICs = lower-middle-income countries; UMICs = upper-middle-income countries Source: Authors based on data collected for the OECD 2020 Global Outlook on Financing for Sustainable Development (OECD, 2020[2])



### Figure B.2. External finance to LDCs over time

Bilateral development finance
 Multilateral development finance
 Remittances (inflows)
 FDI (net inflows)
 Portfolio investment (net inflows)
 Other investment (net inflows)

Note: bilateral development finance is the sum of bilateral concessional (bilateral ODA) and bilateral non-concessional finance (bilateral other official flows) and bilateral export credits, in disbursements. Multilateral development finance is the sum of multilateral concessional (multilateral ODA) and multilateral non-concessional finance (multilateral other official flows and commitments from the International Finance Corporation and the Green Climate Fund as proxy for disbursement), in disbursement.

Source: Authors based on data collected for (OECD, 2020<sub>[2]</sub>) Global Outlook on Financing for Sustainable Development <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/e3c30a9a-en</u>.

External indebtedness is a crucial issue for LDCs. According to the World Bank Group-IMF Debt Sustainability Framework, as of June 2020, six LDCs were classified as debt distressed, with an additional one in external debt distress, and 16 LDCs faced high risk of debt distress<sup>1</sup> (World Bank and IMF, 2020<sub>[43]</sub>). The composition of the debt stock of LDCs also changed significantly in the last decade, with an increasing share of debt held by private and non-traditional bilateral creditors (notably China). This is likely to pose challenges to creditor co-ordination (UN, 2020<sub>[4]</sub>).

Moreover, in International Development Association (IDA)-eligible, low-income developing countries,<sup>2</sup> commercial credit increased more than threefold from 2010 through 2019, going from 5% to 17.5% (of total external public debt) throughout the period, with the increase higher in "frontier economies" (low-income and LDCs with international bond issuance). In particular, 38% per cent of these countries' external public debt is owed to private creditors, with 32% in bonds (UN/DESA, 2020<sub>[175]</sub>).

### Development finance in LDCs

Looking specifically at development finance trends, Figure 1.1 in Chapter 1 shows that overall development finance to LDCs has been on an upward trend since 2015, with bilateral development finance largely exceeding multilateral.<sup>3</sup> ODA, which is provided on concessional terms,<sup>4</sup> largely dominates the official development finance landscape in LDCs. After a slight drop in 2016, ODA to LDCs has been rising since 2017, with total gross ODA disbursements reaching almost USD 59 billion in 2018 (or 5% of GDP). Preliminary data for 2019 suggest that, on a cash flow basis,<sup>5</sup> net bilateral ODA flows to LDCs increased by 2.6% in real terms (OECD, 2020<sub>[2]</sub>). However, ODA provided to LDCs by DAC donors accounted for only 0.09% of the GNI of donor countries in 2018, well below their 0.15%–0.20% ODA-to-GNI commitment.<sup>6</sup> This implies a shortfall of external development finance for LDCs (UN, 2020<sub>[7]</sub>). As illustrated

in Figure 1.1 in Chapter 1, both bilateral and multilateral donors are also increasingly extending development finance at non-concessional terms, also referred to as other official flows (OOF),<sup>7</sup> which reached an all-time peak in 2018, at USD 6 billion extended by bilateral donors, and USD 3.2 billion by multilaterals.

# Annex C. Methodological note

The quantitative analysis on the state of blended finance in LDCs was conducted using different data sources, namely OECD Development Assistance Committee (DAC) statistics on private finance mobilised by official development interventions (OECD DAC, 2020[77]); Convergence database of historical blended finance transactions (Convergence, 2020[118]); as well as results from the 2018 OECD Survey on Blended Finance Funds and Facilities (Basile, Bellesi and Singh, 2020[176]); (Basile and Dutra, 2019[143]).

The OECD DAC methodology for measuring the amounts mobilised from the private sector was developed under a high-level mandate from DAC members. Reporting on amounts mobilised by official development finance from the private sector has been part of the regular OECD DAC data collections since 2017. Official development finance includes: (i) bilateral official development assistance (ODA), (ii) other official flows (OOF) for development purposes (including refinancing loans) that do not meet the criteria set by the ODA definition, and (iii) the concessional and non-concessional operations of multilateral financial institutions.

In the case a few providers, data are collected through complementary ad hoc surveys (e.g. the Dutch entrepreneurial development bank, FMO). The methodology progressively included guidance for reporting on the amounts mobilised for seven major leveraging mechanisms: guarantees, syndicated loans, shares in collective investment vehicles (CIVs), direct investment in companies and special purpose vehicles, credit lines, project finance schemes and simple co-financing arrangements. The OECD DAC dataset on mobilisation includes information for all seven leveraging mechanisms that goes back to 2012. The private finance mobilised dataset is dynamic and continually being updated. This report presents the latest available data.

Activity-level data on the amounts mobilised are, however, in many cases subject to confidentiality constraints. Concerning some multilateral development banks (MDBs), data-sharing agreements needed to be developed to facilitate the data provision to the OECD. Furthermore, the use of such data is often restricted to a specific number of analytical outputs. A joint MDB–OECD DAC working group on measuring mobilisation was set up in 2019 to address these concerns and discussions are ongoing. The private finance mobilised dataset is continually being updated due to staggered reporting by development finance providers. This report presents the latest available data.

The official providers who report to the OECD private finance mobilised are: African Development Bank, Asian Development Bank, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Caribbean Development Bank, Council of Europe Development Bank, Credit Guarantee and Investment Facility, Czech Republic, Denmark, Development Bank of Latin America, European Union institutions, European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, Finland, France, Germany, Global Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy Fund, IDB Invest, International Fund for Agricultural Development, Inter-American Development Bank, International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, International Development, International Finance Corporation, Ireland, Korea, Luxembourg, Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency, Netherlands, Nordic Development Fund, Norway, Portugal, Private Infrastructure Development Group, Slovak Republic, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, United Kingdom, United States.

The report also benefits from analysis of the results of the 2018 OECD survey on blended finance funds and facilities. There were 180 complete survey responses collected, more than double the amount from the inaugural OECD survey held in 2017. The responding vehicles represent a total of USD 60.2 billion in assets under management. Further details on the methodology used for the survey, as well as on the

results are available in (Basile and Dutra, 2019<sub>[143]</sub>) and (Basile, Bellesi and Singh, 2020<sub>[176]</sub>). The OECD is currently running the 2020 edition of the survey.

The report also presents quantitative analysis contributed by Convergence, providing an additional perspective on blended finance in LDCs. The analysis by Convergence draws from its database of historical blended finance transactions. Whereas the OECD information draws from the annual reporting exercise undertaken as part of the OECD DAC statistics, Convergence collects information from other credible public sources (e.g. press releases, case studies, news articles), as well as through data-sharing agreements and validation exercises with its members. To be included in Convergence's database, the transaction must use concessional capital (public or philanthropic), whereas the OECD's scope extends to all development finance, independent of the terms of its deployment. For example, Convergence will not capture a fund that is purely concessionally funded, which aims to mobilise co-financing from the private sector for blending at the underlying investee level. This also helps to avoid double counting (e.g. counting a concessional facility and its underlying projects that have attracted private financing). As a result of these differences, Convergence and the OECD will often capture different levels of blending, which makes the two databases complementary. Another important difference is that Convergence captures the total deal size (including the development finance deployed) while the OECD accounts only for the amount of private finance mobilised in each operation.

Given the current state of information sharing, it is not possible for either of the data sources to be fully comprehensive. While some transactions may be captured in multiple sources, the information collected is complementary. The data sets are distinct from each other as they each capture a different segment of the blended finance market – see Table C.1 below for an overview of the main structural differences between the three data sources.

	Sources	Perimeter	Financial data captured	Frequency
OECD statistics on private finance mobilised for development	Since 2017, regular reporting by governments and multilateral organisations, with complementary collections to fill in data gaps for a few providers	All development finance (ODA and other official flows for development) at activity level	Amount of private finance mobilised by official development finance interventions according the OECD DAC methodology	Yearly, since 2015
OECD survey on blended finance funds and facilities	Surveyed managing organisations of CIVs	CIVs at capital level	Assets under management in the fiscal year	Ad hoc surveys in 2016, 2017 and 2020 (forthcoming)
Convergence database of blended finance transactions	Credible public sources and data-sharing agreements and validation exercises	Transactions using concessional (public or philanthropic) finance to mobilise additional private sector investment	Total transaction size (including development finance) based on pledges at deal closure	Continually updated, since 2005

## Table C.1. Differences between data sources

Note: CIV = collective investment vehicle; DAC = Development Assistance Committee; ODA = official development assistance Source: (Basile and Dutra, 2019<sub>[143]</sub>) Blended Finance Funds and Facilities: 2018 Survey Results, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/806991a2-en</u>

Finally, the report also presents analysis on the financing for sustainable development landscape in LDCs, with data from the OECD Global Outlook on Financing for Sustainable Development 2021 (OECD, 2020<sub>[2]</sub>). The methodology used for the data analysis is provided in the report.

# References

Results Part II: Development Performance", OECD Development Co-operation Working Papers, No. 67, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/7c194ce5-en</u> .	
Basile, I. and J. Dutra (2019), "Blended Finance Funds and Facilities: 2018 Survey Results", <i>OECD Development Co-operation Working Papers</i> , No. 59, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/806991a2-en</u> .	16]
Convergence (2020), <i>Convergence - Blending global finance</i> , <u>https://www.convergence.finance/</u> . <sup>[1</sup>	14]
ITU (2019), <i>Measuring digital development. Facts and figures 2019</i> , <u>https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-</u> <u>D/Statistics/Documents/facts/FactsFigures2019.pdf</u> .	[5]
OECD (2020), <i>Global Outlook on Financing for Sustainable Development 2021: A New Way to</i> <i>Invest for People and Planet</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/e3c30a9a-</u> <u>en</u> .	[8]
OECD DAC (2020), Amounts mobilised from the private sector for development, <u>https://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/development-finance-</u> <u>standards/mobilisation.htm</u> (accessed on 19 June 2020). [1]	13]
UN (2020), <i>Financing for Sustainable Development Report 2020</i> , Inter-agency Task Force on <sup>[1</sup> Financing for Development, <u>https://developmentfinance.un.org/sites/developmentfinance.un.org/files/FSDR_2020.pdf</u> .	12]
UN (2020), "Implementation of the Programme of Action for the Least Developed Countries for the Decade 2011–2020 - Report of the Secretary-General", <u>http://unohrlls.org/custom-</u> <u>content/uploads/2020/04/English_SG-report.pdf</u> (accessed on 4 June 2020).	[3]
UN (2018), <i>Committee for Development Policy Report on the twentieth session (12–16 March 2018)</i> , United Nations (UN), <u>https://undocs.org/en/E/2018/33</u> .	[2]
UN (2018), <i>List of Least Developed Countries (as of December 2018)</i> , <u>https://www.un.org/development/desa/dpad/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/sites/45/publication/ldc_list.pdf</u> .	[1]
UN/DESA (2020), COVID-19 and sovereign debt, [1 https://www.un.org/development/desa/dpad/publication/un-desa-policy-brief-72-covid-19-and- sovereign-debt/ (accessed on 25 June 2020).	11]
UNCTAD (2020), <i>World Investment Report 2020</i> , <u>https://unctad.org/en/PublicationsLibrary/wir2020_en.pdf</u> (accessed on 22 June 2020).	[9]
UNCTAD (2018), Statistical Tables on the Least Developed Countries - 2018, https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/ldcr2018stats_en.pdf.	[7]
UNDP (2018), Human Development Data (1990-2018), http://hdr.undp.org/en/data.	[6]
World Bank (2019), <i>World Development Indicators</i> , <u>https://databank.worldbank.org/source/world-</u> development-indicators.	[4]

World Bank and IMF (2020), *Debt Sustainability Analysis (DSA)*, <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/programs/debt-toolkit/dsa</u> (accessed on 25 June 2020).

## Notes

<sup>1</sup> The six LDCs in debt distress (overall and external debt) are Mozambique, Sao Tome and Principe, Sudan, Somalia, South Sudan and Zimbabwe. The 16 LDCs in high risk of debt distress (overall and external debt) are Afghanistan, Central African Republic, Chad, Djibouti, Ethiopia, Gambia, Haiti, Kiribati, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Liberia, Malawi, Mauritania, Sierra Leone, Togo, Tuvalu and Zambia.

<sup>2</sup> Eligibility for IDA support depends on a country's relative poverty, defined as GNI per capita below an established threshold and updated annually (USD 1,185 in the fiscal year 2021). Of the 47 LDCs, 45 are IDA-eligible. For further information, see <u>https://ida.worldbank.org/about/borrowing-countries</u>.

<sup>3</sup> Bilateral donors include members of the Development Assistance Committee (DAC) and those countries reporting their development finance to the OECD. Multilateral donors comprise multilateral organisations such as agencies and funds of the United Nations system, international and regional financial institutions (e.g. the World Bank, regional development banks, etc) and vertical funds.

<sup>4</sup> ODA mostly includes grant payments and, to a lesser extent, concessional loans (with grant element of at least 25%), with the primary objective to promote economic development and welfare in recipient countries.

<sup>5</sup> In 2014, DAC members decided to modernise the reporting of concessional loans by assessing their concessionality based on discount rates differentiated by income group, and introducing a grant-equivalent system for calculating ODA figures. Here, official development finance flows are presented on a cash basis – that is, the actual cash flow between donor and recipient countries. For further information, see: <a href="https://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/development-finance-data/ODA-2019-detailed-summary.pdf">https://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/development-finance-data/ODA-2019-detailed-summary.pdf</a>.

<sup>6</sup> LDCs have exclusive access to international support measures, including for development co-operation. Donors made a long-standing commitment to provide the equivalent of 0.15 to 0.20% of their GNI in the form of ODA to LDCs, reiterated in the Addis Ababa Action Agenda and included in SDG target 17.2 (more at: https://www.un.org/ldcportal/commitments-regarding-oda-to-ldcs/).

<sup>7</sup> OOF include loans that do not meet the concessionality criteria of ODA (having a grant element of less than 25%), grants for representational or commercial purposes, and export credits.

# Blended Finance in the Least Developed Countries 2020

# SUPPORTING A RESILIENT COVID-19 RECOVERY

The least developed countries (LDCs) are the furthest from achieving the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). They are also likely to be hit the hardest by the COVID-19 crisis and badly need the additional private finance that blended finance can unlock. Yet evidence shows that too little private finance is mobilised for investment in LDCs. How can this be fixed?

The Blended Finance in the Least Developed Countries 2020 report is the third edition and second joint UNCDF-OECD report. It builds on UNCDF research and transactional experience, OECD data and analysis on private finance mobilized by official development finance, and a series consultations with and contributions by blended finance experts, LDC governments, UN missions, donors, civil society and research institutions. The report provides an update on the deployment of blended finance in LDCs. It also analyses its potential role in helping those countries recover from the COVID-19 crisis, and provides an Action Agenda for unlocking capital for the achievement of the SDGs in LDCs, as called for in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and the Addis Ababa Action Agenda.



PRINT ISBN 978-92-64-63532-6 PDF ISBN 978-92-64-41598-0

